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EXECUTE. DELIVER. OUTPERFORM.
44% TOTAL SHAREHOLDER RETURN IN 2006

We set expectartions high, and then aim to exceed them. Since our [PO more than a decade ago, we have
produced one of the highest total returns of any multifamily REIT. We attribute this to three key
drivers: First—we pursue a prudent real estate strategy, and then focus on execution. We do what we
say we will do. It's that simple. We take great pride in our abilicy to consistently execute and rake action,
year after year, on the strategies we have put in place, and outlined to sharcholders, investors, and part-
ners. Second, we deliver across all areas of our company, from operations 1o development, acquisitions,
and finance. It translates into the kind of financial results our shareholders and investors have come to
expect and receive from Essex. And #hird, we outperform by being in the top quartile in FFO growth in
the multifamily REIT sector, and aim ro achieve continued success on FFO growth. We target the right
markets, and the properties that will deliver the highest yields with either redevelopment prospects or
other operational improvements. We know West Coast real estate— inside and out. And with nearly 40
years of experience, we know how to manage properties to deliver strong rental growth and long-term
asset appreciation. All told, these factors have enabled us to achieve 12 consecutive years of dividend
growth, and an average 10-year total return of 22% per year. And we're just getting started.

A walk along Esplanade in Northern California
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IN ESSEX PORTFOLIO
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SUPERIOR PERFORMANCE
2006 FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

PROPERTY REVENUES
Years Ended Decembar 31
(% in millians)

£350
300
250

02 03 04 05 06

COMMON STOCK
DIVIDENDS PER SHARE
Years Ended December 31
$340 336
3.20
3.00
2.80

8260

02 03 04 05 0B

FUNDS FROM OPERATIONS
PER SHARE
Yaars Endad Decamber 31

$5.20
5.00{~
480
460
440 A%
420
400
$2.80—

501

02 03 04 05 06

TOTAL MARKET
CAPITALIZATION

Years Ended December 31 # Common Equity at Market

{8 in millions)
Parpetual Preferred at Market
% = Total Destat Book
5 5.090.302
1SS
3,382,248
3
7
1 304,500
$1-
1,411,554
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LETTER TO SHAREHOLDERS

In 2006, sharcholders received a 44.3% total return (stock appreciation plus dividends) compared to
18.5% last year. We have outperformed the average 10-year total return for the major equity REIT
index and the S&P index. In fact, since our IPO, we have produced one of the highest rotal returns of
any REI'T. With a proven strategy and experienced management team, we made solid progress toward
achieving our operating objectives— expanding our development activity, increasing capabilities in
redevelopment, and enhancing the operations side of our business.

Qur West Coast markets— Southern California, Northern California, and the Seattle metropolitan
area— demonstrate the advanrages of a strategy focused on supply-constrained markers where rents are
steadily increasing, yet still at historical lows compared to the alternative cost of homeownership. We
saw continued strong job growth in all of our markets, which was led by the Seattle metropolitan area.

In 2006, we started to realize the benefits of our decision to increase our portfolio allocations to the
Seattle metropolitan area and the San Francisco Bay area. Qur Seartle and Northern California same-
property revenues increased 9.2% and 8.4% in 2006, respectively, compared to 3.9% and 2.3% in 2005,
respectively. With the exceptional performance of these two markets and the commendable perform-
ance of our Southern California market, we reported 2006 Funds From Operations of $5.01 per
diluted share.

2006 HIGHLIGHTS
FROM ACQUISITIONS, TO REDEVELOPMENT, AND FINANCING

» Increased our development activity during
2006 by more than $300 million, bringing
our total development to $900 million in
total estimated costs. With 2,900 units in

* Surpassed our initial projection of $200
million in acquisitions by acquiring eight
apartment communities (1,500 units) for a
combined investment of $275 million.

+ Raised proceeds of $149.5 million from the various stages of development, construc-

sale of 5.98 million shares of our 4.875%
Series G Cumulative Convertible Preferred
Stock ac $25 per share.

Fully invested Essex Apartment Value Fund I1
is now closed to any future acquisitions or
development. This has been Essex's primary
investment vehicle during 2005 and 2006.

tion starts exceeded $200 million.

Increased the size of our redevelopment team
during the year, adding redevelopment proj-
ect managers to each of our West Coast mar-
kets. At year-end, we had 12 communities in
the redevelopment program aggregating
3,648 unics,
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LOOKING FORWARD

We are confident that the favorable fundamen-
tals for apartments in our targeted markets will
generate sustained growth in ner operating
income for the next two to three years.
Accordingly, competition for acquisition and
development transactions will continue to be
fierce, both from other REITs and private

equity sources.

Despite a moderate decline in home prices
and higher rents, rental affordabiliry remains
very artractive relative to the cost of home
ownership in Essex's supply constrained
markets. Further, we see continued positive
job growth in our key markets—undetlying

our projection for housing demand in excess

A

GEORGE M, MARCUS
Chairman

of total residential supply, which will con-
tinue to drive occupancy rates and rents to
higher levels.

All told, nor since our Initial Public Offering
over 12 years ago have we been this optimistic
about our future. Achieving sustainable share-
holder resules is what Essex Property Trust is all
about. And we have the track record in this area
to prove it. For the last 10 years, we have deliv-
ered an average total return of 22%. We are
confident that we will deliver FFO growth in the
top quartile of the multifamily REIT sector.

As always, we thank you, our shareholders, em-
ployees, partners, and residents, for your support.

KEITH R. GUERICKE
President and Chief Executive Officer

ESSEX GOALS FOR 2007

GROW FUNDS FROM OPERATIONS BY 10%

GCOMPLETE $200 MILLION IN NEW ACQUISITIONS IN
WEST COAST SUPPLY-CONSTRAINED MARKETS

INCUR $300 MILLION OF DEVELOPMENT COSTS

COMPLETE OVER $35 MILLION OF REDEVELOPMENT
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ACQUIRE. DEVELOP. REDEVELOP.
OUR DISCIPLINED STRATEGY

AGOUIRED EIGHT PROPERTIES IN TARGETED MARKETS

|
STARTED GONSTRUCTION ON 640 UNITS

INVESTED S30:MILLION IN REDEVELOPMENT ACTIVITIES

Supply-constrained markets and a high quality
of life are characteristics that define our target
markets on the West Coast. These markets are
our only focus, and a key differentiator of our
straregy. Our mission is to providc quality
apartment homes in premier markets through-
out the West Coast, We believe that it is our
targeted market concentration that will enable
us to produce above-average growtﬂ over the

next several years.

INVESTMENT STRATEGY Over the last two
decades, we have developed a proprietary re-
search model based on extensive, and ongoing
market and economic analysts that enables us to
identify market trends, and the best acquisition,
development, and redevelopment opportuni-
ties in our targeted markets. We have an in-
house economist who is fully dedicated to
analyzing and projecting rent growth and occu-
pancy trends for existing and new markets. The
variables in our economic model include supply
and demand fundamentals such as economic
condirions, job growth, demographics, housing
supply, and home ownership affordability.
Qur economic research identifies the best
markets for the allocation of our investment
dollars—rthereby enhancing the perform-
ance of our portfolio and increasing share-
holder value.

PORTFOLIO CONCENTRATION Our portfo-
lio is currently concentrated in Southern
California, Northern California, and the Seatde
metropolitan area, comprising 27 submarkets
within those geographies, which are ranked
based on revenue growth potential.

A key component of our long-term strategy has
been to operate in markets that are less suscep-
tible to increases in the supply of housing. Essex
communities in California account for more
than 82% of our net operating income (NOI),
and represent some of the better apartment
markets in the country. These markets continue
to have high-income levels, strong job growth,
and high-priced, single-family homes—making
apartment community living an outstanding

economic choice.

EXPANDING REDEVELOPMENT EFFORTS,
AND RETURNS We recognize that redevelop-
ment can provide attractive risk-adjusted
return opportunities. Qur redevelopment
activities often result in acquisitions of quality,
older communirties in great locarions within
our core markets. When we redevelop these
assets, we target unleveraged returns of at least
10% on the incremental dollars invested.
Currently, redevelopment is the highest return
activity for Essex's shareholders.
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Increased Trade and Expansion Underway in

SOUTHERN CALIFORNIA

"\
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Columns in multi-tiered walkways at the Renaissance in Sou.::thern California

A MARKET PERSPECTIVE

There is a renaissance underway in downtown Los Angeles
with large mixed-use projects such as the ITA Live
Entertainment complex next to Staples Centet, the Grand
Avenue Development on Bunker Hill, and major expansion
of Universal City. The region benefits from increased trade
from the growing Asian economies, In nearby Orange
County, office construction is booming as vacancy rates
drop in response to strong demand. And che limited avail-
ability of low-density land for housing caused a sharp de-
cline in single-family permits, making rental communities
a more affordable option. Further sourh, San Diego contin-
ues its redevelopment of the downtown core while the

surrounding region makes a name for itself in the
biotech/biosciences industry. Southern California added
approximately 76,000 new jobs in 2006; during the same
period 41,000 residential units were added to the housing
supply. We continue to see strong performance in Southern
California as this diverse economy continues to expand and
attract new entrants into the labor marker. In this region,
Essex achieved an increase in same-property NOI growth of
7.0% in 2006, up from 5.7% in 2005.




PORTFOLIO HIGHLIGHTS
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Recovery and New Growth in

NORTHERN CALIFORNIA

The front entrance and leasing office at The Enclave in Nerthern California

A MARKET PERSPECTIVE

From silicon to biotech— the Northern California Bay Area
region experienced strong job growth. Technology compa-
nies are reporting continued strength in proﬁtal:)ility, with
software giant Oracle to Internet services like Google and
Yahoo leading the rebound in job growth and in\:restmcnts‘
There is only one Silicon Valley, and it continues to capture
the lion's share of venture capital investing. After steep job
declines from 2001 to 2003, we saw manufactu'ring stabi-
lize in 2006 and commercial space being absorbed across all
markets. With a rebound in tourism in San Francisco, and

10

strong growth at the port of Oakland (the 4th largestin the
U.S.), we will continue to benefit from this supply-con-
strained market. During 2006, approximately 52,000 new
jobs were added in Northern California; during the same
period 17,000 residential units were added to the housing sup-
ply. In this region, Essex achieved an increase in same-prop-

erty NOI growth of 9.0% in 2006, up from 1.9% in 2005.
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Biotech Grows, Aerospace and IT R?bound—Even Thrive in

SEATTLE MET

RO ARE

ik

S

RN

Sammamish View in the Pacific Northwest-Seattle

A
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\i
4

A MARKET PERSPECTIVE

A “roaring jobs engine.” This is how the Seartle Timesrecent-
ly described the rebound and strong job growth in the
Seattle metropolitan area. This job growth was strong across
virtually all industries and the geographic region. Key
factors in chis growth include the ongoing resurgence of
Boeing with its 787 Dreamliner becoming a reality and
strong growth in the software industry. In addition,
Microsoft's Co-Founder (Paul Allen) and the University of
Washington are continuing to revitalize the Lake Union
area of Seattle, making investments in the biotech and bio-
medical fields. In addition, the metro area is underrak-

Iz

ing several large transporration infrastructure projects
including the downtown transit tunnel for bus and light
rail use and an expansion at SeaTac Airport which will-
include a light rail link. The Seattle area added upwards
of 41,000 new jobs in 2006; during the same period 14,000
residential units were added to the housing supply. In this
area, Essex achieved an increase in same-property NOI
growth of 10% in 2006, up from 5.1% in 2005.
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ENHANCING ASSETS, ADDING SHAREHOLDER VALUE
PROPERTY OPERATIONS AND ASSET MANAGEMENT

Acquiting, developing, and redeveloping apart-
ment communities is only part of oux business

strategy. Justas important, is how we Lecuteon
a day-to-day basis. We leverage our l-lnowlcdgc
of marker and supply and demand findamen-
tals to maincain high occupanciestsome of |
the highest in the industry—while maximizing
out revenue growth in each Essex marker. And
this requires that we continually focus on
attracting, developing, and retaining the best
people, leveraging proven technologies to im-
prove efficiency and effecdveness, and always
measuring our results for continuous|improve-

From top left clockwise «Architectural details at Hillsdala,

ments. As always, our objECtive is to deliver | Montclaire, Mira Monte, and the Fenaissance

lang-term asset appreciation and maintain
resident satisfaction and retention.

TOTAL RETURN PERFORMANCE OVER FIVE YEARS
As of Dacember 31

a Essex Property Trust, Inc!
330 e

300 NAREIT'
250 28378 = All Equity REIT Index

200

e
13504

100
50

o 02 [ ) 05
The value of a $100 Investmant and Reinvestmant of all Dividends Qver Five Years

Nota: The ebove gragh shali not be desmed 2o be[ soliciting materal® of 10 ba filed with the SEC or subject to Regisation 144 o 14C of the
Exchange Act, as amafided,
1) Seurca; SNL Financial 2} Source: Standerd & Poors

2 4HA%holder value
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GLOSSARY

AVERAGE MARKET RENT

CAPITALIZATION RATE
DEBT-TO-TOTAL-MARKET-CAPITALIZATION
RATIO

DEVELOPMENT

FINANCIAL OCCUPANCY

FUNDS FROM OPERATIONS (FFO)

NAREIT

NAY

NYSE

REDEVELOPMENT

SAME-STORE/SAME-PROPERTY

SUPPLY-CONSTRAINED (MARKETS)

SUPPLY/DEMAND

ESSEX 2006 ANNUAL REPORT

The weighted average (by unit type) of quoted rents drawn from surveys of nearby apartment communities.

The capitalization rate (or “cap” rate) for a property is determined by dividing the property’s net operating Income by its
purchase price or value. See “Yield.”

I
The ratio of {a) total indebtedness to {b) total market capitalization, which is the sum of total indebtedness, the
redemption valué of preferred stock and the value of common stock and securilies convertible into common stock.

The process of acquiring land, obtaining entitlements, and constructing rental housing.
I

The percentage resulting from dividing actual rental revenue by total possible rental revenue. Actual rental revenue
represents contractual revenue pursuant to leases without considering delinguency and concessions. Total possible renta
revenue represents the value of all apartment units, with occupied units valued at contractual rental rates pursuant to
leases and vacant units valued at estimated market rents. We believe that financial eccupancy is a meaningful measure of]
occupancy because it considers the value of each vacant unit at its estimated marke? rate, Financial occupancy may net
completely reflect short-term trends in physical occupancy and financial occupancy rates as disclosed by other REITs may
not be comparablle to our calculation of financial occupancy.

A definition and t‘iiscussinn of FFO can be found on page 39, of the accompanying Form 10-K for the year ended December
2006 in the sectixlzn titled, “Funds From Operations”. A reconciliation of FFO to net income can alse be found in that sectio

]
The acronym for *National Association of Real Estate Investment Trusts”- the REIT trade association.

The acronym for “Net Asset Value,” which means the estimated “market value” of all the company’s assets, including but
limited to its properties, less the value of its liabilities and indebtedness.

The acronym for “Net Operating tncome,” which means the revenues less expenses directly attributable to the cperations
the property, exclluding financing and non-cash expenses such as depreciation.

The acronym for “The New York Stock Exchange.”

| . .
Existing properties owned or recently acquired, which have been targeted for additional investment by the Company with
expectation of increased financial returns through property improvement.

The acronym for “iReal Estate Investment Trust,” which is a corporation or business trust that has elected special treatmer
under the tax law: In general, REITs may not pay a corporate income tax on earnings, provided that they distribute at leaslr
90% of their net ipcome as dividends and invest in rent-producing real property,

The results from J property or group of properties that have had stabilized operations and have been awned during two
comparable periods.

Real estate marke;ts with limited development opportunities due to one or more of the following: (1} relatively few

developable land sites that are suitable for housing; (2) political barriers to growth, resulting from restrictive zoning laws
local political opposition to develepment; (3) physical barriers to growth, resulting from natural features such as mountaif]
or waterways; anq (&) economic limitations which make development prohibitively expensive in relation to expected retur

As it relates to housing, supply is the result of either new development or conversion from another property type. Demand
constitutes the need for housing usually generated by job and/er population growth.

|
The annualized return on invested capital, expressed as a percentage derived by dividing the annualized return by the
amount of capital ‘invested.

I
Forward-Loaking Statement

|
Certain statements in this Annual Report to Stockholders, which are not historical facts. may be consldered forward-looking statements within the meaning of the federal

secutities laws. Forward-looking st include the future growth of our FF3 and net operating income, our future FFQ being in the top quartite of

the muitifamily REIT s;emn. our d p activity, our exp d returns on red p projects, our future acquisitions, our future renavations, the rent growth in our
markets, as well as the company’s expectations relating {0 economic condltions in the markets in which the Corrpany does business. Such forward-looking statements invohve
risk that actual lesull§ could be materially different from those described in such forward-looking stalements. Factors that could cause actual results to be materlally different
Include the risk that there are unexpected delays in development and redevelopment projects, that certain anticipated development projects fail to materialize, there are unes
pected downturns in our markets as well as thase other factors discussed under the caption “Risk Factors™ in tem 1A of the Company’s Report on Form so-K for the year ended
December 31, 2006, All farward-locking statements and reasons why results may differ Included in this Annual Repert are made of the date hereal, and we assume no ebliga.
tion to update any such forward-looking statements or reasons why actual results may differ.

16
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PARTI
Forward Looking Statements

This Form 10-K contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of
1933 and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. Such forward-looking statements are described in
Item 7, Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations, in the section,
“Forward Looking Statements,” Our actual results could differ materially from those set forth in each forward-
looking statement. Certain factors that might cause such a difference are discussed in this report, including Item 1A,
Risk Factors of this Form 10-K,

Ttem 1. Business

. OVYERVIEW

J
Essex Property Trust, Inc. (“Essex” or the “Company™} is a Maryland corporation that operates as a self-
administered and self-managed real estate investment trust (“REIT"). Essex owns all of its interest in its real
properties directly or indirectly through Essex Portfolio, L.P. {the “Operating Partnership”). Essex is the sole
general partner of the Operating Partnership and as of December 31, 2006 owns a 90.4% general partnership
interest. In this report, the terms “we,” “us” and “our” refer to Essex Property Trust, its Operating Partnership and
their subsidiaries. |

The Company has elected to be treated as a RLE!T for federal income tax purposes, commencing with the year ended
December 31, 1994 as the Company completed an initial public offering on June 13, 1994. In order to maintain
compliance with REIT tax rules, the Company utilizes taxable REIT subsidiaries (“TRS™) for various revenue
generating or investment activities. The TRSs are consolidated by the Company.

We are engaged primarily in the ownership, operation, management, acquisition, development and redevelopment of
real estate. The majority of our real estate copsists of apartment communities. As of December 31, 2006, we owned
or held an interest in 130 apartment communities, aggregating 27,553 units, located predominantly along the West
Coast (collectively, the “Properties”, and individually, a “Property™). Our other properties included two recreational
vehicle parks (totaling 338 spaces), three office buildings (totaling approximately 166,340 square feet), which the
Company primarily cccupies and uses as office space, and one manufactured housing community (containing 157
pads). We currently have five development projects, with 908 units in various stages of development (together with
the Properties, the “Portfolio™).

The Company’s website address is http://www.essexpropertytrust.com. The Company’s annual reports on Form 10-
K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current ref:orts on Form 8-K and all amendments to those reports, and the Proxy
Statement for its Annual! Meeting of Stockholders are available, free of charge, on our website as soon as practicable
after we file the reports with the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC™).

i

BUSINESS OBJECTIVES AND STRATEGIES

|
The following is a discussion of our business c}abjecrives and strategies in regards to real estate investment and
management. One or more of these criteria m,lay be amended or rescinded from time to time without stockholder

vote. .

Business Objectives

Our primary business objectives are to increase shareholders’ value by investing in properties located in supply
constrained markets, and by improving operating results and the value of our Properties, while maintaining a strong
balance sheet. We intend to achieve these objectives by:

Pursuing an occupancy and rent rate igrowth strategy that capitalizes on the locations of our Properties;
Expanding our Portfolio through acquisitions, development and, when appropriate, re-development of
apartment communities in selected n{ajor metropolitan areas;
e  Optimizing financial performance thfough a portfolio asset allocation program, and to increase or decrease
investments in a market based on projected changes in regional economic and local market conditions; and
¢ Maintaining a conservative leverage jratio by identifying and utilizing capital resources that provide a lower
cost of capital.

]
We cannot assure our shareholders that we will achieve our business objectives.




Business Strategies

Research Driven Approach — We believe that successful real estate investment decisions and portfolio growth begin
with extensive regional economic research and local market knowledge. Utilizing a proprietary research model that
we have developed over the last two decades, we continually assess markets where we currently operate, as well as
markets where we consider future investment opportunities by evaluating:

e  Markets in major metropolitan areas that have regional population primarily in excess of one million,
thereby creating liquidity, which is an important element when modifying the geographic concentration of
the Company’s portfolio in response to changing market conditions;

¢ Demand for housing that is greater than supply driven by: (i} low availability of developable land sites
where competing housing could be built; (i) political growth barriers, such as protected land, urban growth
boundaries, and potential lengthy and expensive development permit processes; and (iii) natural limitations
to development, such as mountains or waterways;

e  Markets where rental demand is enhanced by expensive for-sale housing; and

e  Housing demand that is based on proximity to jobs, high quality of life and related commuting factors, as
well as potential job growth.

Recognizing that all rcal estate markets are cyclical, we regularly evaluate the results of our regional economic, as
well as, our local market research and adjust the geographic focus of our portfolio accordingly. We seek to increase
our portfolio allocation in markets projected to have the strongest local economies and to decrease such allocations
in markets projected to have declining economic conditions. Likewise, the Company also seeks to increase its
portfolio allocation in markets that have attractive property valuations and to decrease such allocations in markets
that have inflated valuations and low relative vields.

Property Operations — We manage our Properties by focusing on strategies that will generate above-average rental
growth, tenant retention/satisfaction and long-term asset appreciation. We intend to achieve this by utilizing the
strategies set forth below:

e Property Management — The Chief Operating Officer, Divisional Managers, Regional Portfolio Managers
and Area Managers are accountable for the performance and maintenance of the Properties. They
supervise, provide training for the on-site managers, manage budgeted expectations against performance,
monitor market trends and prepare operating and capital budgets.

e Capital Preservation — The Capital and Maintenance department is responsible for the planning, budgeting,
and completion of major deferred maintenance and capital improvement projects at our Properties.

e Business Planning and Control — Comprehensive business plans are implemented in conjunction with
every investment decision. These plans include benchmarks for future financial performance, based on
collaborative discussions between on-site managers and senior management.

o Development and Redevelopment — We focus on acquiring and developing apartment communities in
supply constrained markets, and redeveloping our existing communities to improve the financial and
physical aspects of our communities.

CURRENT BUSINESS ACTIVITIES
Acquisitions

Acquisitions have been a significant growth component of our business. During 2006, we completed a series of
acquisitions that added to our overall Portfolio.

¢ In January 2006, the Company acquired two apartment communities — Chimney Sweep and CBC,
aggregating 239 units, located in Goleta, California for a combined price of approximately $57.1 million.

¢ In September 2006, the Company acquired Hillsdale Garden, a 697-unit apartment community located in
San Mateo, California for approximately $97.3 million. The property is subject to a ground lease with
annual payments of $46,000 that will expire in 2047.

e In October 2006, the Company acquired Belmont Terrace, a 71-unit apartment community located in
Belmont, California for approximately $14.7 million in a transaction structured as an UpREIT.

e In December 2006, the Company acquired Camino Ruiz Square, a 160-unit apartment community located
in Camarillo, California for approximately $32.9 million.
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Dispositions :
As part of our strategic plan to own quality real estate in supply-constrained markets, we continually evaluate our
Properties and sell those which no longer meet our strategic criteria. We may use the capital generated from the
dispositions to invest in higher-return Properties or repay debts. We believe that the sale of these Properties will not
have a material impact on our future results of operations or cash flows nor will their sale materially affect our
ongoing operations. Generally, any impact of earnings dilution resulting from these dispositions will be offset by the
positive impact of our acquisitions, dcvclopme‘nt and redevelopment activities.
i
e In January 2006, the Company sold Vista Capri East and Casa Tierra apartment communities for
approximately $7.0 million and in March 2006, the Company sold Diamond Valley Recreational Vehicle
Park for approximately $1.3 million, for a combined gain of $3.1 million.

o In June 2006, the unconsolidated jo|int venture property, Vista Pointe, a 286-unit apartment community
located in Anaheim, California, was sold for approximately $46 million. The Company’s share of the
proceeds from the transaction totaled $19.3 mullion, resulting in an $8.8 million gain on the sale, and $8.2
million for fees and a promote distribution.

o [n December 2006, the Company sold Emerald Palms, 2 152-unit apartment community located in San
Diego for approximately $20.5 miltion, for a gain of approximately $6.7 million.

¢  During 2006 the Company undertook'a condominium conversion of the Peregrine Point property, a TRS, in
Issaquah, Washington. In April 2006, the property was reclassified from a rental property to real estate
under development. During the third and fourth quarters of 2006, the Company sold 45 of the 66 available
condominiums, for an aggregate gam of $2.0 million, net of taxes and expenses. The 21 remaining units
are expected to be sold in the first four months of 2007.

s  City Heights, a 687-unit community located in Los Angeles was classified as held for sale as of December
31, 2006, and was sold to a third party for a gain in February 2007,

Development and Predevelopment Pipeline 1

The Company defines development activities as new propertics that are being constructed, or are newly constructed
and, in the case of development communities, are in a phase of lease-up and have not yet reached stabilized
operations; or, in the case of TRS dcvelopment projects, have not yet been sold. As of December 31, 2006, the
Company had two development projects comptised of 513 units for an estimated cost of $167.3 million, of which
$126.9 million remains to be expended (excluding development projects owned by Essex Apartment Value Fund 1I,
L.P.). The Company also incurred $0.7 million in costs related to a joint venture development with a third-party.

The Company defines the predevelopment pipeline as new properties in negotiation or in the entitlement process
with a high likelihood of becoming development activities. As of December 31, 2006, the Company had
development communities aggregating 1,845 units that were classified as predevelopment projects. The estimated
total cost of the predevelopment pipeline at De¢ember 31, 2006 is $557.0 million, of which $514.8 million remains
to be expended. The Company had four other development projects owned by TRS entities that are under
development aggregating 120 units. The estimated total cost of the other development projects at December 31,
2006 is $42.0 million, of which $21.8 million remains to be expended. The following table sets forth information
regarding the Company’s development pipeline;

As of 12/31/06 (3 in millions)

Estimated Incurred Projected
Development Pipeline Location Units Project Cost™ Project Cost Stabilization
Development Projects |
Northwest Gateway Los Angeles, CA 275§ 7.1 % 28.2 Oct-08
100 Grand Oakland. CA 238 96.2 12.2 May-09
513 167.3 404
Predevelopment projects various 1,845 557.0 422 Dec09 to Jul-14
Other projects (TRS) various 120 42.0 20.2  Mar-07 to Mar-09
Develoment joint venmre Scattle, WA |- 0.7 0.7 -
Consolidated Development Pipeline 2478 % 767.0 8§ 103.5

. . | .
(1} Includes incurred costs and estimated costs to complete these development projects.




Redevelopment Pipeline .

The Company defines redevelopment communities as existing properties owned or recently acquired, which have
been targeted for additional investment by the Company with the expectation of increased financial returns through
property improvement, During redevelopment, apartment units may not be available for rent and, as a result, may
have less than stabilized operations. As of December 31, 2006, the Company had ownership interests in twelve
major redevelopment communities aggregating 3,648 apartment units with estimated redevelopment costs of $50.2
million, of which approximately $51.2 million remains to be expended. These amounts exclude redevelopment
projects owned by Fund 1I. The following table illustrates these redevelopment projects:

As of 12/31/06 (3 in thousands)

Estimated Incurred
Redevelopment Pipeline Location Units Renovation Cost'" Project Cost
Southern California
Kings Road Los Angeles, CA 156 % 6,183 § 4,400
Mira Monte Mira Mesa, CA 355 6,013 5132
Avondale at Warner Center Woodland Hills, CA 446 11,950 9,543
Pathways Long Beach, CA 296 10,705 532
Northern California
Montclaire - Phase [-Ti1 Sunnyvale, CA 390 15,050 2,667
Treetops Fremont, CA 172 8,266 746
Summerhill Commons Newark, CA 184 4,318 2,809
Wimbledon Woods Hayward, CA 560 9,350 791
Seattle Metro
Palisades - Phase [ and 1i Bellevue, WA 192 6,583 5,703
Sammamish View Bellevue, WA 153 3,342 2,149
Bridle Trails Kirkland, WA 108 5,071 4,367
Woodland/Foothill Commons Bellevue, WA 596 3,372 227
Total Redevelopment Pipeline 3648 % 90,243 § 39,066

(1} Includes incurred costs and estimated costs to complete these redevelopment projects.
Debt Transactions

In January 2006, the Company originated a mortgage loan secured by the Fairwood Pond apartment community in
the amount of $14.9 million, with a fixed interest rate of 5.31%, which matures on February 1, 2015.

In March 2006, the Company paid-off a loan secured by the Windser Ridge apartment community in the amount of
$11.6 million, with a fixed interest rate of 7.09%.

In March 2006, the Company renegotiated its revolving line of credit to increase the maximum principal amount to
$200 million from $185 million. Additionally, the maturity date was extended from April 2007 to March 2009, with
an option for a one-year extension, and the underlying rate, based on a tiered rate structure tied to the Company’s
corporate ratings, was reduced to LIBOR plus 0.8% from LIBOR plus 1.0%.

Derivative Transactions

As of December 31, 2006 the Company had entered into forward-starting interest rate swaps totaling a notional
amount of 3450 million with interest rates ranging from 4.9% to 5.9% and settlements dates ranging from April
2007 to July 2011. These derivatives qualify for hedge accounting and will economically hedge the cash flows
associated with the refinancing of debt that matures between April 2007 and July 2011. The decrease in the fair
value of these derivatives during the year ended December 31, 2006 was approximately $2.9 million and is reflected
in accumulated other comprehensive (loss) income in the Company’s consolidated financial statements, No hedge
ineffectiveness on cash flow hedges was recognized during the year ended December 31, 2006.

Equity Transactions

During the third quarter of 2006, the Company sold 5,980,000 shares of 4.875% Series G Cumulative Convertible
Preferred Stock for gross proceeds of $149.5 million. Holders may convert Series G Preferred Stock into shares of

4




the, Company’s common stock subject to certam conditions. The conversion rate will initially be .1830 shares of
common stock per the $25 per share quundatlon preference, which is equivalent to an initial conversion price of
approximately $136.62 per share of common stock. The conversion rate will be subject to adjustment upon the
occurrence of specified events, On or after July 31, 2011, the Company may, under certain circumstances, cause
some or all of the Series G Preferred Stock to be converted into that number of shares of common stock at the then
prevailing conversion rate. The Company used the net proceeds from the Series G offering to pay down outstanding
borrowings under the Company’s lines of credit, to fund the development pipeline and for general corporate
purposes.

During 2006, the Company issued and sold approximately 427,700 shares of common stock for $48.3 million, net of
fees and commissions, under its Controlled Equity Offering program. Under this program, the Company may from
time to time sell shares of common stock into the existing trading market at current market prices, and the Company
used the net proceeds from such sales to primarily fund real estate investments.

ESSEX APARTMENT VALUE FUNDS

Essex Apartment Value Fund, L.P. ("Fund I" and “Fund I1™), are investment funds formed by the Company to add
value through rental growth and asset appreciation, utilizing the Company's development, redevelopment and asset
management capabilities. All of the assets in Fund I were sold during 2004 and 2005, and Fund [ is in the process of
liquidation. l

Fund II has eight institutional investors, including the Company, with combined partner equity commitments of
$265.9 million. Essex has committed $75.0 million to Fund II, which represents a 28.2% interest as general partner
and limited partner. Fund 11 expects to utilize leverage equal to approximately 65% of the estimated value of the
underlying real estate. Fund II invests in apartment communities in the Company’s targeted West Coast markets
with an emphasis on investment opportunities in the Seattle metropolitan area and the San Francisco Bay Area.
Subject to certain exceptions, Fund 11 has been‘ Essex’s primary investment vehicle during 2005 and 2006. As of
October 2006, Fund I1 was fully invested and cilosed for any future acquisitions or development. As of December
31,2006, Fund IT owned 11 apartment communities and 3 development projects. Consistent with Fund I, Essex
records revenue for its asset management, property management, development and redevelopment services when
earned, and promote income if Fund I exceeds certain financial return benchmarks.

Fund II - Acquisitions !

During 2006, Fund IT acquired the following af)artment communities:

¢ Davey Glen, in April 2006, a 69-unit apartment community located in Belmont, California for
approximately $13.5 million.

|
s  Renaissance, in September 2006, a 168-unit apartment community located in Los Angeles, California for
approximately $46.3 million. !

o  Alderwood Park, in September 2006, él O6-unit apartment community located in Newark, California for
approximately $13.4 million.

Fund II - Development Pipeline

As of December 31, 2006, the following table sfets forth information regarding Fund II’s development pipeline:
I As of 12/31/06 ($ in millions)

Estimated Incurred Projected
Development Pipeline - Fund 11 Location ' Units Project Cost'” Project Cost Stabilization
Development Projects '
Lake Union Seattle, WA | 127 S 354§ 10.9 Jun-08
Studio City Studio City, CA, 149 533 223 Apr-09
Chatsworth Chatsworth, CA | 119 394 9.3 Sep-09
Fund II - Development Pipeline ' 395§ 128.1 5 42.5

(1) Includes incurred costs and estimated costs to complete these development projects.

[
|
1




OFFICES AND EMPLOYEES

The Company is headquartered in Palo Alto, California, and has regionat offices in Woodland Hills, California;
Irvine, California; San Diego, California; Bellevue, Washington; and Portland, Oregon. As of December 31, 2006,
the Company had approximately 869 employees.

INSURANCE

The Company carries comprehensive liability, fire, extended coverage and rental loss insurance for each of the
Properties. There are, however, certain types of extraordinary losses, such as, for example, losses from terrorism or
earthquake, for which the Company does not have insurance coverage.

Substantially all of the Properties are located in areas that are subject to earthquake activity. The Company believes
it has a proactive approach to its potential earthquake losses. The Company utilizes third-party seismic consultants
for its acquisitions and performs seismic upgrades to those acquisitions that are determined to have a higher level of
potential loss from an earthquake. The Company utilizes internal and third-party loss models to help to determine
its exposure. In addition, the majority of the Company’s Properties are lower density garden-style apartments which
may be less susceptible to earthquake damage. The Company will continue to monitor third-party earthquake
insurance pricing and conditions and may consider obtaining third-party coverage if it deems it cost effective in the
future.

Although the Company may carry insurance for potential losses associated with its Properties, employees, residents,
and compliance with applicable laws, it may still incur losses due to uninsured risks, deductibles, co-payments or
losses in excess of applicable insurance coverage and those losses may be material.

COMPETITION

There are numerous housing alternatives that compete with our apartment communities in attracting residents. These
include other apartment communities and single-family homes that are available for rent in the markets in which the
properties are located. The Properties also compete for residents with new and existing homes and condominiums
that are for sale. If the demand for our Propertics is reduced or if competitors develop and/or acquire competing
properties on a more cost-effective basis, rental rates and occupancy may drop, which may have a material adverse
affect on our financial condition and results of operations.

We face competition from other real estate investment trusts, businesses and other entities in the acquisition,
development and operation of properties. Some of the competitors are larger and have greater financial resources
than we do. This competition may result in increased costs of properties we acquire and/or develop.

WORKING CAPITAL

We believe that cash flows generated by our operations, existing cash balances, availability under existing lines of
credit, access to capital markets and the ability to generate cash gains from the disposition of real estate are
sufficient to meet all of our reasonably anticipated cash needs during 2007. The timing, source and amounts of cash
flows provided by financing activities and used in investing activities are sensitive to changes in interest rates and
other fluctuations in the capital markets environment, which can affect our plans for acquisitions, dispositions,
development and redevelopment activities.

ENVIRONMENTAL CONSIDERATIONS

See the discussion under the caption, “Possible environmental liabilities” in Item 1A, Risk Factors, for information
concerning the potential effect of environmental regulations on our operations.

OTHER MATTERS
Certain Policies of the Company

We intend to continue to operate in a manner that will not subject us to regulation under the Investment Company
Act of 1940. The Company has in the past five years and may in the future (i) issue securities senior to its common
stock, (i) fund acquisition activities with borrowings under its line of credit and (iii} offer shares of common stock
and/or units of limited partnership interest in the Operating Parinership or affiliated partnerships as partial
consideration for property acquisitions. The Company from time to time acquires partnership interests in
partnerships and joint ventures, either directly or indirectly through subsidiaries of the Company, when such entities’



underlying assets are real estate. In general, the Company does not (i) underwrite securities of other issuers or (ii)
actively trade in loans or other investments. 1

We invest primarily in apartment communities that are located in predominantly coastal markets within Southern
California, the San Francisco Bay Area, and parts of the Pacific Northwest. The Company currently intends to
continue to invest in apartment communities il such regions. However, these practices may be reviewed and
modified periodically by management. "

Item 1A. Risk Factors !

i
Our business, operating results, cash flows and financial conditions are subject to varicus risks and uncertainties,
including, without limitation, those set forth bélow, any onte of which could cause our actual results to vary
materially from recent results or from our antiéipated future results.

We depend on our key personnel - Our success depends on our ability to attract and retain executive officers, senior
officers and company managers. There is substantlal competition for qualified personnel in the real estate industry
and the loss of several of our key personnel could have an adverse effect on us.

Debt financing — At December 31, 2006, we h:ad approximately $1.41 billion of indebtedness (including $186.3
million of variable rate indebtedness, of which $182.8 million is subject to interest rate protection agreements). We
are subject to the risks normally associated with debt financing, including the following:

cash flow may not be sufficient to meet required payments of principal and interest;
inability to refinance maturing indebtédness on encumbered properties;
the terms of any refinancing may not be as favorable as the terms of existing indebtedness;
inability to comply with debt covenants could cause an acceleration of the maturity date; and
e repaying debt before the scheduled maturity date could result in prepayment penalties.

|

Uncertainty of our ability to refinance bah'oer payments - As of December 31, 2006, we had approximately $1.41
billion of mortgage debt, exchangeable bonds z‘Tnd line of credit borrowings, most of which are subject 1o balloon
payments. We do not expect to have sufficient cash flows from operations to make all of these balloon payments.
These mortgages, bonds and lines of credit borrowmgs have the following scheduled principal and balloon

payments:

2007--$69.1 million; |
2008--$179.5 million; :
2009--$24.6 milljon;
2010--5156.9 million;
2011--$155.5 million;
Thereafter--$733.0 million.

We may not be able to refinance such mortgage indebtedness, bonds, or lines of credit. The Properties subject to
these mortgages could be foreclosed upon or otherwise transferred to the lender. This could cause us to lose income
and asset value. We may be required to refinance the debt at higher interest rates or on terms that may not be as
favorable as the terms of existing indebtedness;

Debt financing on properties may result in insufficient cash flow - Where possible, we intend to continue to use
leverage to increase the rate of return on our investments and to provide for additional investments that we could not
otherwise make. There is a risk that the cash flow from the properties will be insufficient to meet both debt payment
obligations and the distribution requirements of the real estate investment trust provisions of the Internal Revenue
Code. We may obtain additionai debt financing in the future, through mortgages on some or all of the properties.
These mortgages may be recourse, non-recourse, or cross-collateralized.

As of December 31, 2006, Essex had 69 of its l 18 consolidated apartment comnmunities encumbered by debt. Of the
69 properties, 53 are secured by deeds of trust relatmg solely to those properties. With respect to the remaining 19
properties, there are 4 cross-collateralized mortgages secured by 8 properties, 6 properties, 3 properties and 2
properties, respectively. The holders of this ind‘ebtedncss will have claims against these properties and, to the extent
indebtedness is cross-collateralized, lenders may seek to foreclose upon properties, which are not the primary
collateral for their loan. This may accelerate other indebtedness secured by properties. Foreclosure of properties
would reduce our income and net asset value. |

Risk of rising interest rates - Current interest r.%ttes could potentially increase rapidly, which could resuit in higher




interest expense on our variable rate indebtedness. Prolonged interest rate increases could negatively impact our
ability to make acquisitions and develop properties at economic returns on investment and our ability to refinance
existing borrowings at acceptable rates.

As of December 31, 2006, we had approximately $186.3 million of long-term variable rate indebtedness bearing
interest at floating rates tied to the rate of short-term tax-exempt revenue bonds {which mature at various dates from
2020 through 2034), and $93.0 million of variable rate indebtedness under our lines of credit, bearing interest at the
Freddie Mac Reference Rate plus from 0.55% to 0.59%. Approximately $182.8 million of the long-term
indebtedness is subject to interest rate cap protection agreements, which may reduce the risks associated with
fluctvations in interest rates. The remaining $34.0 million of long-term variable rate indebtedness was not subject to
any interest rate cap protection agreements as of December 31, 2006. An increase in interest rates may have an
adverse effect on our net income and results of operations.

\

Risk of losses on interest rate hedging arrangements — Periodically, we have entered into agreements to reduce the
risks associated with increases in interest rates, and may continue to do so. Although these agreements may partially
protect against rising interest rates, they also may reduce the benefits to us if interest rates decline. If a hedging
arrangement is not indexed to the same rate as the indebtedness that is hedged, we may be exposed to losses to the
extent that the rate govemning the indebtedness and the rate governing the hedging arrangement change
independently of each other. Finally, nonperformance by the other party to the hedging arrangement may subject us
to increased credit risks. In order to minimize counterparty credit risk, our policy is to enter into hedging
arrangements only with A-rated financial institutions.

Bond compliance requirements may limit income from certain properties - At December 31, 2006, we had
approximately $186.3 million of variable rate tax-exempt financing relating to the Inglenook Court Apartments,
Wandering Creek Apartments, Treetops Apartments, Huntington Breakers Apartments, Camarillo Oaks Apartments,
Fountain Park, Anchor Village and Parker Ranch Apartments. This tax-exempt financing subjects these properties to
certain deed restrictions and restrictive covenants. We expect to engage in tax-exempt financings in the future. In
addition, the Internal Revenue Code and rules and regulations thereunder impose various restrictions, condittons and
requirements excluding interest on qualified bond obligations from gross income for federal income tax purposes.
The Internal Revenue Code also requires that at least 20% of apartment units be made available to residents with
gross incomes that do not exceed a specified percentage, generally 50%, of the median income for the applicable
family size as determined by the Housing and Urban Development Department of the federal government. In
addition to federal requirements, certain state and local authorities may impose additional rental restrictions. These
restrictions may limit income from the tax-exempt financed properties if we are required to lower rental rates to
attract residents who satisfy the median income test. If Essex does not reserve the required number of apartment
homes for residents satisfying these income requirements, the tax-exempt status of the bonds may be terminated, the
obligations under the bond documents may be accelerated and we may be subject to additional contractual liability.

Adverse effect to property income and value due to general real estate investment risks - Real property
investments are subject to a variety of risks. The yields available from equity investments in real estate depend on
the amount of income generated and expenses incurred. If the properties do not generate sufficient income to meet
operating expenses, including debt service and capital expenditures, cash flow and the ability to make distributions
to stockholders will be adversely affected. The performance of the economy in each of the areas in which the
properties are located affects occupancy, market rental rates and expenses. Consequently, the income from the
properties and their underlying values may be impacted. The financial results of major local employers may have an
impact on the cash flow and value of certain of the properties as well.

Income from the properties may be further adversely affected by, among other things, the following factors:

the general economic climate;
local economic conditions in which the properties are located, such as oversupply of housing or a reduction
in demand for rental housing;

» the attractiveness of the properties to tenants;

s competition from other available space; and

s  Essex’s ability to provide for adequate maintenance and insurance.

As leases on the properties expire, tenants may enter into new leases on terms that are less favorable to us. Income
and real estate values also may be adversely affected by such factors as applicable laws (e.g., the Americans With
Disabilities Act of 1990 and tax laws), interesi rate levels and the availability and terms of financing. Real estate
investments are relatively illiquid and, therefore, our ability to vary our portfolio promptly in response to changes in
economic or other conditions may be quite limited.
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Economic environment and impact on operatmg results - The national economy and the economies of the western
states in markets where we operate can impact our operating results. Some of these markets are concentrated in
high-tech sectors, which have experienced economic downtumns, and could again in the future. Our property type
and diverse geographic locations provide some degree of risk mitigation. However, we are not immune to prolonged
economic downturns. Although we believe we: are well positioned to meet these challenges, it is possible a reduction
in rental rates, occupancy levels, property valuations and increases in operating costs such as advertising, turnover
and repair and maintenance expense could occur in the event of economic uncertainty.

Risk of Inflation/Deflation - Substantial inflationary or deflationary pressures could have a negative effect on rental

rates and property operating expenses.
!

Risks that acquisitions will fail to meet expec!rations - We intend to continue to acquire apartment communities.
However, there are risks that acquisitions will fail to meet our expectations. Our estimates of future income,
expenses and the costs of improvements or redcvelopment that are necessary to allow us to market an acquired
property as originally intended may prove to be inaccurate. We expect to finance future acquisitions, in whole or in
part, under various forms of secured or unsecqred financing or through the issuance of partnership units by the
Operating Partnership or related partnerships or additional equity by Essex. The use of equity financing, rather than
debt, for future developments or acquisitions could dilute the interest of Essex’s existing stockholders. If we finance
new acquisitions under existing lines of credit, there is a risk that, unless we obtain substitute financing, Essex may
not be able to secure further lines of credit for new development or such lines of credit may be not available on

advantageous terms. I

Risks that development activities will be delayed, not completed, and/or not achieve expected results - We pursue
apartment community development projects and these projects generatly require various governmental and other
approvals, which have no assurance of being réceived. Our development activities generally entail certain risks,
including the following:

¢ funds may be expended and managenﬁcnt's time devoted to projects that may not be completed,;

e construction costs of a project may exceed original estimates, possibly making the project economically
unfeasible; ‘

e development projects may be delayed due to, without limitation, adverse weather conditions, labor
shortages, or unforeseen complications;

s occupancy rates and rents at a completed project may be less than anticipated; and
the operating expenses at a completed development may be higher than anticipated.

These risks may reduce the funds available for distribution to Essex’s stockholders. Further, the development of
properties is also subject to the general risks associated with real estate investments. For further information
regarding these risks, please see “Adverse Effect to Property Income and Value Due to General Real Estate
Investment Risks.” ;

The geographic concentration of our Properties and fluctuations in local markets may adversely impact our
financial condition and operating results - We generated significant amounts of rental revenues for the year ended
December 31, 2006 from properties concentrated in Southern California (Los Angeles, Ventura, Orange, San Diego
and Riverside counties), Northern California (the San Francisco Bay Area), and the Pacific Northwest (the Seattle,
Washington and Portland, Oregon metropolitan areas). As of December 31, 2006, more than half (76%) of our
Properties were located in California. This geographic concentration could present risks if local property market
performance falls below expectations. The economic condition of these markets could affect occupancy, market
rental rates, and expenses, as well as impact the income generated from the Properties and their underlying asset
values. The financtial results of major local emﬁ]oyers also may impact the cash flow and value of certain of the
Properties. This could have a negative impact on our financial condition and operating results, which could affect
our ability to pay expected dividends to our Stockholders

Competition in the apartment community market may adversely affect operations and the rental demand for our
Properties - There are numerous housing alternatives that compete with our apartment communities in attracting
residents. These include other apartment communities and single-family homes that are available for rent in the
markets in which the Properties are located. The Properties also compete for residents with new and existing homes
and condominiums that are for sale. If the demqnd for our Properties is reduced or if competitors develop and/or
acquire competing properties on a more cost-effective basis, rental rates may drop, which may have a material
adverse affect on our financial condition and results of operations.

[}
We also face competition from other real estatéI investment trusts, businesses and other entities in the acquisition,




development and operation of properties. Some of the competitors are larger and have greater financial resources
than we do. This competition may result in increased costs of properties we acquire and/or develop.

Dividend requirements as a resulf of preferred stock may lead to a possible inability to sustain dividends - We
have Series F Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Stock (“Series F Preferred Stock™) with an aggregate liquidation
preference of approximately $25 million outstanding and Series G Cumulative Convertible Preferred Stock (*Series
G Preferred Stock™) with an aggregate liquidation preference of approximately $149.5 million outstanding. In
addition, we are required under limited conditions to issue Series B Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Stock
(*“Series B Preferred Stock™) with an aggregate liquidation preference of $80 million and Series D Cumulative
Redeemable Preferred Stock (“Series D Preferred Stock™) with an aggregate liquidation preference of $50 million in
each case in exchange for outstanding preferred interests in the Operating Partnership. The terms of the Series B, D,
F and G Preferred Stock provide for certain cumulative preferential cash distributions per each share of preferred
stock.

These terms also provide that while such preferred stock is outstanding, we cannot authorize, declare, or pay any
distributions on our common stock, unless all distributions accumulated on all shares of such preferred stock have
been paid in full. Our failure to pay distributions on such preferred stock would impair our ability to pay dividends
on our common stock. Our credit agreement limits our ability to pay dividends on our preferred stock if we fail to
satisfy a fixed charge coverage ratio.

If Essex wishes to issue any common stock in the future (including upon the exercise of stock options), the funds
required to continue to pay cash dividends at current levels wiil be increased. Essex’s ability to pay dividends will
depend largely upon the performance of our current properties and other properties that may be acquired or
developed in the future.

If Essex cannot pay dividends on its common stock, Essex’s status as a real estate investment trust may be
jeopardized. Our ability to pay dividends on our common stock is further limited by the Maryland Generat
Corporation Law. Under the Maryland General Corporation Law, Essex may not make a distribution on stock if,
after giving effect to such distribution, either:

s  we would not be able to pay our indebtedness as it becomes due in the usual course of business; or
o our total assets would be less than our total labilities, including the liquidation preference on our Series B,
Series D, Series F, and Series G preferred stock.

Resale of shares pursuant to our effective registration statement or that are issued upon conversion of our
convertible preferred stock may have an adverse effect on the market price of the shares - Essex has the following
effective registration statements, which allows for the resale into the public stock of common stock held by
stockholders, as specified in the registration statements:

s A registration statement, declared effective in 2003, which covers the resale of up to 6,513,490 shares,
including (i) up to 2,769,875 shares issued, or potentially issuable, in connection with the acquisition of
John M. Sachs, Inc., a real estate company, (i1} up to 2,270,490 shares of common stock that are issuable
upon exchange of limited partnership interests in the Operating Partnership and (iii) up to 1,473,125 shares
that are issuable upon exchange of limited partnership interests in certain other real estate partnerships,

e  Registration statements, declared effective in 2006, that cover (i) the resale of up to 142,076 shares issuable
in connection with our Waterford and Vista Belvedere acquisitions and (ii) the resale of shares issuable in
connection with the exchange rights of our 3.625% Exchangeable Senior Notes, as to which there is a
principal amount of $225 million outstanding.

During the third quarter of 2006, we issued, pursuant to a registration statement, 5,980,000 million shares of 4.875%
Series G Cumulative Preferred Stock for estimated gross proceeds of $149.5 million; such shares are convertible,
subject to certain conditions, into common stock, which could be resold into the public market.

The resale of the shares of common stock pursuant to these various registration statements or that are issued upon
conversion of our outstanding convertible preferred stock may have an adverse effect on the market price of our
shares.

The exchange and repurchase rights of Exchangeable Senior Notes and Series G Preferred Stock may be
detrimental to holders of common stock - The Operating Partnership has $225 million principal amount of 3.625%
Exchangeable Senior Notes (the “Notes™) outstanding which mature on November 1, 2025. The Notes are
exchangeable into the Company's common stock on or after November 1, 2020 or prior to November 1, 2020 under
certain circurnstances. The Notes are redeemable at the Company's option for cash at any time on or after November
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4, 2010 and are subject to repurchase for cash at the option of the holder on November 1% in the years 2010, 2015
and 2020, or upon the occurrence of certain events. The Notes are senior unsecured and unsubordinated obligations

of the Company. \

In 2006, the Comipany sold 5,980,000 million s‘hares of 4.875% Series G Cumulative Convertible Preferred Stock
(the “Series G Preferred Stock™) for gross proceeds of $149.5 million. Holders may convert Series G Preferred
Stock into shares of the Company’s common stock subject to certain conditions, The conversion rate will initially
be .1830 shares of common stock per $25 share liguidation preference, which is equivalent to an initial conversion
price of $136.62 per share of common stock (the conversion rate will be subject to adjustment upon the occurrence
of specified events). On or after July 31, 2011 jthe Company may, under certain circumstances cause some or all of
the Series G Preferred Stock to be converted into shares of common stock at the then prevailing conversion rate.
Further, if a fundamental change oceurs, as defined in the articles supplementary for the Series G Preferred Stock,
then the holders may require Essex to repurcha‘se all or part of their Series G Preferred Stock subject to certain

conditions.

\
The exchange of the Notes and/or Series G Preferred Stock for common stock would dilute stockholder ownership
in the Company, and such exchange could adversely affect the market price of our common stock and our ability to
raise capital through the sale of additional equity securities. If the Notes and Series G Preferred Stock are not
exchanged, the repurchase price of the Notes aﬁd Series G Preferred Stock may discourage or impede transactions
that might otherwise be in the interest of the holders of common stock. Further, these repurchase rights may be
triggered in situations where Essex needs to conserve its cash reserves, in which event such repurchase might

adversely affect Essex and its common stockholders
1

Our future issuances of common stock, prefer{red stock or convertible debt securities could adversely affect the
market price of our common stock - In order to finance our property acquisition and development activities, we
have issued and sold common stock, preferred stock and convertible debt securities. For example, in 2005, the
Operating Partnership sold $225 million pnncnpal amount of 3.625% Exchangeable Senior Notes, which are
exchangeable into the Company’s common stoek under certain conditions. In 2006, the Company issued 5,980,000
million shares of 4.875% Series G Cumulative Convertible Preferred Stock for gross proceeds of approximately
$149.5 million. During 2006, pursuant to a Control]ed Equity Offering program that the Company entered into with

Cantor Fitzgerald & Co., the Company issued and sold approximately 427,700 shares of common Stock for $48.3

million, net of fees and commissions. The Company may in the future sell further shares of comumon stock pursuant -

to a Controlled Equity Offering program with Cantor Fitzgerald & Co.

\
Future sales of common stock, preferred stock or convertible debt securities may dilute stockholder ownership in the

Company and could adversely affect the markelt price of the common stock.

Our Chairman is involved in other real estate jactiviries and investments, which may lead to conflicts of interest -
Qur Chairman, George M. Marcus is not an employee of Essex, and is involved in other real estate activities and
investments, which may lead to conflicts of intérest. Mr. Marcus owns interests in various other real estate-related
businesses and investments. He is the Chairman of The Marcus & Millichap Company, or “TMMC,” which is a
holding company for certain real estate brokeraée and services companies. TMMC has an interest in Pacific

Property Company, a company that invests in apartment comrmunities.
\

Mr. Marcus has agreed not to divulge any information that may be received by him in his capacity as Chairman of
Essex to any of his affiliated companies and tha]t he will abstain his vote on any and all resolutions by the Essex
Board of Directors regarding any proposed acqulsmon and/or development of a multifamily property where it
appears that there may be a conflict of interest with any of his affiliated companies. Notwithstanding this
agreement, Mr. Marcus and his affiliated entities may potentially compete with us in acquiring and/or developing
multifamily properties, which competition may]be detrimental to us. In addition, due to such potential competition
for real estate investments, Mr. Marcus and his aff liated entities may have a conflict of interest with us, which may
be detrimental to the interests of Essex’s stockholders

1
The influence of executive officers, directors ajnd significant stockholders may be detrimental to holders of
common stock - As of December 31, 2006, George M. Marcus, the Chairman of our Board of Directors, wholly or
partially owned 1,759,267 shares of common stock {(including shares issuable upon exchange of limited partnership
interests in the Operating Partnership and certam other partnerships and assuming exercise of all vested options).
This represents approximately 7.5% of the outstandmg shares of our common stock. Mr. Marcus currently does not
have majority control over us. However, he cuﬁent]y has, and likely will continue to have, significant influence with

respect to the election of directors and approval or disapproval of significant corporate actions. Consequently, his
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‘ influence could result in decisions that do not reflect the interests of all our stockholders.

Under the partnership agreement of the Operating Partnership, the consent of the holders of limited partnership
interests is generally required for any amendment of the agreement and for certain extraordinary actions. Through
their ownership of limited partnership interests and their positions with us, our directors and executive officers,
including Mr. Marcus, have substantial influence on us. Consequently, their influence could result in decisions that
do not reflect the interests of all stockholders.

The voting rights of preferred stock may allow holders of preferred stock to impede actions that otherwise benefit
holders of common stock - In general, the holders of our outstanding shares of preferred stock do not have any
voting rights. However, if full distributions are not made on any outstanding preferred stock for six quarterly
distributions periods, the holders of preferred stock who have not received distributions, voting together as a single
class, will have the right to elect two additional directors to serve on our Board of Directors.

These voting rights continue until all distributions in arrears and distributions for the current quarterly period on the
preferred stock have been paid in full, At that time, the holders of the preferred stock are divested of these voting
rights, and the term and office of the directors so efected immediately terminates. While any shares of our preferred
stock are outstanding, Essex may not, without the consent of the holders of two-thirds of the outstanding shares of
each series of preferred stock, each voting separately as a single class:

o authorize or create any class or series of stock that ranks senior to such preferred stock with respect to the
payment of dividends, rights upon liquidation, dissolution or winding-up of our business;

» amend, alter or repeal the provisions of Essex’s Charter or Bylaws, including by merger or consolidation,
that would materially and adversely affect the rights of such series of preferred stock; or

e in the case of the preferred stock into which our preferred units are exchangeable, merge or consolidate
with another entity or transfer substantially all of its assets to another entity, except if such preferred stock
remains outstanding with the surviving entity and has the same terms and in certain other circumstances.

These voting rights of the preferred stock may allow holders of preferred stock to impede or veto actions that would
otherwise benefit the holders of our common stock.

The redemption rights of the Series B preferred units, Series D preferred units, Series F preferred stock and
Series G preferred stock may be detrimental to holders of Essex common stock - Upon the occurrence of one of the
following events, the terms of the Operating Partnership’s Series B and D Preferred Units require it to redeem all of
such units and the terms of Essex’s Series F Preferred Stock and the Series G Preferred Stock provide the holders of
the majority of the outstanding Series F Preferred Stock and Series G Preferred Stock the right to require Essex to
redeem all of such stock:

e Essex completes a “going private” transaction and its common stock is no longer registered under the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended;

«  Essex completes a consolidation or merger or sale of substantially all of its assets and the surviving entity’s
debt securities do not possess an investment grade rating;

e  Essex fails to qualify as a REIT; or

¢ in the case of Series G preferred stock, Essex common stock is not traded on a major exchange.

The aggregate redemption price of the Series B Preferred Units would be $80 million, the aggregate redemption
price of the Series D Preferred Units would be $50 million, the aggregate redemption price of the Series F Preferred
Stock would be $25 million and the aggregate redemption price of the Series G Preferred Stock would be $149.5
million, plus, in each case, any accumulated distributions,

These redemption rights may discourage or impede transactions that might otherwise be in the interest of holders of
common stock. Further, these redemption rights might trigger situations where Essex needs to conserve its cash
reserves, in which event such redemption might adversely affect Essex and its common holders.

Maryland business combination law may not allow certain transactions between Essex and its affiliates to
proceed without compliance with such law - Under Maryland law, “business combinations” between a Maryland
corporation and an interested stockholder or an affiliate of an interested stockholder are prohibited for five years
after the most recent date on which the interested stockholder becomes an interested stockholder. These business
combinations include a merger, consolidation, share exchange, or, in circumstances specified in the statute, an asset
transfer or issuance or reclassification of equity securities. An interested stockholder is defined as any person (and
certain affiliates of such person) who beneficially owns ten percent or more of the voting power of the then-
outstanding voting stock.

The law also requires a supermajority stockholder vote for such transactions, This means that the transaction must
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be approved by at least: :
¢ 80% of'the votes entitled to be cast by hoiders of outstanding voting shares; and
*  Two-thirds of the votes entitled to be cast by holders of outstanding voting shares other than shares held by

the interested stockholder with whom the business combination is to be effected.

The statute permits various exemptions from its provisions, including business combinations that are exempted by
the board of directors prior to the time that the interested stockholder becomes an interested stockholder. These
voting provisions do not apply if the stockholders receive a minimum price, as defined under Maryland law. As
permitted by the statute, the Board of Directors of Essex irrevocably has elected to exempt any business
combination by us, Gcorge M. Marcus, William A. Millichap, who are the chairman and a director of Essex,
respectively, and TMMC or any entity owned or controlled by Messrs. Marcus and Millichap and TMMC.
Consequently, the five-year prohibition and supcrmajorlty vote requirement described above will not apply to any
business combination between us and Mr. Marcus Mr. Millichap, or TMMC. As a result, we may in the future enter
into business combinations with Messts. Marcus and Millichap and TMMC, without compliance with the
supermajority vote requirements and other provisions of the Maryland General Corporation Law,

Anti-takeover provisions contained in the Operating Partnership agreement, charter, bylaws, and certain
provisions of Maryland law could delay, defer'or prevent a change in control - While Essex is the sole general
partner of the Operating Partnership, and generally has full and exclusive responsibility and discretion in the
management and control of the Operating Partnership, certain provisions of the Operating Partnership agreement
place limitations on Essex’s ability to act with rjespect to the Operating Partnership. Such limitations could delay,
defer or prevent a transaction or a change in control that might involve a premium price for our stock or otherwise
be in the best interest of the stockholders or that could otherwise adversely affect the interest of Essex’s
stockholders. The partnership agreement provides that if the limited partners own at least 5% of the outstanding
units of partnership interest in the Operating Papnership, Essex cannot, without first obtaining the consent of a
majority-in-interest of the limited partners in the Operating Partnership, transfer all or any portion of our general
partner interest in the Operating Partnership to another entity, Such limitations on Essex’s ability to act may result in
our being precluded from taking action that the Board of Directors believes is in the best interests of Essex’s
stockholders. As of December 31, 2006, the limited partners held or controlled approximately 9.6% of the
outstanding units of partnership interest in the Operating Partnership, allowing such actions to be blocked by the
limited partners.

Essex’s Charter authorizes the issuance of additional shares of common stock or preferred stock and the setting of
the preferences, rights and other terms of such preferred stock without the approval of the holders of the common
stock. We may establish one or more series of preferred stock that could delay, defer or prevent a transaction or a
change in control. Such a transaction might invglve a premium price for our stock or otherwise be in the best
interests of the holders of common stock, Also, such a class of preferred stock could have dividend, voting or other
rights that could adversely affect the interest of holders of common stock.

Essex’s Charter, as well as Essex’s stockholder rights plan, contains other provisions that may delay, defer or
prevent a transaction or a change in control that:might be in the best interest of Essex’s stockholders. Essex’s
stockholder rights plan is designed, among other things, to prevent a person or group from gaining control of us
without offering a fair price to all of Essex’s stockholders. The Bylaws may be amended by the Board of Directors
to include provisions that would have a similar éffect, although Essex presently has no such intention. The Charter
contains ownership provisions limiting the transferability and ownership of shares of capital stock, which may have
the effect of delaying, deferring or preventing a transaction or a change in control. For example, subject to receiving
an exemption from the Board of Directors, potential acquirers may not purchase more than 6% in value of the stock
{other than qualified pension trusts which can ac!quire 9.9%). This may discourage tender offers that may be
attractive to the holders of commeon stock and limit the opportunity for stockholders to receive a premium for their
shares of common stock.

The Maryland General Corporations Law restricts the voting rights of shares deemed to be “control shares.”
Under the Maryland General Corporations Law, “control shares” are those which, when aggregated with any other
shares held by the acquirer, entitle the acquirer to exercise voting power within specified ranges. Although the
Bylaws exempt Essex from the control share pro:visions of the Maryland General Corporations Law, the Board of
Directors may amend or eliminate the provisions of the Bylaws at any time in the future. Moreover, any such
amendment or elimination of such provision of the Bylaws may resuit in the application of the control share
provisions of the Maryland General Corporatlons Law not only to control shares which may be acquired in the
future, but also to control shares previously acqulred If the provisions of the Bylaws are amended or eliminated, the
control share provisions of the Maryland Generall Corporations Law could delay, defer or prevent a transaction or

' 13




change in control that might involve a premium price for the stock or otherwise be in the best interests of Essex’s
stockholders.

Essex’s joint ventures and joint ownership of Properties and partial interests in corporations and limited
partnerships could limit Essex’s ability to control such Properties and partial interests - Instead of purchasing
properties directly, we have invested and may continue to invest as a co-venturer. Joint venturers often have shared
control over the operation of the joint venture assets. Therefore, it is possible that the co-venturer in an investment
might become bankrupt, or have economic or business interests or goals that are inconsistent with our business
interests or goals, or be in a position to take action contrary to our instructions ot requests, or our policies or
objectives. Consequently, a co-venturer’s actions might subject property owned by the joint venture to additional
risk. Although we seek to maintain sufficient influence over any joint venture to achieve its objectives, we may be
unable to take action without our joint venture partners’ approval, or joint venture partners could take actions
binding on the joint venture without our consent. Should a joint venture partner become bankrupt, we could become
liable for such partner’s share of joint venture liabilities.

From time to time, we, through the Operating Partnership, invest in corporations, limited partnerships, limited
liability companies or other entities that have been formed for the purpose of acquiring, developing or managing real
property. In certain circumstances, the Operating Partnership’s interest in a particular entity may be less than a
majority of the outstanding voting interests of that entity. Therefore, the Operating Partnership’s ability to control
the daily operations of such an entity may be limited. Furthermore, the Operating Partnership may not have the
power to remove a majority of the board of directors (in the case of a corporation) or the general partner or partners
(in the case of a limited partnership) of such an entity in the event that its operations conflict with the Operating
Partnership’s objectives. The Operating Partnership may not be able to dispose of its interests in such an entity. In
the event that such an entity becomes insolvent, the Operating Partnership may lose up to its entite investment in
and any advances to the entity. We have, and in the future may, enter into transactions that could require us to pay
the tax liabilities of partners, which contribute assets into joint ventures or the Operating Partnership, in the event
that certain taxable events, which are within our control, occur. Although we plan to hold the contributed assets or
defer recognition of gain on their sale pursuant to the like-kind exchange rules under Section 1031 of the Internal
Revenue Code, we can provide no assurance that we will be able to do so and if such tax liabilities were incurred
they can expect to have a material impact on our financial position.

Dedicated investment activities and other factors specifically related to Fund II - Fund 11 involves risks to us such
as the following:

¢ our partners in Fund II might remove Essex as the general partner of Fund II;

¢ our partners in Fund II might become bankrupt (in which event we might become generaily liable for the
liabilities of Fund iI);

e our partners in Fund II might have economic or business interests or goals that are inconsistent with our
business interests or goals;

¢ our parmers in Fund IT might fail to fund capital commitments as contractually required; or

¢ our partners in Fund 11 might fail to approve decisions regarding Fund I! that are in our best interest.

We will, however, generally seck to maintain sufficient influence over Fund II to permit it to achieve its business
objectives.

Investments in mortgages and other real estate securities - We may invest in securities related to real estate, which
could adversely affect our ability to make distributions to stockholders. We may purchase securities issued by
entities which own real estate and invest in mortgages or unsecured debt obligations. These mortgages may be first,
second or third mortgages that may or may not be insured or otherwise guaranteed. In general, investments in
mortgages include the following risks:

o that the value of mortgaged property may be less than the amounts owed, causing realized or unrealized
losses;

s the borrower may not pay indebtedness under the mortgage when due, requiring us to foreclose, and the
amount recovered in connection with the foreciosure may be less than the amount owed;
that interest rates payable on the mortgages may be lower than our cost of funds; and
in the case of junior mortgages, that foreclosure of a senior mortgage would eliminate the junior mortgage.

If any of the above were to occur, cash flows from operations and our ability to make expected dividends to
stockholders could be adversely affected.
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Possible environmental liabilities - Under various federal, state and local laws, ordinances and regulations, an
owner or operator of real estate is liable for the costs of removal or remediation of certain hazardous or toxic
substances on, in, to or migrating from such prbperty. Such laws often impose liability without regard as to whether
the owner or operator knew of, or was responsible for, the presence of such hazardous or toxic substances. The
presence of such substances, or the failure to plf'operly remediate such substances, may adversely affect the owner’s
or operator’s ability to sell or rent such property or to borrow using such property as collateral. Persons exposed to
such substances, either through soil vapor or ingestion of the substances may claim personal injury damages.
Persons who arrange for the disposal or treatment of hazardous or toxic substances or wastes also may be liable for
the costs of removal or remediation of such substances at the disposal or treatment facility to which such substances
or wastes were sent, whether or not such facility is owned or operated by such person. Certain environmental laws
impose liability for release of asbestos-containing materials (“ACMSs”) into the air, and third parties may seck
recovery from owners or operators of real properties for personal injury associated with ACMs. In connection with
the ownership (direct or indirect), operation, management and development of real properties, the Company could
be considered an owner or operator of such properties or as having arranged for the disposal or treatment of
hazardous or toxic substances and, therefore, may be potentially liable for removal or remediation costs, as well as
certain other costs, including governmental ﬁnqs and costs related to injuries of persons and property.

Investments in real property create a potential flor environmental liabilities on the part of the owner of such real
property. We carry certain limited insurance coverage for this type of environmental risk. We have conducted
environmental studies which revealed the presence of groundwater contamination at certain Properties. Such
contamination at certain of these properties was reported to have migrated on-site from adjacent industrial
manufacturing operations. The former industrial users of the Properties were identified as the source of
contamination. The environmental studies noted that certain Properties are located adjacent to any possible down
gradient from sites with known groundwater contamination, the lateral limits of which may extend onto such
properties. The environmental studies also noted that at certain of these properties, contamination existed because of
the presence of underground fuel storage tanks,iwhich have been removed. In general, in connection with the
ownership, operation, financing, management and development of real properties, we may be potentially liable for
removal or clean-up costs, as well as certain other costs and environmental liabilities. We may also be subject to
governmental fines and costs related to injuries to persons and property.

Recently there has been an increasing number of lawsuits against owners and managers of apartment communities
alleging personal injury and property damage caused by the presence of mold in residential real estate. Some of
these lawsuits have resulted in substantial monetary judgments or settlements. Essex has been sued for mold related
matters and has settled some, but not all, such matters, which matters remain unresolved and pending. Insurance
carriers have reacted to mold related liability awards by excluding mold related claims from standard policies and
pricing mold endorsements at prohibitively high rates. Essex has, however, purchased pollution Hability insurance,
which includes limited coverage for mold, although the insurance may not cover all pending or future mold claims.
Essex has adopted programs designed to manage the existence of mold in its properties as well as guidelines for
promptly addressing and resolving reports of mold 1o minimize any impact mold might have on residents or the
property. Essex cannot assure you that it will nqt be sued in the future for mold related matters and cannot assure
you that the liabilities resulting from such current or future mold related matters will not be substantial. The costs of
carrying insurance to address potential mold rel?ted claims may also be substantial.

California has enacted legislation commonly referred to as “Proposition 65” requiring that “clear and reasonable”
warnings be given to consumers who are exposed to chemicals known to the State of California to cause cancer or
reproductive toxicity, including tobacco smoke. Although we have sought to comply with Proposition 65
requirements, we cannot assure you that we will not be adversely affected by litigation relating to Proposition 65.

|
Methane gas is a naturally-occurring gas that is commonly found below the surface in several areas, particularly in
the Southern California coastal areas. Methane is a non-toxic gas, but can be ignitable in confined spaces. Although
naturally-occurring, methane gas is not regulatefi at the state or federal level, some local governments, such as the
County of Los Angeles, have imposed requirements that new buildings install detection systems in areas where
methane gas is known to be located.

Methane gas is also associated with certain industrial activities, such as former municipal waste landfills. Radon is
also a naturally-occurring gas that is found be]ow the surface. Essex cannot assure you that it will not be adversely
affected by costs related to its compliance with methane gas related requirements or litigation costs related to
methane or radon gas.

I

The Company has almost no indemnification agreements from third parties for potential environmental clean-up
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costs at its Properties. The Company has no way of determining at this time the magnitude of any potential liability
to which it may be subject arising out of unknown environmental conditions or violations with respect to the
properties formerly owned by the Company. No assurance can be given that existing environmental studies with
respect to any of the Properties reveal all environmental liabilities, that any prior owner or operator of a Property did
not create any material environmental condition not known to the Company, or that a material environmental
condition does not exist as to any one or more of the Properties. The Company has limited insurance coverage for
the types of environmental liabilities described above.

General uninsured losses - The Company carries comprehensive liability, fire, extended coverage and rental loss
insurance for each of the Properties. There are, however, certain types of extraordinary losses, such as, for example,
losses for terrorism or earthquake, for which the Company does not have insurance coverage. Substantially all of the
Properties are located in areas that are subject to earthquake activity. In January 2007, the Company canceled the
earthquake policy and established a wholly owned insurance subsidiary. Through this subsidiary, the Company is
self-insured as it relates to earthquake related losses.

Although the Company may carry insurance for potential losses associated with its Properties, employees, residents,
and compliance with applicable laws, it may still incur losses due to uninsured risks, deductibles, co-payments or
losses in excess of applicable insurance coverage and those losses may be material.

Changes in real estate tax and other laws - Generally we do not directly pass through costs resulting from changes
in real estate tax laws to residential property tenants. We also do not generally pass through increases in income,
service or other taxes, to tenants under leases. These costs may adversely affect funds from operations and the
ability to make distributions to stockholders. Similarly, compliance with changes in (i) laws increasing the potential
liability for environmental conditions existing on properties or the restrictions on discharges or other conditions or
(ii) rent control or rent stabilization laws or other laws regulating housing may result in significant unanticipated
expenditures, which would adversely affect funds from operations and the ability to make distributions to
stockholders.

Changes in financing policy; no limitation on debt — We have adopted a policy of maintaining for a debt-to-total-
market-capitalization ratio of less than 50%. The calculation of debt-to-total-market-capitalization is as follows:

total indebtedness divided by the sum of total indebtedness plus total equity market capitalization. As used in this
calculation, total equity market capitalization is equal to the aggregate market value of the outstanding shares of
common stock (based on the greater of current market price or the gross proceeds per share from public offerings of
the outstanding shares plus any undistributed net cash flow), assuming the conversion of all limited partnership
interests in the Operating Partnership into shares of common stock and the gross proceeds of the preferred units.
Based on this calculation (including the current market price and excluding undistributed net cash flow), our debt-to-
total-market-capitalization ratio was approximately 28% as of December 31, 2006.

Our organizational documents do not limit the amount or percentage of indebtedness that may be incurred.
Accordingly, the Board of Directors of Essex could change current policies and the policies of the Operating
Partnership regarding indebtedness. If we changed these policies, we could incur more debt, resulting in an
increased risk of default on our obligations and the obligations of the Operating Partnership, and an increase in debt
service requirements that could adversely affect our financial condition and results of operations. Such increased
debt could exceed the underlying value of the Properties.

We are subject to certain tax risks - Essex has elected to be taxed as a REIT under the Internal Revenue Code.
Essex’s qualification as a REIT requires it to satisfy numerous requirements (some on an annual and quarterly basis)
established under highly technical and complex Internal Revenue Code provisions for which there are only limited
judicial or administrative interpretations, and involves the determination of various factual matters and
circumstances not entirely within Essex’s control. Although Essex intends that its current organization and method
of operation enable it to qualify as a REIT, it cannot assure you that it so qualifies or that it will be able to remain so
qualified in the future. Future legislation, new regulations, administrative interpretations or court decisions (any of
which could have retroactive effect) could adversely affect Essex’s ability to qualify as a REIT or adversely affect
its stockholders. If it fails to qualify as a REIT in any taxable year, Essex would be subject to U.S. federal income
tax (including any applicable alternative minimum tax) on its taxable income at corporate rates, and would not be
allowed to deduct dividends paid to its shareholders in computing its taxable income. Essex may also be disqualified
from treatment as a REIT for the four taxable years following the year in which it failed to qualify. The additional
tax liability would reduce its net earnings available for investment or distribution to stockholders, and it would no
longer be required to make distributions to its stockholders. Even if Essex continues to qualify as a REIT, it will
continue to be subject 1o certain federal, state and local taxes on its income and property.
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Essex has established several taxable REIT subsidiaries (“TRSs™). Despite Essex’s qualification as a REIT, its
TRSs’ must pay U.S. federal income tax on their taxable income. While Essex will attempt to ensure that their
dealing with its TRSs’ does not adversely affect its REIT qualification, it cannot provide assurance that it will
successfully achieve that result. Furthermore, E;ssex may be subject to a 100% penalty tax, or its TRSs’ may be
denied deductions, to the extent its dealings with its TRSs’ ate not deemed to be arm’s length in nature. No
assurances can be given that Essex’s dealings with its TRSs’ will be arm’s length in nature.

From time to time, we may transfer or otherwise dispose of some of our Properties. Under the Internal Revenue
Code, any gain resulting from transfers of Propertles that we hold as inventory or primarily for sale to customers in
the ordinary course of business would be treated as income from a prohibited transaction subject to a 100% penalty
tax. Since we acquire properties for investment!purposes, we do not believe that our occasional transfers or disposals
of property are prohibited transactions. However whether property is held for investment purposes is a question of
fact that depends on all the facts and circumstances surrounding the particular transaction. The Internal Revenue
Service may contend that certain transfers or dtic;posals of properties by us are prohibited transactions, If the Internal
Revenue Service were to argue successfully that a transfer or disposition of property constituted a prohibited
transaction, then Essex would be required to paS( a 100% penalty tax on any gain allocable to Essex from the
prohibited transaction and Essex’s ability to retam future gamq on real property sales may be jeopardized. Income
from a prohibited transaction might adversely affect Essex’s ability to satisfy the income tests for qualification as a
REIT for U.S. federal income tax purposes. Therefore, no assurances can be given that Essex will be able to satisfy
the income tests for qualification as a REIT,

Item IB. Unresolved Staff Comments. }
|
None. |

Item 2. Properties I

Our core apartment Portfolio as of December 3l 2006 (including partial ownership interests) was comprised of 130
apartment communities (comprising 27,553 apartment units), of which 13,285 units are located in Southern
California, 7,490 units are located in the San Franc1sc0 Bay Area, 5,441 units are located in the Seattle Metropolitan
Area, and 1,337 units are located in the other areas including Portland, Oregon and Houston, Texas. The
Company’s apartment communities accounted for 99% of the Company’s property revenues for the year ended
December 31, 2006. l

|
Occupancy Rates

The 130 apartment communities had an average Samec-Properties occupancy (as defined in Item 7), based on
“financial occupancy,” during the year ended December 31, 2006, of approximately 96.4 %. With respect to
stabilized apartment communities with sufﬁmerlt operating history, occupancy figures are based on financial
occupancy (the percentage resulting from dividing actual rental revenue by total possible rental revenue). Actual
rental revenue represents contractual revenue pursuant to leases without considering delinquency and concessions.
Total possible rental revenue represents the value of all apartment units, with occupied units valued at contractual
rental rates pursuant to leases and vacant units valued at estimated market rents. We believe that financial occupancy
is a meaningful measure of occupancy because 1t considers the value of each vacant unit at its estimated market rate.
Financial occupancy may not completely reﬂect short-term trends in physical occupancy and financial occupancy
rates as disclosed by other REITs may not be colmparable 1o our calculation of financial occupancy.

As of December 31, 2006, the headquarters buil‘ding was 100% occupied by the Company and the Southern
California office building was 95% occupied, based on physical occupancy. With respect to office buildings,
occupancy figures are based on “physical occupancy” which refers to the percentage resulting from dividing leased
and occupied square footage by rentable square footage. With respect to recreational vehicle parks, manufactured
housing communities, or apartment communme's which have not yet stabilized or have insufficient operating
history, occupancy figures are based on physu:al occupancy” which refers to the percentage resulting from dividing
leased and occupied units by rentable units. '

For the year ended December 31, 2006, none oflthe Company’s Properties had book values equal to 10% or more of
total assets of the Company or gross revenues equal to 10% or more of aggregate gross revenues of the Company.

|
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Apartment Communities

Our apartment communities are generally suburban garden apartments and town homes comprising multiple clusters
of two and three story buildings situated on three to fifteen acres of land. The apartment communities have on
average of 212 units, with a mix of studio. one, two and some three-bedroom units. A wide variety of amenities are
available at each apartment community, including covered parking, fireplaces, swimming pools, clubhouses with
complete fitness facilities, volleyball and playground areas and tennis courts.

We select, train and supervise a full team of on-site service and maintenance personnel. We believe that the
following primary factors enhance our ability to retain tenants:

e well built communities that have been well maintained since acquisition; and
s proactive customer service approach.

Office Buildings

The Company’s corporate headquarters is located in a two-story office building with approximately 17,400 square
feet located at 925 East Meadow Drive, Palo Alto, California. The Company acquired this property in 1997. The
Company also owns an office building in Southern California (Woodland Hills), comprised of approximately 38,940
square feet building, of which the Company cccupies approximately 11,200 square feet at December 31, 2006. The
building has nine third-party tenants occupying approximately 26,000 square feet. The largest single tenant occupies
approximately 10,900 square feet. The Company acquired the Woodtand Hills property in 2001. The Company has a
mortgage loan receivable on an office building with approximately 110,000 square feet located in Irvine, California,
which is consolidated under FIN 46R.

Recreational Vehicle Parks and Manufactured Housing Community

The Company owns two recreational vehicle parks (comprising of 338 spaces), acquired in the Company’s
December 2002 acquisition of John M. Sachs, Inc., located in El Cajon, California.

The Company owns one manufactured housing community (containing 157 sites), acquired in the Company’s
December 2002 acquisition of John M. Sachs, [nc., located in Vista, California.
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The foliowing tables describe the Company’s Properiies as of December 31, 2006. The first table describes the
Company’s apartment communities and the second table describes the Company’s other real estate assets,

Rentable
Square Year Year
Apartment Communities Location Units Footage Built Acquired Occupancy”
Southern California |
AIPIne Country.......ccovvvvevmenmnirnecncnrssesse s Alpine, CA 108 81,900 1986 2002 97%
Alpine Village.....ooceceii e, Alpine, CA | 306 254,400 1971 2002 97%
Barkley, The(3H4). . .cooieiernniiiniiesvee e Anaheim, CA 161 139,800 1984 2000 98%
Bonita Cedars,.......coerverninee ... Bonita, CA 120 120,800 1983 2002 96%
Camarillo Oaks... .. Camarillo, CA 564 459,000 1985 1996 96%
Mountain VIeW........ccccoceeeevvinnnieneninnianaenss Camarillo, CA 106 83,900 1980 2004 98%
Cambridge.............. cerreenessenesennenenees Chula Vista, (?A 40 22,100 1965 2002 97%
Woodlawn Colonial........ccococoviveccviniineee. Chula Vista, CA 159 104,500 1974 2002 95%
Mesa VIllage. .....coovvveeeeieceiecec e Clairemont, CA 133 43,600 1963 2002 98%
Parcwood(5). v vvirvininsssirrcsessesemmnenenee o, CoTORE, CA 312 270,000 1989 2004 92%
Coral Gardens..............c.oovveecvecninniiarisssniaisnnn.. El Cajon, CA! 200 182,000 1976 2002 95%
Tierra del SOVNOME.........comvevecverceeeri e El Cajon, CA ! 156 117,000 1969 2002 97%
Grand Regency.........ovvvirmmieeeisnireiesciie e, Escondido, Cﬁ‘k 60 42,400 1967 2002 99%
Valley Park(6}................ ... Fountain Valley, CA 160 169,700 1969 2001 95%
Capri at Sunny Hills(8).........covniiivnvnininn. - Fullerton, CA LoQ 128,100 1961 2001 97%
Wilshire Promenade..............coooeeeenniinninceen, Fullerton, CA 149 128,000 1992(7) 1997 98%
MOMIEJO(6). et s Garden Grove; CA 124 103,200 1974 2001 97%
CBC Aparments. ....ooo.vennrievimern e ceeeans Goleta, CA | 148 91,338 1962 2006 98%
Chimney Sweep Apartments...................... Goleta, CA ‘ 91 88,370 1967 2006 96%
Hampton Court (Columbus) .. Glendale, CA 83 71,500 1974(8) 1999 96%
Hampton Place (Lorraine)..... ... Glendale, CA . 132 141,500 1970(9) 1999 95%
Devonshire...........oorminicmmi e Hemet, CA 276 207,200 1988 2002 91%
Huntington Breakers..........ocoeceemivninisicncscecacnnns Huntington Beach, CA 342 241,700 1984 1997 98%
Hillsborough Park........cccocoiceiniiinconniniininneecne. La Habra, CA | 235 215,500 1999 1999 98%
Trabuco Villas..........ccooeeeeeiiiiiiecinccceeen. - Lake Forest, CA 132 131,000 1985 1997 99%
Marbrisa.......... Long Beach, C;A 202 122,800 1987 2002 99%
Pathways...... .. Long Beach, CA 296 197,700 1975(10) 1991 97%
Bunker Hill......... .. Los Angeles, CA 456 346,600 1968 1998 98%
City HERIS(L1).rnerrerreeereseecereerssssseereessrmanee Los Angeles, ciA 687 424,100 1968 2000 95%
Cochran Apartments.......cc.o.oveeeerrrerercrenenneenenns Los Angeles, CiA 58 51,400 1989 1998 98%
Kings Road......c.ccronviveveiciciesivescsnincnn e LOS Angeles, CA 196 132,100 1979(12) 1997 98%
Marbella, The......c.cvvveciiiecee e Los Angeles, GA 60 50,108 1991 2005 97%
Park Place. ... e Los Angeles, CA 60 48,000 1988 1997 98%
Windsor COoUM.......veeiieeeeccce ettt Los Angeles, CA 58 46,600 1988 1997 98%
Marina City Club{13)..c....cccovmmmmmrrrmreermrenerenne Los Angeles, CA 101 127,200 1971 2004 98%
Renaissance(S). o vrmecerrivisssssesins Los Angeles, QA 168 154,268 1990 2006 95%
Mirabella.........coiie s Marina Del Rey, CA 188 176,800 2000 2000 98%
Mira Monte (Mira Woods Villa)......cc.cocoeo.. Mira Mesa, CA 355 262,600 1982(14) 2002 97%
Hillcrest Park (Mirabella)...........coccommuriivrrsrernes Newbury Park, CA 608 521,900 1973(15)(16) 1998 97%
Fairways{1 7).t Newport Beach, CA 74 107,100 1972 1999 97%
Country Villas......c.oovcerimcecieernccirees Oceanside, CA! 180 179,700 1976 2002 96%
Mission Hills....... Oceanside, CA' 282 244,000 1984 2005 96%
Mariner's Place.... .. Oxnard, CA 105 77,200 1987 2000 97%
Tierra Vista(18)...ovvvvcreinrseccniienn, .. Oxnard, CA 404 387,100 2001 2001 97%
Monterey Villas (Village Apartments).............. Oxnard, CA | 122 122,190 1974(19) 1997 97%
Monterra del Mar (Windsor Terrace)................ Pasadena, CA 123 74,400 1972(20) 1997 96%
Monierra del Rey (Glenbrook)......cooccoviccceices Pasadena, CA | 84 73,100 1972(21) 1999 95%
Monterra del Sol (Euclid)......cooecniinnniiiinins Pasadena, CA 85 69,200 1972(22) 1999 96%
Villa Angelina(6)...c...ocoeeeeee e Placentia, CA 256 217,600 1970 2001 98%
(continued)
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Square Year Year

Apartment Communities ‘" Location Units Footage Built Acquired  Occupancy™”
Southern California (continued)
Fountain Park..........cccoocvivecnniniinirncniennneen .. Playa Vista, CA 705 608,900 2002 2004 92%
Highridge(6)......cormiciiree st Rancho Palos Verdes, CA 255 290,200 1972 1997 94%
Bluffs I, The(23)... San Diego, CA 224 126,700 1974 1997 99%
Summuit Park.......... San Diego, CA 300 229,400 1972 2002 96%
Vista Capni - North.............. San Diego, CA 106 51,800 1975 2002 97%
Brentwood (Hearthstone}(6).........ccceoviivannninnn, Santa Ana, CA 140 154,800 1970 2001 97%
Treehouse(6) Santa Ana, CA 164 135,700 1970 2001 95%
Carlton Heights......covceivimeniiiececiacnicnens Santee, CA 70 48,400 1979 2002 98%
Meadowood... rermrenneee. Simi Valley, CA 320 264,500 1986 1996 95%
Hidden Vallcy (Parker Ranch)(24) ................... Simi Valley, CA 324 310,900 2004 2004 97%
Shadow POINL.........ccovvirerivereminnnrceccecsiceenas Spring Valley, CA 172 131,200 1983 2002 96%
Lofis at Pinehurst, The (Villa Scandia)............. Ventura, CA 118 71,100 1971(25) 1997 96%
PInehurst{Z6).c..cocersiviniernnsinnrssrminsnvenseneinseann ventura, CA 28 21,200 1973 2004 99%
Woodside Village......... Ventura, CA 145 136,500 1987 2004 96%
Walnut Heights............ccoo Walnut, CA 163 146,700 1964 2003 93%
Avondale at Wamer Center.......ooeviiveninninnns Woodland Hilis, CA 446 331,000 1970(27) 1997 36%

13,285 10,911,384 96%
Northern California
Belmont Terrace..........cccooiiiiiiiiiiiiin Belmont, CA 71 72,951 1974 2006 91%
Carlmont Woods(5).. Belmont, CA 195 107,200 1971 2004 98%
Davey Glen(3).......... reecvesiesninens. Belmont, CA 69 65,974 1962 2006 90%
Brookside Qaks(6)....ccc.eceemecrmrecnrecenrennnens Cupertino, CA 170 119,900 1973 2000 97%
Point at Cupertino, The (Westwood)(18).......... Cupertino, CA 116 135,200 1963(28) 1998 98%
Harbor Cove(S).. s e Foster City, CA 400 306,600 1971 2004 96%
Waterstone at Fremont (Mountain Vista}(29)... Fremont, CA 526 433,100 1675 2000 94%
Stevenson Place (The Apple)...cv i Fremont, CA 200 146,200 197130} 1983 96%
TEERIOPS. .ottt Fremont, CA 172 131,200 1978(31) 1996 96%
Wimbledon Woods.........cvevmirvirecveviessnnens Hayward, CA 360 462,400 1975(32) 1998 95%
Alderwood Park(5) ..o rrieviieens Newark, CA 96 74,624 1987 2006 98%
Summerhill Commons.. ... Newark, CA 184 139,000 1987(33) 1987 97%
Regency Towers(5)..ccoiininnniniimmnsmas Qakland, CA 178 140,900 1975 2005 93%
San Marcos (Vista del Mar) ..... Richmond, CA 432 407,600 2003 2003 96%
MUt Sutro.... e San Francisco, CA 99 64,000 1973 2001 97%
The Carlyle..........iiinnne, San lose, CA 132 129,200 2000 2000 96%
The ERClave(S)..oeoveeeeeeeeeeeee e emer e eeeees s San Jose, CA 637 525,463 1998 2005 93%
Waterford, The.......ovmeermeoeenee e San Jose, CA 238 219,600 2000 2000 97%
Esplanade.... - recevemeennaes San Jose, CA 278 279,000 2002 2004 97%
Hillsdale Gardcn Apanments(34) ..................... San Mateo, CA 697 611,505 1948 2006 95%
Bel Air {The ShOres)........coccoerrnirvecrreccnressrninares San Ramon, CA 462 391.000 1988(35) 1997 95%
Foothill Gardens...........ccoovuvveeecmisisanseninisnenns San Ramon, CA 132 155,100 1985 1997 97%
TWIn Creeks. .o iieeeceeeccree e sinreaarns San Ramon, CA 44 51,700 1985 1997 97%
Le Parc Luxury Apartments (Plumtree)............ Santa Clara, CA 140 113,200 1975(36) 1994 98%
Maring Cove(37).. e Santa Clara, CA 292 250,200 1974 1994 98%
Bristol COMMONS.......vviceeieeesreeesreesemeeeesrsssses Sunnyvale, CA 188 142,600 1989 1997 97%
Montclaire (Oak Pointe).....cooveiveeceiececiiinns Sunnyvale, CA 390 294,100 1973(38) 1988 94%
Summerhill Park........ooooeiiiiieeeeeieeee e Sunnyvale, CA 100 78,500 1988 1688 99%
Windsor Ridge.....ovoeoreenenc e Sunnyvale, CA 216 161,800 1989 1989 97%
Vista BelVedere....ovmucvrivmrnrveceneeeriesesnneannen.. Liburon, CA 76 78,300 1963 2004 98%

7,490 6,288,117 96%
(continued)
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i Square Year Year
Apartment Communities m Location Units Footage Built Acquired Occupancym
Seattle, Washington Metropolitan Area
Cedar TeImace. ..o, Bellevue, WA 180 174,200 1984 2005 96%
Emerald Ridge-North......ccocconniincciiinniinnennnn. Bellevue, WA 180 144,000 1987 1994 97%
Foothill Commons... Bellevue, WA 360 288,300 1978(39) 1990 98%
Palisades, The....... Bellevue, WA 192 159,700 1977(40) 1990 26%
Sammamish View.... Bellevue, WA 153 133,500 1986(41) 1994 98%
Woodland Commons.. ..o v srnns, Bellevue, WA 236 172,300 1978(39) 1990 97%
Canyon POINte......ooo..ovvvviineiieeiincneserennens Bothell, WA 250 210,400 1990 2003 97%
Inglenook Court..........cooivmiiiini. Bothell, WA | 224 183,600 1985 1994 95%
Salmon Run a1 Permry CreeKe.ovicciccinncerccvcnnne. Bothell, WA ' 132 117,100 2000 2000 97%
Stonehedge Village............. Bothell, WA 196 214,800 1986 1997 97%
Park Hill at Issaquah{42) Issaquah, WA: 245 277,700 1999 1999 97%
Peregrine Point............ . Issaquah, WA 21 85,900 2003(43) 2003 48%
Wandering Creek.........ccovimeniinicnnieneeeninnane Kent, WA 1 156 124,300 1986 1995 9%
Bridle Trails......cccoocviiinmisesemree e Kirkland, WA 108 73,400 1986(44) 1997 94%
Evergreen Heights Kirkland, WA 200 188,300 1990 1997 98%
Laurels, The.......... Mill Creek, WA 164 134,300 1981 1996 98%
Morning Run(5)... ... Monroe, WA 222 221,786 1991 2005 98%
Anchor Village(6).......ccocvvncemerececvirvivnnerennene - Mukilteo, WA 301 245,900 1981 1997 95%
Castle Creek. e Newcastle, WA 216 191,900 1997 1997 97%
Brighton Ridge......... Renton, WA 264 201,300 1986 1996 95%
Forest View.............. Renton, WA 192 182,500 1998 2003 96%
Fairwood Pond.. Renton, WA ' 194 189,200 1997 2004 96%
Fountain Court.......coccereiiecicccircninn e Seattle, WA 320 207,000 2000 2000 97%
Linden SqQuare.......c.cccemoeemreriemnsimnnnnn, Seattle, WA 183 142,200 1994 2000 97%
Maple Leaf........ccooivecninmnnnnsnen e, Seattle, WA 48 35,500 1986 1997 98%
Spring LakKe........c.ooooveniiniinc e e Seattle, WA 69 42,300 1986 1997 98%
Tower @ 801(5)... Seattle, WA 173 118,500 1970 2005 95%
Wharfside Pointe,. .. Seattle, WA | 142 119,200 1990 1994 98%
ECho RIGZE(5).rvv.vvunrunrereseseeemsss oo seeeoeessssssienain Snoqualmie, WA 120 124,539 2000 2005 95%
5,441 4,703,625 96%
Portland, Oregon Metropolitan Area '
Jackson School Village......... Hillsboro, OR. 200 196,800 1996 2000 95%
Landmark........cooooeenine .. Hillsboro, OR! 285 282,900 1990 1996 97%
Meadows (@ Cascade Park.............cccoeinnne. Vancouver, WA 198 199,300 1989 1997 97%
Village @ Cascade Park...........cooviiicniicane, Vancouver, WA 192 178,100 1989 1997 7%
‘f 875 857,100 97%
Other areas and property owned by a TRS '
St ClOUd .. v errecreeeree s eere e s nenes Houston, TX - 302 306,800 1968 2002 91%
Carnino Ruiz Square(45)......coeviiceceeenen,. - Carnarilio, CAI 160 105,448 1990 2006 97%
. 462 412,248 93%
Total/Weighted Average : 27,553 23,172,474 96%
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Rentable

Square Year Year
Other real estate assets'” Location Tenants Footage Built Acquired Occupancy™
Office Buildings
925 East Meadow Drive.......cocoevevececmeeens. Pal0 Alto, CA 1 17,400 1988 1997 100%(46)
17461 Derian Ave{47) ... Irvine, CA 3 110,000 1983 2000 100%(48)
22110-22120 Clarendon Street........c.cocceeeee.. ' Woodland Hills, CA 9 38,940 1982 2001 96%(49)
Total Office Buildings 13 166,340 99%
Recreational Vehicle Parks
Circte RV ..o El Cajon, CA 179 spaces 1977 2002 (50)
Vacationer..... El Cajon, CA 159 spaces 1973 2002 (50
Total Recreational Vehicle Parks 338 spaces
Manufactured Housing Community
Green Valley........ocovvorcniininnnrnnes . Vista, CA 157 sites 1973 2002 (50)
Total Manufactured Housing Community 157 sites
(1) Unless otherwise specified, the Company has a 100% ownership interest in each Property.

(2)

(3)

#
&)

(6

(7

(8)
9

For apartment communities, occupancy rates are based on financial occupancy for the year ended
December 31, 2006; for the office buildings, recreationat vehicle parks, manufactured housing communities
or properties which have not yet stabilized or have insufficient operating history, occupancy rates are based
on physical occupancy as of December 31, 2006. For an explanation of how financial occupancy and
physical occupancy are calculated, see “Properties-Occupancy Rates” in this Item 2.

The Company has a 30% special limited partnership interest in the entity that owns this apartment
community. This investment was made under arrangements whereby the Essex Management Corporation
(“EMC”) became the general partner and the existing partners were granted the right to require the
applicable partnership to redeem their interest for cash. Subject to certain conditions, the Company may,
however, elect to deliver an equivalent number of shares of the Company’s common stock in satisfaction of
the applicable partnership's cash redemption obligation.

The property is subject to a ground lease, which, unless extended, will expire in 2082.

This property is owned by Fund If. The Company has a 28.2% interest in Fund Il which is accounted for
using the equity method of accounting.

The Company holds a 1% special limited partner interest in the partnerships which own these apartment
communities. These investments were made under arrangements whereby EMC became the 1% sole
general partner and the other limited partners were granted the right to require the applicable parinership to
redeem their interest for cash. Subject to certain conditions, the Company may, however, elect to deliver an
equivalent number of shares of the Company’s common stock in satisfaction of the applicable partnership’s
cash redemption obligation.

In 2002 the Company purchased an additional 21 units adjacent to this property for $3 million. This
property was built in 1992,

The Company completed a $1.6 million redevelopment on this property in 2000.

The Company completed a $2.3 million redevelopment on this property in 2000.

(10) The Company is in the process of performing a $10.7 million redevelopment on this property.
(11)The Company owns the land and has leased the improvements to an unrelated third party. The leasehold

interest entitles the Company to receive a monthly payment for the 34-year term of the land lease and
promote fees upon sale. The property was sold in February 2007 to a third-party.

(12) The Company is in the process of performing a $6.2 million redevelopment on this property.

(13) This property is subject to a ground lease, which, unless extended, will expire in 2067,

(14) The Company is in the process of performing a $6.0 million redevelopment on this property.

(15) The Company completed an $11.0 million redevelopment on this property in 2001.

(16) The Company completed an additional $3.6 million redevelopment on this property in 2005.

(17) This property is subject to a ground lease, which, unless extended, will expire in 2027.

(18) The Company had a 20.0% ownership interest this property. In 2004, the Company acquired the remaining

80%.

(19) The Company completed a $3.2 million redevelopment on this property in 2002.
(20) The Company completed a $1.9 million redevelopment on this property in 2000.
(21) The Company completed a $1.9 million redevelopment on this property in 2001.
(22) The Company completed a $1.7 million redevelopment on this property in 2001.
(23) The Company had an 835% controlling limited partnership interest in this property as of December 31,
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2006, and during Januacy 2007 the dompany acquired the remaining 15% partnership interest.

(24) The Company and EMC have a 74.0% and 1% member interests, respectively, in this property,

(25) The Company completed a $3.5 million redevelopment on this property in 2002.

(26) The property is subject to a ground lease, which, unless extended, will expire in 2028.

{27y The Company is in the process of performing a $12.0 million redevelopment on this property.

(28) The Company completed a $2.7 million redevelopment in 2001.

(29) The Company has a preferred limited partnership interest in this property.

(30) The Company completed a $4.5 million redevelopment on this property in 1998.

{31)The Company is in the process of performing an $8.3 million redevelopment on this property.

(32) The Company is in the process of petforming a $9.4 million redevelopment on this property.

(33) The Company is in the process of performing a $4.3 million redevelopmem on this property

(34) The property is subject to a ground lease, which unless extended, will expire in 2047.

(35) The Company completed construction of 114 units of the property’s 462 total units in 2000,

(36) The Company completed a $3.4 million redevelopment on this property in 2002.

(37) A portion of this Property on which 84 units are presently located is subject to a ground lease, which,
unless extended, will expire in 2028,

(38) The Company is in the process of performing a $15.1 million redevelopment on this property.

(39) The Company is in the process of performing a joint $3.4 millicn redevelopment at these properties.

{(40) The Company is in the process of perforrmng a $6.6 million redevelopment on this property

{41) The Company is in the process of performmg a $3.3 million redevelopment on this property.

(42) The Company had an approximate 45% preferred limited partnership interest in this property. In 2004 the
Company acquired the remaining 55% partnership interest.

{43) The Company converted this property into condominiums and sold 45 units during 2006,

(44) The Company is in the process of performing a $5.1 million redevelopment on this property and completed
construction of 16 units of the property’s 108 units in 2006.

{(45) The property is owned by a TRS. |

(46) The Company occupies 100% of this!pmpeny

{47) The Company has a mortg,age recelvable and consolidates this property pursuant to FIN 46R,

(48) The Company occupies 4.6% of this propcrty

(49) The Company occupies 29% of this property

(50) The Company leased these three propertles in 2003 to an unrelated third party for approximately 5 years
with an option to purchase the property in approximately 2007.

rs

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

In April 2004, an employee lawsuit was filed against the Company in the California Superior Court in the County of
Alameda. In this lawsuit, two former Company maintenance employees sought unpaid wages, associated penalties
and artorneys’ fees on behalf of a putative class of the Company’s current and former maintenance employees who
were required to wear a pager while they were on call during evening and weekend hours. In June 2008, the
Company settled the lawsuit for $1.5 million,

Recently there has been an increasing number of lawsuits against owners and managers of apartment communities
alleging personal injury and property damage caused by the presence of mold in residential real estate. Some of
these lawsuits have resulted in substantial monptary judgments or settlements. The Company has been sued for
mold related matters and has settled some, but not all, of such matters. Insurance carriers have reacted to mold
related liability awards by excluding mold related claims from standard policies and pricing mold endorsements at
prohibitively high rates. The Company has, however, purchased poliution liability insurance, which includes some
coverage for mold. The Company has adopted programs designed to manage the existence of mold in its properties
as well as guidelines for promptly addressing and resolving reports of mold to minimize any impact mold might
have on residents or property. Liabilities resulting from such mold related matters and the costs of carrying
insurance to address potential mold related claims may also be substantial. The Company is subject to various other
lawsuits in the normal course of its business operanons Accordingly, such lawsuits, as well as the class action
lawsuit described above, could result in substantial costs and diversion of resources and could have a material
adverse effect on the Company’s financial COI‘l(?lthll results of operations or cash flows.

Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of S"ecurity Holders

During the fourth quarter of 2006, no matters vjfere submitted to a vote of security holders.
!
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Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of
Equity Securities

The shares of the Company’s common stock are traded on the New York Stock Exchange (“NYSE”) under the
symbol ESS. '

Market Information

The Company’s common stock has been traded on the NYSE since June 13, 1994. The high, low and closing price
per share of common stock reported on the NYSE for the quarters indicated are as follows:

Quarter Ended High Low Close
December 29, 2006 $13399 §119.76 $129.25
September 29, 2006 $12857 §$11L.54 $121.40
June 30, 2006 $111.90 $10090 $111.66
March 31, 2006 S111.10 $92.10 §$108.73
December 31, 2005 $93.44 $8035 §$92.20
September 30, 2005 $93.14 $82.86 $90.00
June 30, 2005 $86.13 $ 68.50 $ 83.06
March 31, 2005 $84.32 $ 68.56 $69.10

The closing price as of February 26, 2007 was $140.00.

Holders

The approximate number of holders of record of the shares of the Company’s common stock was 248 as of February
26, 2007. This number does not include stockholders whose shares are held in trust by other entities. The actual
number of stockholders is greater than this number of holders of record.

Return of Capital

Under provisions of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, the portion of the cash dividend, if any, that
exceeds earnings and profits is considered a retumn of capital. The return of capital is generated due to a variety of
factors, including the deduction of non-cash expenses, primarily depreciation, in the determination of earnings and

profits.

The status of cash dividends distributed for the year ended December 31, 2006 related to Series G preferred stock is
100% ordinary income and, the status of the cash dividends distributed for the years ended December 31, 2006,
2005 and 2004 related to common stock and Series F preferred stock for tax purposes are as follows:

2006 2005 2004
Common stock:
Ordinary income.........cc.oceene 100.00% 74.91% 41.40%
Capital gains............. 0.00% 25.09% 58.60%
Retumn of capital.......occoccoeervnn 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%
100.00% 100.00% 100.00%
2006 2005 2004
Series F Preferred stock:
Ordinary income......cccoocverere. 100.00% 74.91% 41.40%
Capital gains.......coooeiirieirenoe 0.00% 25.09% 58.60%
Return of capital..........cc.ceoeennne 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%

100.00% 100.00% 100.00%
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Dividends and Distributions |

|
Since its initial public offering on June 13, 1994, the Company has paid regular quarterly dividends to its
stockholders. The Company has paid the follox;ving dividends per share of common stock:

%‘:{;’:ﬁr 1994 1995 199 1997 1998 1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006
331.... N/A $04175 50425 $0.435 50450 $0500 50550 $0.700 S0.770 $0.780 S$0.790 S0.810  $0.840
6/30.... $0.0800 $0.4175 $0.425 $0.435 .$0.500 $0.550 S0.610 S$0.700 $0.770  $0.780  $0.790 $0.810  $0.840
9/30... $0.4175 $0.4250 30435  $0450 $0.500 $0.550 $0.610  $0.700 $0.770  $0.780  $0.790  $0.810  $0.840
12/31... $0.4175 $0.4250 $0.435 $0.450 [$0.500 $0.550 $0.6l0 $0.700 $0.770  $0.780  $0.790  $0.810  $0.840

1
Future distributions by the Company will be at the discretion of the Board of Directors and will depend on the actual
cash flows from operations of the Company, |ts financial condition, capital requirements, the annual distribution
requirements under the REIT provisions of the Internal Revenue Code, applicable legal restrictions and such other
factors as the Board of Directors deems relevant. There are currently no contractual restrictions on the Company’s
present or future ability to pay dividends.

On February 23, 2007, the Company announced the Board of Directors approved a $0.09 per share increase to the
quarterly cash dividend, which represents a $0.36 increase on an annualized basis. Accordingly, the first quarter
dividend distribution, payable on April 16, 2007 to stockholders as of record as of March 31, 2007, will be $0.93 per
share.

!
Dividend Reinvestment and Share Purchase Plan
1

The Company has adopted a dividend remvestment and share purchase plan designed to provide holders of Common
Stock with a convenient and economical means to reinvest all or a portion of their cash dividends in shares of
Common Stock and to acquire additional shares of Common Stock through voluntary purchases, Computershare,
LLC, which serves as the Company’s transfer agent, administers the dividend reinvestment and share purchase plan,
For a copy of the plan, contact Computershare, LLC at (312) 360-5354.

|
.
i

Stockholder Rights Plan
In 1998, the Company adopted a stockholder riéhts plan that is designed to enhance the ability of all of the
Company’s stockholders to realize the long-term value of their investment, The rights plan is designed, in part, to

prevent a person or group from gaining control of the Company without offering a fair price to all of the Company's
stockholders, |

On October 13, 1998, the Board declared a one-for-one preferred share purchase right (a “Right”) for each
outstanding share of Common Stock. Each Right entitles the registered holder to purchase from the Company one
one-hundredth of a share of Series A Junior Parhcnpatmg, Preferred Stock, par value $.0001 per share, of the
Company, at a price of $99.13 per one-hundredth of a share, subject to adjustment. The description and terms of the
Rights are set forth in a Rights Agreement dated as of November 11, 1998, as amended between the Company and
Computershare, LLC as Rights Agent.

Securities Authorized for Issuance under Equity Compensation Plans
1

See our disclosure in the 2007 Proxy Statement hnder the heading “Equity Compensation Plan Information™, which
disclosure is incorporated herein by reference. |

Issuance of Registered Equity Securities

Average -
Total Number ' Price per Proceeds (net of fees
Period of Shares Sold { Share and commissions)
5/24/06 to 10/17/06 427,700 $115.16 $48.273,142

During 2006, pursuant to a registration staternent and its Controlled Equity Offering program, the Company issued
and sold approximately 427 700 shares of cornmon stock for $48.3 million, net of fees and commissions. The
Company used the net proceeds from the offerings to pay down outstanding borrowings under the Company’s lines
of credit, to fund real estate investments and for general corporate purposes.

1

25

i




Unregistered Sale of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds

During October 2006, the Operating Partnership acquired Belmont Terrace, a 71-unit apartment community located
in Belmont, California. As part of the consideration for this acquisition, the Operating Partnership issued
approximately 72,685 partnership units, representing limited partnership interests in the Operating Partnership, to
the sellers of this property. Such units were valued in aggregate at approximately $7.7 mitlion. Such units were
issued in a private placement and pursuant to the exemption from registration set forth in Section 4(2) of the
Securities Act of 1933, as amended. After one year after issuance, the units are exchangeable on a one-for-one basis
into shares of Essex common stock. Were all of such units to be exchanged for common stock, then Essex would
issue 72,685 shares of common stock, which is less than 1% of the number of its shares of common stock currently
outstanding.
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Item 6. Selected Financial Data

The following tables set forth summary financial and operating information for the Company from January 1, 2002
through December 31, 2006.

' Years Ended December 31,
| 2006 2005 2004'" 2003 2002
(Dollars in thousands, except share and per share amounts)}

OPERATING DATA: {
REVENUES |
Rental and other Property..........eieeisrinsressinsisessesse e e 3 343,044 § 310970 § 274,170 $ 240969 $ 202,627
Management and other fees from affiliates..........ccc.ovvinivicinnnin. 5,030 10,951 23,146 6,027 5,604
348,074 321,921 297,316 246,996 208,231
EXPENSES
Property operating expenses, excluding depreciation i
ANd AMOTMZALOM. covveeriie it en o) eerenes 117,783 107,710 96,701 80,289 63,304
Depreciation and amortization................... 80,147 76,848 68,609 53,796 41,501
Amortization of deferred financing COSIS..onacscrmnsscist e 2,743 1,947 1,560 1,187 743
General and adminiSIratiVe. ..o iieecrere e N 22,235 19,148 18,042 9,549 8,636
TAMEEESt .. oot ssssssssst e s 72,898 70,784 60,709 49,985 41,641
Other expenses} 1,770 5,827 - - -
297.576 282,264 245,621 194,806 155,825
Eamings from operations l 50,498 39,657 51,695 52,190 52,406
Gain on the sales of real estate.... : - 6,391 7,909 - 145
Interest and other income............c............. " 6,176 8,524 3,077 668 6,882
Equity (loss) income in co-investments (1,503) 18,553 40,683 2,349 4,647
MINOFIEY TNEETESIS. ....oeeeeeieeececeretei e st et e srrens {19,309) {20,936) (28,332) (26,030) (27,372)
Income from continuing operations before income tax provnsmn 35,862 52,189 75,032 29177 36,708
Income tax provision... : (525) (2,538) (257) - -
Income from contmumg operations.....................................{......... 35,337 49,651 74,775 29,177 36,708
Income from discontinued operations (net of minority intelrests). 27411 30,065 4,918 5913 11,932
Net income.. SSSRSUURTIN SR 62,748 79,716 79,693 35,090 48,640
Write off of Sencs C preferred units oﬁ'ermg COStS........ - - - - (625) -
Amortization of discount on Series F preferred stock...................., - - - (336) -
Dividends to preferred stockholders.............ooeieieercnieneeercieenee (5,145) (1,953) (1,952) (195) -
Net income available to common stockholders ..................... s $ 57,603 $ 71,763 § 77,741 % 33,934 § 48,640
Per share data: :
Basic: \
Net income from continuing operations available to :
common stockholders. . : Y 131 § 2.08 % 3.18 § 1.31 § 1.98
Net income available to common stockholders...................] ........ $ 250 % 338 8 339 § 158 § 262
Weighted average common stock outstanding- i
(N thOUSANAS). ..+ vverivisiiie it bens e ssss bt be s anbemeerens 23,082 23,039 22,921 21,468 18,530
Diluted: I
Net income from continuing operations available to
commion stockholders. . SO UUOPOPAN SUUUUR. 128 §% 203 § 315 § 1.29 § 1.96
Net income available to common stockholders $ 245§ 332 8% 336 § 1.57 § 2.60
Weighted average common stock outstanding- : -
(In thOUSANAS).....c.oreeeiicie s e e s 23,551 23,389 23,156 21,679 18,726
Cash dividend per common Share...........ocoveeveeceenenrenenrnnnns L 3 336 § 3.4 § 3.6 § 302 % 3.08
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As of December 31,

2006 2005 2004" 2003" 2002
BALANCE SHEET DATA:
Investment in real estate (before accumulated
epreciation).......ouveevireeeee e e $ 2,669,187 $ 2,431,629 § 2371,194 § 1,984,122 § 1,762,221
Net investment in real state............ococvvvivsssisnsrireeeneee 2,204,172 2,042,589 2,041,542 1,718,359 1,554,209
Real estate under deVelOPmMEnt.......covceeiiiiiinneesns 103,487 54,416 38,320 55,183 143,818
TOUA] @SSEES. v verererereeaseenieeerereresessesinsese e sesesaesenonsnsssssssstssasssssesanes 2,485,840 2,239,290 2,217,217 1,916,811 1,806,299
Total secured Idebtedness. ..o e 1,186,554 1,129,918 1,161,184 976,545 823,380
Total unsecured indebtedness................ 225,000 225,000 155,800 12,500 126,500
Cumulative convertible preferred stock.... 145,912 - - - -
Cumulative redeemable preferred stock.........ocoveeenen 25,000 25,000 25,000 25,000 -
Stockholders' equity (less redeemable preferred stock)...... 587,209 555,967 566,277 556,399 485,691
As of and for the years ended December 31,
2006 2005 2004 2003 2002
OTHER DATA:
Interest coverage LBHOD v rresee e eee st s 29X 28X 31X 32X 35X
Same-property gross operating margin®® ... 67% 66% 65% 66% 68%
Average same-property menthly rental rate per
apartment unit™®, $ 1,224 % 1,149 § 1,055 § 1,088 % 1,108
Average same-property monthly operating expenses
per apartment unit™® ..o § 414§ 395 § 331 § 325 % 310
Total apartment units (at end of period).......oiiinini 27,553 26,587 25,518 26,012 23,699
SaME-PrOPETLY OCCUPANCY TLE' -.vvveesanrrrrrrerssssresesseesereenssssssssseneas 96% 97% 96% 96% 95%
Total Properties (at end of period).......oveeeriiiniiniiiiii 130 126 131 132 123
Years Ended December 31,
2006 2005 2004" 2003 2002
{Dollars in thousands)
RECONCILIATION OF NET INCOME TO
ADJUSTED EBITDA
Nt INCOMIE. - cooeeieeeeeetereeeee e ms s sn s s s et s srcmssssnsesseseee B 62,748 § 79,716 $ 79,693 § 35090 % 48,640
TNEETESE EXPEASE. ... eeeeeeeerercecsases b rirerr e rernsrsans st seranssassassaneserens 72,898 70,784 60,709 49,985 41,641
TAX BXPEIISC..coueviirirerenrrainseeeesetessse s ense e ek bbb e erees 525 2,538 257 - -
Depreciation and amortization.............ccceeiininn e 80,147 76,848 68,609 53,796 41,501
Amortization of deferred financing costS......cccovmmnimsereecie, 2,743 1,947 1,560 1,187 743
Gain on the sales of real e5tate..........c.coovvcevierierrecnn e - {6,391) (7.909) - (145)
Gain on the sales of co-investment activities, net........o.ooiienniinns - (18,116) (39,242) - (705)
Minority interests (net of minority INtErest).....c.ocoeeveeiiniiinnnnne 19,309 20,936 28,332 26,030 27,372
Income from discontinued Operations............ovvivreemaeeeenennen (27.411) (30,065) (4,918) (5,913) (11,932)
Adjusted EBITDAR ... .coovioorvoccornires s seeeeessmseasessssnssessssssssi 210,959 198,197 187,091 160,175 147,115
INLErESt EXPEISE. ....oiiirrererinirrrrrvees et e as 72,898 70,784 60,709 49 985 41,641
Interest coverage TR e 29X 28X 31X 32 x 35X

(1) The above financial and operating information from January 1, 2002 through December 31, 2003 reflect the
retroactive adoption of FIN 46R and SFAS No. 123. The 2005 balance sheet and results of operations for
2005, 2004, 2003, and 2002 have been reclassified to reflect discontinued operations for properties sold
subsequent to December 31, 2005 or held for sale as of December 31, 2006.

(2) Interest coverage ratio represents earnings before minority interests, gain on sales of real estate, interest
expense, taxes, depreciation and amortization (“adjusted EBITDA™) divided by interest expense. The
Company believes that the interest coverage ratio is useful to readers because it is frequently used by
investors, lenders, security analysts and other interested parties in the evaluation of companies in our
industry. In addition, the Company believes that this ratio is useful in evaluating our performance
compared to that of other companies in our industry because the calculation of the adjusted EBITDA
component of the interest coverage ratio generally eliminates the effects of financing costs, income taxes,
and depreciation and amortization, which items may vary for different companies for reasons unrelated to
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operating performance, |

The adjusted EBITDA component of the interest coverage ratio, however, is not a recognized measurement
under U.S. generally accepted accounting principles, or GAAP. When analyzing our operating
performance, readers should use the interest coverage ratio and its adjusted EBITDA component in addition
to, and not as an alternative for, net income, as determined in accordance with GAAP. Because not all
companies use identical calculations, our presentation of the interest coverage ratio and its adjusted
EBITDA component may not be comparable to similarly titled measures of other companies. Furthermore,
the interest coverage ratio is not intehded to be a measure of free cash flow for our management’s
discretionary use, as it does not consider certain cash requirements such as income tax payments, debt
service requirements, capital expenditures and other fixed charges. The amounts shown for the interest
coverage ratio and adjusted EBITDA may also differ from the amounts calculated under similarly titled
definitions in our debt instruments, which can be further adjusted to reflect certain other cash and non-cash
charges and are used to determine compliance with financial covenants and our ability to engage in certain
activities such as incurring additiona) debt and making certain restricted payments.

(3) Gross operating margin represents rental revenues and other property income less property operating

S

&)

(6)

N

expenses, exclusive of depreciation and amortization, divided by rental revenues and other property
income, E

A stabilized apartment community, cE)r “Same-Property” apartment units (as defined in Item 7), are those
units in properties that the Company has consolidated for the entire two years as of the end of the period set
forth. The number of apartment units in such properties may vary at each year-end. Percentage changes in
averages per unit do not correspond to total Same-Property revenues and expense percentage changes
which are discussed in ltem 7—Man?1gemcnt‘s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results
of Operations. i

i .
Average Same-Property monthly renltal rate per apartment unit represents total scheduled rent for the same
property apariment units for the period (actual rental rates on occupied apartment units plus market rental
rates on vacant apartment uniis) divided by the number of such apartment units and further divided by the

number of months in the period. ‘

Average Same-Property monthly expenses per apartment unit represents total monthly operating expenses,
exclusive of depreciation and amortization, for the same property apartment units for the period divided by
the total number of such apartment units and further divided by the number of months in the period.

|
Occupancy rates are based on financial occupancy. For an explanation of how financial occupancy is
calculated, see Item 7 — Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations. "
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Item 7, Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The following discussion and analysis should be read in conjunction with the accompanying consolidated financial
statements and notes thereto. These consolidated financial statements include all adjustments which are, in the
opinion of management, necessary to reflect a fair statement of the results and all such adjustments are of a normal
recurring nature.

OVERVIEW

The Company is a self-administered and self-managed REIT that acquires, develops, redevelops and manages
apartment communities in selected residential areas located primarily in the West Coast of the United States. The
Company owns all of its interests in its real properties, directly or indirectly, through the Operating Partnership. The
Company is the sole general partner of the Operating Partnership and, as of December 31, 2006, had an
approximately 90.4% general partner interest in the Operating Parinership.

Our investment strategy has two components: constant monitoring of existing markets, and evaluation of new
markets to identify areas with the characteristics that underlie rental growth. Our strong financial condition supports
our investment strategy by enhancing our ability to quickly shift our acquisition, development, and disposition
activities to markets that will optimize the performance of the portfolio.

As of December 31, 2006, we had ownership interests in 130 apartment communities, comprising 27,553 apartment
units. Our apartment communities are located in the following major West Coast regions:

Southern California (Los Angeles, Ventura, Orange, Riverside and San Diego counties)
Northern California (the San Francisco Bay Area)

Seartle Metro (Seattle metropolitan area)

Other Regions (Portland metropolitan area, Houston, Texas, and property owned by a TRS)

As of December 31, 2006, we also had ownership interests in three office buildings (with approximately 166,340
square feet), two recreational vehicle parks (comprising 338 spaces) and one manufactured housing community
{containing 157 sites).

As of December 31, 2006, our development pipeline was comprised of two development projects, seven
predevelopment projects, four TRS projects, and one joint venture development, aggregating 2,478 units, with totai
incurred costs of $103.5 million, and estimated remaining project costs of approximately $663.5 million for total
estimated project costs of $767.0 million.

By region, the Company's operating results and rent growth analysis are as follows:

Southern California Region: As of December 31, 2006, this region represented 48% of our apartment units. During
the year ended December 31, 2006, Same-Property (as defined below) revenues increased 5.8% as compared to
2005. The Company expects in 2007 new residential supply of 24,200 single family homes and 18,300 apartment
units which represents a total new supply of 0.8% of existing stock. The Company expects this region to add 99,000
new jobs and generate market rent growth of approximately 4.5% in 2007.

Nerthern California Region: As of December 31, 2006, this region represented 27% of our apartment units. Same-
Property revenues increased 8.4% in 2006 as compared to 2005. The Company expects in 2007 new residential
supply of 9,000 single family homes and 7,300 apartment units which represents a total new supply of 0.7% of
existing stock. The Company expects this region to add 55,000 new jobs and generate market rent growth of
approximately 6.75% in 2007.

Seattle Metro Region: As of December 31, 2006, this region represented 20% of our apartment units. Same-
Property revenues increase 9.2% in 2006 as compared to 2005. The Company expects in 2007 new residential
supply of 10,500 single family homes and 3,200 apartment units which represents a total new supply of 1.3% of
existing stock. The Company expects this region to add 38,000 new jobs and generate market rent growth of
approximately 7.5% in 2007.

Other Regions: As of December 31, 2006, the Portland region represented 3% of our apartment units, and the
remaining 2% of our units relate to a property located in Houston, Texas and a property owned by a TRS. For the
Portland metropolitan area Same-Property revenues increased 7.0% in 2006 as compared to 2005. The Company
expects in 2007 for the Portland metropolitan arca new residential supply of 11,000 single family homes and 3,400
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apartment units which represents a total new supply of 1.8% of existing stock. The company expects the Portland
metropolitan area to add 27,000 new jobs and generate market rent growth of approximately 5.0% in 2007.

The Company’s consolidated apartment communities are as follows;

b
As of December 31, 2006 As of December 31, 2005

Apartment Homes L7 Apartment Homes oy
Southern California 13,285 48% 13,382 50%
Northern California 7r490 27% 6,557 25%
Seattle Metro 5441 20% 5471 21%
Other Regions 1,337 5% 1,177 4%
Total 27,553 100% 26,587 100%

I
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

!
Comparison of Year Ended December 31, 2006 to Year Ended December 31, 2005

Average financial occupancy rates of the Company’s stabilized apartment communities or “Same-Properties”
{properties consclidated by the Company for each of the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005) decreased to
96.4% for the year ended December 31, 2006 from 96.6% for the year ended December 31, 2005. Financial
occupancy is defined as the percentage resultmg 'from dividing actual rental revenue by total possible rental revenue.
Actual rental revenue represents contractual rental revenue pursuant to leases without considering delinquency and
concessions. Total possible rental revenue represents the value of all apartment units, with occupied units vaiued at
contractual rental rates pursuant to leases and vacant units valued at estimated market rents. We believe that
financial occupancy is a meaningful measure of occupancy because it considers the value of each vacant unit at its
estimated market rate. Financial occupancy may not completely reflect short-term trends in physical occupancy and
financial occupancy rates as disclosed by other REITs may not be comparable to our calculation of financial

occupancy. 1

The regional breakdown of the Company’s Same-Property portfolio for financial cccupancy for the years ended
December 31, 2006 and 2005 are as follows:

Years ended

! December 31,

| 2006 2005
Southern California.................  96.3% 96.5%
Northern California.....;ocvieeee. 96.7% 97.1%
Seattle Metro........cccocvvvvnivn. 96.9% 96.7%
Other Regions.............cteeeeee 95.2% 95.3%

[
The following table scts forth a breakdown of these revenue amounts, including the revenues attributable to Same-
Properties.

Years Ended
Number of December 31, Dollar Percentage
Properties 2006 2005 Change Change
Property Revenues (dollars in thousands) o T
Same-Properties: |
Southern California............coocoiiiiiiiiiinnl : 53 § 174,156 § 164,550 $ 9,606 58 %
Northern California..........occocoeeiiicinincnineece s 16 54,887 50,625 4,262 8.4
Seattle Metro.......ccocoevenene 21 48,663 44,551 4,112 9.2
Other Regions.... 5 10,256 9,578 678 7.1
Total Same- Property revenues.. et 95 287,962 269,304 18,658 6.9
Non-Same Property Revenues (1) ool 55,082 41,666 13,416 32.2
Total property revenues? $ 343,044 § 310,970 $ 32,074 103 %

(1) Includes properties acquired after January 1, 2005, ten redevelopment communities, three office buildings, two
recreational vehicle parks, and one manufactured housing community.
!

Same-Property Revenues increased by $18.7 million or 6.9% to $288.0 million for the year ended 2006 compared to

$269.3 million for the year ended 2005. The incr}case was primarily attributable to an increase in rental rates of
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$17.4 million or 6.5%, an increase of $0.7 million in revenue from the ratio utility billing system (“RUBS™), an
increase of $0.7 million in ancillary property income, and a decrease in rent concessions of $0.9 million compared to
the year ended December 31, 2005. Delinquency was consistent for the two years, and occupancy was stable for
the first three quarters of 2006 compared to 2003, but in the fourth quarter of 2006 occupancy decreased by $0.9
million compared to fourth quarter of 2005.

Non-Same Property Revenues increased by $13.4 million or 32.2% to $55.1 million for the year ended 2006
compared to $41.7 million for the year ended 2005. The increase in non-same property revenues was primarily due
to eight properties acquired since January 1, 2005,

Management and other fees from affiliates decreased by approximately $5.9 million or 54% for 2006 due primarily
to $7.1 million in promote income recorded during 2005 related to the sale of Fund I assets, as compared to $1.2
million in promote income from Fund 1 during 2006,

Total Expenses increased $15.3 million or 5% to $297.6 million for 2006 from $282.3 million for 2005. The
increase was primarily due to increases in utility expense, real estate taxes, insurance expense, and salaries. Utility
expense increased by $3.1 million over the prior year due mainly to higher natural gas and electrical prices in the
first two quarters of 2006. Real estate taxes increased $2.8 million over the prior year due mainly to increases in
assessment of properties in the Pacific Northwest and new acquisitions. Insurance expense increased $0.9 miilion
over prior year due to increases in earthquake and property liability premiums. Salaries increased mainly due to an
increase in payroll salaries over the prior year, an increase in equity based compensation expense, and higher
operating expenses due to the acquisition of eight properties in the past year.

{nterest expense increased by $2.1 million or 3% for 2006 to $72.9 million, net of $3.9 million in capitalized
interest, compared to $70.8 million, net of $1.1 in capitalized interest for 2005. The increase was mainly due to an
increase in total outstanding debt of $57 million between 2006 and 2005, and higher short-term borrowing rates,

Other expenses decreased $4.1 million or 70% to $1.8 million for 2006 compared to $5.8 million for 2005, During
2006, the Company incurred $1.0 million in net pursuit costs related to the Company’s attempt to acquire the Town
& Country REIT in the first quarter of 2006 and the Company recorded a $0.8 million impairment charge on a
property in Houston, Texas during the third quarter of 2006. During 2005, the Company recorded the following
other expenses: (i) a $1.5 million charge related to a legal settlement, (ii) $1.4 million in incentive compensation
costs related to $6.1 million in interest income realized on The Essex on Lake Merritt participating loan in the third
quarter of 2005, (iii) an impairment loss of $1.3 million related to a property in Houston, Texas in the fourth quarter
of 2005, and (iv) pre-payment penalties and write-off of deferred charges in the amount of $1.6 million related to the
early termination of various mortgage notes payable during the fourth quarter of 2005.

Gain on sale of real estate was $0 for 2006 compared to a gain of $6.4 million recorded for 20035 resulting from the
recognition of a $5 million deferred gain due to the sale of The Essex on Lake Merritt and $1.4 million from TRS
activity.

Interest and other income was comprised of $1.7 million for a gain on the sale of the Town & Country stock
recorded during the first quarter for 2006, $0.7 million of interest income earned on notes receivables, $0.2 million
in forfeited deposits from a potential disposition and approximately $1.9 million in interest income on cash balances,
as compared to $6.1 million in interest income from the Essex on Lake Merritt participating Ioan recorded in the
third quarter of 2005, Lease income from the RV parks was consistent for both periods.

Equity (loss) income in co-investinents decreased $20.1 million for 2006 primarily due to gains from the sale of
Fund 1 properties during 2005 totaling $18.1 million. For 2006 the Company recorded a net loss on its investment in
Fund I of $1.5 million, and there were no property sales in Fund I or IT during 2006.

Income tax provision decreased by $2.0 million during 2006 due to less taxable income related to TRS activity.

Income from discontinued operarions for 2006 relates to the gain on sale of 45 Peregrine Point condominiums for
$2.0 million, a gain cn sale of the Vista Pointe joint venture property for $8.8 million plus fees and promote income
from that sale of $8.2 million, a gain of $3.1 million on the sales of the Vista Capri East, Casa Tierra, and Diamond
Valley properties, and a gain of $6.7 miflion on the sale of Emerald Palms property. Discontinued operations for
2005 relates to the sale of the Eastridge Apartments in the second quarter of 2005, for a gain on sale of $28.5
million, a gain of $0.7 million attributed to the sale of four small assets, and $1.2 million in rental revenues related
to the Eastridge property. The City Heights apartment community was held for sale as of December 31, 2006, and
operations for this property were reclassified to discontinued operations for all periods presented in the
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accompanying consolidated statements of operaﬁons.
1

Comparison of Year Ended December 31, 2005: to Year Ended December 31, 2004

Average financial occupancy rates of the Compa!ny s 2005/2004 Same-Property portfolio (properties consolidated
by the Company for each of the years ended December 31, 20035 and 2004) for the year ended December 31, 2005
increased to 96.6% from 95.4% for the year ended December 31, 2004.

The regional breakdown of the Company’s 2005/2004 Same-Property portfolio for financial occupancy for the years
ended December 31, 2005 and 2004 are as follows:

' ' Years ended

: ) December 31,

2005 2004
Southern California................ 96.5% 95.5%
Northern California.................. 97.1% 95.5%
Seattle Metro 96.7% 95.2%
Other REZIONS.....oooodirenrrire 95.3% 93.6%

The following table sets forth a breakdown of these revenue amounts, including the revenues attributable to
2005/2004 Same-Properties.

: Years Ended
E Number of December 31, Dollar Percentage
| Properties 2005 2004 Change Change
| Property Revenues (dollars in thousands} i
' 2005/2004 Same-Properties: :
| Southern Califormia........coovverevevieee i 45 $ 119914 $ 113,574 $ 6,340 56 %
' Northern California........ccovvvrvvinivnerierseserecssenedneens 16 51,727 50,577 1,150 2.3
' Seattle Metro... 20 41,079 39,548 1,531 3.9
| Other Regions......... . 5 9,578 9,301 277 3.0 |
| Total 2005/2004 Same—Propeny TEVENUES, .cvvueee 26 222,298 213,000 9,298 44 ,
2005/2004 Non-Same Property Revenues (l)........;..... 88,672 61,170 27,502 45.0 ,
Total Property FEVENUES.......oieriiver i e niiiiensfinaas $ 310970 § 274,170 $ 36,800 134 % :

(1} Includes properties acquired subsequent to january 1, 2004, seven redevelopment communities, two
development communities, three office buildings, three recreational vehicle parks, and one manufactured housing

! community.
|

2005/2004 Same-Property revenues increased by $9.3 million or 4.4% to $222.3 million for the year ended 2005
from $213.0 million for the year ended 2004. The majority of this increase was due to rental rate growth of 4.0% or
$5.0 million attributable to the 2005/2004 Same;Properties located in Southern California and rental rate growth of
1.1% or approximately $0.5 million attributable to the 2005/2004 Same-Properties located in the Seattle Metro area.
The apartment communities properties located irll Northern California achieved rental rate growth of 0.7% or
approximately $0.4 million. Property revenues for 2005/2004 Same-Properties also increased due to an increase in
occupancy from 95.4% in 2004 to 96.6% for 20(|)5, for an increase in revenues of $1.9 million. Rent concessions
also decreased in the second half of 2005, which, increased 2005 revenues by $0.4 million for the 2005/2004 Same-
Property portfolio. I

2005/2004 Non-Same Property Revenues mcreased by $27.5 or 45.0% to $88.7 million for 2005 from $61.2 million
for 2004. The increase was primarily generated from communities acquired and or developed and increased rents
from redeveloped properties. Subsequent to January 1, 2004, the Company acquired 16 apartment communities or

3,262 units and completed the construction of 756 units.
|

| Management and other fees from affiliates decreased by approximately $12.2 million in 2005 due primarily to the

: promote income from Fund [ being reduced from $18.3 million in 2004 to $7.0 million in 2005 as Fund I finished
the liquidation of its assets. Development and redevelopment fees from Fund 1 decreased by $1.1 million during
2005 from $1.3 million in 2004 to $0.2 million in 2005 as the expenditures for Fund I's development assets
decreased as the assets were sold in the second half of 2004 and early 2005.

Total Expenses increased 15% to $282.2 million for 2005 from $245.6 million for 2004. The increase was due
primarily to depreciation and amortization, real ¢state taxes, property operating expenses, and other expenses. For
2005 as compared to 2004, depreciation and amortization increased 12% or $8.2 million, real estate taxes increased
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12% or $2.9 million, and property operating expenses increased 11% or $8.1 million due to the purchase of 16
apartment communities since January 1, 2004,

Interest expense increased 17% to $70.8 million, net of §1.1 of capitalized interest for 2003, as compared to $60.7
million, net of $2.0 million of capitalized interest, for 2004. The increase was primarily due to an increase in
LIBOR during 2003, and during the fourth quarter of 2005 the Company issued $225 million in exchangeable
bonds. The proceeds from the bond issuance were used to pay the lines of credit and certain mortgage notes
payable, and repurchase $25 million in common stock.

Orher expenses were 35.8 mitlion for 2005. During 2005, the Company recorded the following other expenses: (i) a
$1.5 million charge related to a legal settlement, (ii) $1.4 million in incentive compensation costs related to $6.1
million in interest income realized on The Essex on Lake Merritt participating loan in the third quarter of 2005, (iii)
an impairment loss of $1.3 million related to a property in Houston, Texas in the fourth quarter of 2003, and (iv)
pre-payment penalties and write-off of deferred charges in the amount of $1.6 million related to the early
termination of various mortgage notes payable during the fourth quarter of 2003,

Gain on sale of real estate decreased by $1.5 million for 2005 to $6.4 million compared to $7.9 million recorded in
2004. During 2005, Essex recognized $5.0 million in gains previously deferred in 2004 on the sate of Essex on
Lake Merritt and $1.4 million in gains from our TRS activity, The gain of $7.9 million recorded in the third quarter
of 2004 related to the sale of The Essex on Lake Merritt.

Interest and other income increased by $5.4 million to $8.5 million for 2005 compared to $3.1 million for 2004,
The increase is primarily attributable to the receipt of 36.1 million in interest income related to The Essex on Lake
Merritt participating loan in 2005.

Equity (loss) income in co-investments decreased by $22.1 million to $18.6 million for 2005 compared to $40.7
million in 2004, During 2005 the Company recorded its pro-rata allocation of gains of $18.1 million on sales of
Fund I properties. During 2004, the Company recorded its pro-rata allocation of gains of $39.2 million on sales of
Fund I properties and the sale of its direct interest in Coronado at Newport — North.

Income tax provision increased by $2.3 million during 2005 due to taxable income related to TRS activity.

Income from discontinued operations increased by $25.1 million to $30.1 million for 2005 from $4.9 million for
2004, due primarily from the sale of the Eastridge apartments in the second quarter of 2005, and the sale of four
small assets during the first quarter of 2005.

Liguidity and Capital Resources

Standard and Poor's has issued a corporate credit rating of BBB/Stabie for Essex Property Trust, Inc. and Essex
Portfolio, L..P.

At December 31, 2006, the Company had $9.7 million of unrestricted cash and cash equivalents. We believe that
cash flows generated by our operations, existing cash balances, availability under existing lines of credit, access to
capital markets and the ability to generate cash gains from the disposition of real estate are sufficient to meet all of
our reasonably anticipated cash needs during 2007. The timing, source and amounts of cash flows provided by
financing activities and used in investing activities are sensitive to changes in interest rates and other fluctuations in
the capital markets environment, which can affect our plans for acquisitions, dispositions, development and
redevelopment activities.

Essex has a $200 mitlion unsecured line of credit and, as of December 31, 2006, there was no outstanding balance
on the line. This facility matures in March 2009, with an option for a one-year extension. The underlying interest
rate on this line is based on a tiered rate structure tied to our corporate ratings and is currently LIBOR plus 0.8%.
We also have a $100 million credit facility from Freddie Mac, which is secured by eight of Essex's apartment
communities. As of December 31, 2006, we had $93.0 million outstanding under this line of credit, which bears an
average interest rate of 6.2% and matures in January 2009. The underlying interest rate on this line is between 55
and 59 basis points over the Freddie Mac Reference Rate. Fund II has a credit facility aggregating $56 million.

This line bears interest at LIBOR plus 0.875%, and matures on June 30, 2007. The Company has the capacity to
issue up to approximately $20 million in equity securities, and the Operating Partnership has the capacity to issue up
to $250 million of debt securities under our existing shelf registration statements,

During the third quarter of 2006, the Company sold 5,980,000 million shares of 4.875% Series G Cumulative
Convertible Preferred Stock for gross proceeds of $149.5 million. Holders may convert Series G Preferred Stock
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into shares of the Company’s common stock sibject to certain conditions. The conversion rate will initially be

1830 shares of common stock per the $25 shaf'e liquidation preference, which is equivalent to an initial conversion
price of approximately $136.62 per share of common stock (the conversion rate will be subject to adjustment upon
the occurrence of specified events). On or after July 31, 2011, the Company may, under certain circumstances,
cause some or all of the Series G Preferred Stock to be converted into shares of common stock at the then prevailing
conversion rate. ;

Essex, through its Operating Partnership, has $!225 million of outstanding exchangeable senior notes (the “Notes™)
with a coupon of 3.625% due 2025. The Notes are senior unsecured obligations of the Operating Partnership, and
are fully and unconditionally guaranteed by the Company. On or after November 1, 2020, the Notes will be
exchangeable at the option of the holder into cash and, in certain circumstances at Essex’s option, shares of the
Company’s common stock at an initial exchange price of $103.25 per share subject to certain adjustments. The
Notes will also be exchangeable prior to November 1, 2020, but only upon the occurrence of certain specified
events. On or after November 4, 2010, the Operatmg Partnership may redeem all or a portion of the Notes at a
redemption price equal to the principal amoung plus accrued and unpaid interest (including additional interest, if
any). Note holders may require the Operating Partnership to repurchase all or a portion of the Notes at a purchase
price equal to the principal amount plus accrued and unpaid interest (including additional interest, if any) on the
Notes on November 1, 2010, November 1, 2015 and November 1, 2020.

As of December 31, 2006, our mortgage notes |payable totaled $1.1 billion which consisted of $907.2 million in
fixed rate debt with interest rates varying from 4.14% to 8.18% and maturity dates ranging from 2007 to 2015 and
$186.3 million of tax-exempt variable rate demand bonds with a weighted average interest rate of 4.6%. The tax-
exempt variable rate demand bonds have matunty dates ranging from 2006 to 2034, and are subject to interest rate

caps. |

The Company pays quarterly dividends from cash available for distribution. Until it is distributed, cash available for
distribution is invested by the Company primarily in short-term investment grade securities or is used by the
Company to reduce balances outstanding under its line of credit.

Derivative Activity

As of December 31, 2006 the Company had entered into forward-starting interest rate swaps totaling a notional
amount of $450 million with interest rates ranging from 4.9% to 5.9% and settlements dates ranging from April
2007 to July 201 1. These derivatives qualify for hedge accounting and will economically hedge the cash flows
associated with the refinancing of debit that matures between April 2007 and July 2011. The decrease in the fair
value of these derivatives during the year ended December 31, 2006 was approximately $2.9 million and is reflected
in accumulated other comprehensive (loss) income in the Company’s consolidated financial statements. No hedge
ineffectiveness on cash flow hedges was recog?ized during the year ended December 31, 2006.

1
1

During 2006, the Company issued and sold ap;ﬁroximately 427,700 shares of common stock for $48.3 million, net of
fees and commissions, under its Controlled Equity Offering program; the average price per share was $115.16.
Under this program, the Company may from time to time sell shares of common stock into the existing trading
market at current market prices, and the Compflmy anticipates using the net proceeds from such sales to fund
development and redevelopment pipelines. The Company used the net proceeds from the common stock sales to
pay down outstanding borrowings under the Company's lines of credit, to fund real estate investments and for
general corporate purposes.

Issuance of Common Stock

Non-revenue generating capital expenditures a:!'c improvements and upgrades that extend the useful life of the
property. For the year ended December 31, 2006, non-revenue generating capital expenditures totaled approximately
$814 per unit. The Company expects to incur approximately $850 per unit in non-revenue generating capital
expenditures for the year ended December 31, 2007. These expenditures do not include the improvements required
in connection with the origination of mortgage loans, expenditures for deferred maintenance on acquisition
properties, expenditures for property renovations and improvements which are expected to generate additional
revenue, and renovation expenditures required pursuant to tax-exempt bond financings. The Company expects that
cash from operations and/or its lines of credit will fund such expenditures, However, there can be no assurance that
the actual expenditures incurred during 2007 andfor the funding thereof will not be significantly different than the
Company’s current expectations.

Capital Expenditures
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Development and Predevelopment Pipeline

The Company defines development activities as new properties that are being constructed, or are newly constructed
and, in the case of development communities, are in a phase of lease-up and have not yet reached stabilized
operations; or, in the case of TRS development projects, have not yet been sold. As of December 31, 2006,
excluding development projects owned by Fund II, the Company had two development projects comprised of 513
units for an estimated cost of $167.3 million, of which $126.9 million remains to be expended. See discussion in
the section, “Risks that development activities will be delayed or not completed and/or fail to achieve expected
results” in Item 1 A, Risk Factors, of this Form 10-K.

The Company defines the predevelopment pipeline as new properties in negotiation or in the entitlement process
with a high likelihood of becoming development activities. As of December 31, 2006, the Company had
development communities aggregating 1,845 units that were classified as predevelopment projects. The estimated
total cost of the predevelopment pipeline at December 31, 2006 is $557.0 million, of which $514.8 million remains
to be expended.

The Company had four other development projects owned by TRS entities that are under development aggregating
120 units. The estimated total cost of the other development projects at December 31, 2006 is $42.0 million, of
which $21.8 million remains to be expended. The Company has also incurred $0.7 million in costs related to a joint
venture development with a third party.

The Company expects to fund the development pipeline by using a combination of some or all of the following
sources: its working capital, amounts available on its lines of credit, net proceeds from public and private equity and
debt issuances, and proceeds from the disposition of properties, if any.

Redevelopment Pipeline

The Company defines redevelopment activitics as existing properties owned or recently acquired, which have been
targeted for additional investment by the Company with the expectation of increased financial returns through
property improvement. The Company’s redevelopment strategy strives to improve the financial and physical
aspects of the Company’s redevelopment apartment communities and to target at least a 10 percent return on the
incremental renovation investment. Many of the Company’s properties are older and in excellent neighborhoods,
providing lower density with large floor plans that represent attractive redevelopment opportunities. During
redevelopment, apartment units may not be available for rent and, as a result, may have less than stabilized
operations. As of December 31, 2006, the Company had ownership interests in twelve major redevelopment
communities aggregating 3,648 apartment units with estimated redevelopment costs of $90.2 million, of which
approximately $51.2 million remains to be expended. These amounts exclude redevelopment projects owned by
Fund II.

Alternative Capital Sources

Fund [] has eight institutional investors, including the Company, with combined partner equity commitments of
$265.9 million. Essex has committed $75.0 million to Fund [1, which represents a 28.2% interest as general partner
and limited partner. Fund [I expects to utilize leverage equal to approximately 65% of the estimated value of the
underlying real estate. Fund II invests in apartment communities in the Company’s targeted West Coast markets
with an emphasis on investment opportunities in the Seattle metropolitan area and the San Francisco Bay Area.
Subject to certain exceptions, Fund II has been Essex’s primary investment vehicle during 2005 and 2006. As of
October 2006, Fund 1l was fully invested and closed for any future acquisitions or development. As of December
31, 2006, Fund Il owned 11 apartment communities and three development projects. Consistent with Fund I, Essex
records revenue for its assel management, property management, development and redevelopment services when
earned, and promote income if Fund [1 exceeds certain financial return benchmarks.
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Contractual Obligations and Commercial Cammitments

The following table summarizes the maturation or due dates of our contractual obligations and other commitments at
December 31, 2006, and the effect such obligations could have on our liquidity and cash flow in future periods:

2008 and 2010 and

(In thousands) . 2007 2009 2011 Thereafter Total
Mortgage notes payable........ccccocovvviecn. $ 1 69,108 8 204081 § 312403 § 507,962 § 1,093,554
Exchangeable bonds ..., - - - 225,000 225,000
Lines of credit.......ccovevriiriniiinnnns - - 93,000 - 93,000
Interest on indebtedness................ 68,060 93,658 175,655 140,378 477,751
Development commitments........... 66,500 61,900 - - 128,400
Redevelopment cOMmMItMents........co.coveveeen ' 33,592 17,585 - - 51,177
Essex Apartment Value Fund II, L.P.

capital COMMItMENT.....c.covreererrcrcreeene, v 19,400 8,397 - - 27,797

§ 256,660 $ 385621 § 581058 % 873,340 3 2,096,679

Variable Interest Entities '
Consolidated Variable Interest Entities i

In accordance FIN 46R, the Company conso]i:dates 17 Down REIT limited partnerships (comprising ten properties),
an office building that is subject to loans madé by the Company, and building improvements owned by a third-party
in which the Company owns the land underlying the improvements and from which the Company receives land
lease payments, subordination, and property management fees. The Company consolidated these entities because it
is deemed the primary beneficiary under FIN 46R. The Company's total assets and liabilities related to these
vartable interest entities (VIEs), net of intercompany ¢liminations, were approximately $269.5 million and $145.5
million, respectively, at December 31, 2006 and $230.9 million and $146.7 million, respectively, at December 31,
2005. 1

Interest holders in VIEs consolidated by the Cjompany are allocated net income equal to the cash payments made to
those interest holders for services rendered or distributions from cash flow. The remaining results of operations are
generally allocated to the Company. ‘

Properties consolidated in accordance with FIN 46R were encumbered by third party, non-recourse loans totaling
$140.3 miliion and $141.8 million as of December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

Unconsolidated Variable Interest Entities '

As of December 31, 2006 the Company is involved with two VIEs, of which it is not deemed to be the primary
beneficiary. Total assets and liabilities of these entities as of December 31, 2006 were approximately $78.5 million
and $58.4 million, respectively. The Company does not have a significant exposure to loss resulting from its
involvement with these unconsolidated VIEs.:

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

The preparation of consolidated financial statements, in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting
principles requires the Company to make estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets,
liabilities, revenues and expenses and related disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities. We define critical
accounting pelicies as those accounting policies that require our management to exercise their most difficult,
subjective and complex judgments. Our critical accounting policies relate principally to the following key areas: (i)
consolidation under applicable accounting standards of various entities; (ii) assessing the carrying values of our real
estate properties and investments in and advances to joint ventures and affiliates; and (iii) internal cost
capitalization. The Company bases its estimates on historical experience, current market conditions, and on various
other assumptions that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results may differ from those
estimates made by management. ;

The Company assesses each entity in which it;has an investment or contractual relationship to determine if it may be
deemed to be a VIE. If such an entity is a VIE, then the Company analyzes the expected losses and expected
residual returns te determine who is the primary beneficiary. If the Company is the primary beneficiary, then the
entity is consolidated. The analysis required to identify VIEs and primary beneficiaries is complex and judgmental,

and the analysis must be applied to various types of entities and legal structures.
|
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Rental properties are recorded at cost less accumulated depreciation. Depreciation components on rental properties
have been provided over estimated useful lives ranging from 3 to 30 years using the straight-line method.
Development costs include acquisition, direct and indirect construction costs, interest and real estate taxes incurred
during the construction and property stabilizations periods. Maintenance and repair expenses that do not add to the
value or prolong the useful life of the property are expensed as incurred. Asset replacements and improvements are
capitalized and depreciated over their estimated useful lives.

The Company assesses the carrying value of its real estate investments by monitoring investment market conditions
and performance compared to budget for operating properties and joint ventures, and by monitoring estimated costs
for properties under development. Local market knowledge and data is used to assess carrying values of properties
and the market value of acquisition opportunities. Whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount of a property held for investment may not be fully recoverable, the carrying amount is evaluated. If
the sum of the property’s expected future cash flows (undiscounted and without interest charges) is less than the
carrying amount of the property, then the Company will recognize an impairment loss equal to the excess of the
carrying amount over the fair value of the property. Adverse changes in market conditions or poor operating results
of real estate investments could result in impairment charges. When the Company determings that a property is held
for sale, it discontinues the periodic depreciation of that property. The criteria for determining when a property is
held for sale requires judgment and has potential financial statement impact as depreciation would cease and an
impairment loss could occur upon determination of held for sale status. Assets held for saie are reported at the lower
of the carrying amount or estimated fair value less costs to sell. With respect to investments in and advances to joint
ventures and affiliates, the Company looks to the underlying properties to assess performance and the recoverability
of carrying amounts for those investments in 2 manner similar to direct investments in real estate properties. An
impairment charge or investment valuation charge is recorded if the carrying value of the investment exceeds its fair
value.

The Company capitalizes all direct and certain indirect costs, including interest and real estate taxes, incurred during
development and redevelopment activities. Interest is capitalized on real estate assets that require a period of time to
get them ready for their intended use. The amount of interest capitalized is based upon the average amount of
accumulated development expenditures during the reporting period. Included in capitalized costs are management’s
estimates of the direct and incremental personnel costs and indirect project costs associated with our development
and redevelopment activities. Indirect project costs consist primarily of personnel costs associated with construction
administration and development accounting, legal fees, and various office costs that clearly relate to projects under
development.

The Company bases its estimates on historical experience and on various other assumptions that are believed to be
reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results may vary from those estimates and those estimates could be
different under different assumptions or conditions.

Forward Looking Stateinents

Certain statements in this "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations,” and elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K which are not historical facts may be constdered
forward looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and
Section 21E of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, including statements regarding the Company's
expectations, hopes, intentions, beliefs and strategies regarding the future. Forward looking statements include
statements regarding the Company's expectations as to the timing of completion of current development and
redevelopment projects and the stabilization dates of such projects, expectation as to the total projected costs and
rental rates of development and redevelopment projects, beliefs as to the adequacy of future cash flows to meet
operating requirements and to provide for dividend payments in accordance with REIT requirements, expectations
as to the amount of capital expenditures, expectations as to the amount of non-revenue generating capital
expenditures, future acquisitions, the Company's anticipated development projects in 2007, the anticipated
performance of the second Essex Apartment Value Fund ("Fund II"), the anticipated performance of existing
properties, anticipated results from various geographic regions and the Company’s investment focus in such regions,
statements regarding the Company's financing activities, and the use of proceeds from such activities.

Such forward-looking statements involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors including, but
not limited to, that the Company will fail to achieve its business objectives, that the actual completion of
development projects will be subject to delays, that the stabilization dates of such projects will be delayed, that the
total projected costs of current development projects will exceed expectations, that the Company's 2007
development strategy will change, that such development projects will not be completed, that development projects
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and acquisitions will fail to meet expectations, that estimates of future income from an acquired property may prove
to be inaccurate, that future cash flows will be inadequate to meet operating requirements and/or will be insufficient
to provide for dividend payments in accordance with REIT requirements, that the actual non-revenue generating
capital expenditures will exceed the Company's current expectations, that there may be a downturn in the markets in
which the Company's properties are located, that the terms of any refinancing may not be as favorable as the terms
of existing indebtedness, as well as those risks; special considerations, and other factors discussed under the caption
“Potential Factors Affecting Future Operating Results” below and those discussed in Itern 1A, Risk Factors, of this
Form 10-K, and those risk factors and special considerations set forth in the Company's other filings with the
Securities and Exchange Commission (the "SEC") which may cause the actual results, performance or achievements
of the Company to be materially different from any future results, performance or achievements expressed or
implied by such forward-looking statements. All forward-looking statements are made as of today, and the
Company assumes no obligation to update this!infonnation.

Potential Factors Affecting Future Operatidg Resuits

Many factors affect the Company’s actual financial performance and may cause the Company’s future results to be
different from past performance or trends. These factors include those set forth under the caption “Risk Factors” in
Item 1 A. of this Annual Report on Form 10-K ;and the following:

Development and Redevelopment Activities I

The Company pursues multifamily residential properties and development and redevelopment projects from time to
time. These projects generally require various government and other approvals, the receipt of which cannot be
assured. The Company's development and redevelopment activities generally entail certain risks, inctuding the
following: |

\
» funds may be expended and management s time devoted to projects that may not be
completed;
s  construction costs of a project may exceed original estimates possibly making the project
economically unfeasible;
s projects may be delayed due to, am(lmg other things, adverse weather conditions;

* occupancy rates and rents at a completed project may be less than anticipated; and

*  expenses at a completed development project may be higher than anticipated.

These risks may reduce the funds available for ﬁistx‘ibution to the Company's stockholders. Further, the development
and redevelopment of properties is also subjectito the general risks associated with real estate investments.

Interest Rate Fluctuations |

'

The Company monitors changes in interest rates and believes that it is well positioned from both a liquidity and
interest rate risk perspective. However, current interest rates are at historic lows and potentially could increase
rapidly to levels more in line with higher historical levels, The immediate effect of significant and rapid interest rate
increases would result in higher interest expense on the Company's variable interest rate debt. The effect of
prolonged interest rate increases could negatively impact the Company's ability to make acquisitions and develop
properties at economic returns on investment and the Company's ability to refinance existing borrowings at
acceptable rates. !

Funds From Operations (FFQ) |
b

FFOQ is a financial measure that is commonly used in the REIT industry. Essex presents funds from operations as a
supplememal performance measure. FFO is not used by Essex, nor should it be considered to be, as an alternative to
net earnings computed under GAAP ag an md]elator of Essex’s operating performance or as an alternative to cash
from operating activities computed under GAAP as an indicator of Essex’s ability to fund its cash needs.

FFO is not meant to represent a comprehensive system of financial reporting and does not present, nor does Essex
intend it to present, a complete picture of its financiat condition and operating performance. Essex believes that net
earnings computed under GAAP remains the primary measure of performance and that FFO is only meaningful
when 1t 1s used in conjunction with net earnings. Further, Essex believes that its consolidated financial statements,
prepared in accordance with GAAP, provide the most meaningful picture of its financial condition and its operating
performance.
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In calculating FFQ, Essex follows the definition for this measure published by the National Association of REITs
{(“NAREIT"), which is a REIT trade association. Essex believes that, under the NAREIT FFO definition, the two
most significant adjustments made to net income are (i) the exclusion of historical cost depreciation and (ii) the
exclusion of gains and losses from the sale of previously depreciated properties. Essex agrees that these two
NAREIT adjustments are useful to investors for the following reasons:

(a) historical cost accounting for real estate assets in accordance with GAAP assumes, through depreciation
charges, that the value of real estate assets diminishes predictably over time. NAREIT stated in its White
Paper on Funds from Operations “since real estate asset values have historically risen or fallen with market
conditions, many industry investors have considered presentations of operating results for real estate
companies that use historical cost accounting to be insufficient by themselves.” Consequently, NAREIT’s
definition of FFO reflects the fact that real estate, as an asset class, generally appreciates over time and
depreciation charges required by GAAP do not reflect the underlying economic realities.

(b) REITs were created as a legal form of organization in order to encourage public ownership of real estate as
an asset class through investment in firms that were in the business of long-term ownership and
management of real estate. The exclusion, in NAREIT's definition of FFO, of gains and losses from the
sales of previousty depreciated operating real estate assets allows investors and analysts to readily identify
the operating results of the long-term assets that form the core of a REIT’s activity and assists in comparing
those operating results berween periods.

Management has consistently applied the NAREIT definition of FFO to all periods presented. However, other
REITs in calculating FFO may vary from the NAREIT definition for this measure, and thus their disclosure of FFO
may not be comparable to Essex’s calculation.

The following table sets forth the Company’s calculation of FFO for 2006 and 2005 (in thousands except for per

share data).
For the year
ended For the quarter ended
12/31/06 12/31/06 9/30/06 6/30/06 3/31/06
Net income available to common stockholders.................. hy 57,603,000 § 15060,000 S 10,686,000 $ 22,023,000 § 9,834,000
Adjustments:
Depreciation and amortization..........ccennannn. 83,034,000 21,602,000 20,666,000 20,675,000 20,081,000
Gains not included in FFO™........oovverveiriirirncsrinsseren: {19,666,600) (7,090.000) (714,000) (8,800,000) (3,062,000)
Minority interests and co-investments®™..............c...oce... 9,547,000 2,023,000 2,217,000 3,254,000 2,053,000
Funds from Operations...........ccoeeenecnncnnisnecneecn e $ 130,518,000 $ 31,595,000 § 32855000 § 37,152,000 § 28916,000
Weighted average number of shares
outstanding diluted® ... 26,029,774 26,508,994 26,143,923 25,697,237 25,572,575
For the year
ended For the quarter ended
| 12/31/05 12/31/05 9/30/08 6/30/05 3131105
| Net income available to common stockholders......coevvvinn: $ 71763000 £ 4725000 § 8,259,000 § 38,390,000 $ 26,389,000
Adjustments:
Depreciation and amortiZation...........oceeereenevreeceeeenenns 0,126,000 20,033,000 20,323,000 20,043,000 19,727,000
Gains not included in FFO™............... . (52,335,000) (1,032,000) - (35,072,000) (16,231,000
Minority interests and co-investments®.......oooooooovveve. 9,536,000 1,322,000 1,084,000 4,179,000 2,951,000
Funds from Operations........ccccominnnmonmnn $ 115090,000 § 25048000 § 29666,000 § 27540000 S 32,836,000
Weighted average number of shares
outstanding diuted™ .....oooooeeeeeeeeeee e 25,693,637 25,538,884 25.711,320 25,672,234 25 655,571

{1) Amount includes gain equivalent to accumulated depreciation on Peregrine Point condominium sales.

(2) Amount includes the foltowing: (i)} minority interest related to Operating Partnership units, (it} depreciation add back for Fund I
assets and minerity interests and (iii} joint venture NOI not recognized for GAAP.

(3) Assumes conversion of all dilutive outstanding operating partnership interests in the Operating Partnership.
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The following table sets forth the Company’s cash flows for 2006 and 2005 (in thousands).

1 For the year
; ended For the quarter ended
, 12/31/06 1213112006 9/30/2006 6/30/2006 3/3172006
Cash flow provided by (used in): I
Operating activities.....oo..covrore e vvemeieneieeeeaneennen. 8 156,935 § 20,021 § 69,401 % 26,642 % 43,871
INVesting ACtIVItIES. vveeeiiereics i e eaaaes (312,876) (47,484) (162,170) (29,489} (73,733)
Financing activities. ..o e viivanereniieneeneosan 148,266 6,983 113,889 2,460 24,934

For the year

ended For the quarter ended
12/31/05 12/31/05 9/30/05 6/30/05 3/31/05
Cash flow provided by (used in): :
OpErating ACHVILES......coccervmin s vevsiesvaraesirarerinaenis I § 124609 § 17,957 3§ 40,023 § 28,145 § 38,484
InVesting aCHVILES. ..o (30,843) (11,629) (31,080) 22,518 (10,652)
Financing activities. . ....ocovvveer e eee e ieee (90,073) (11,358) (22,652) (30,109) (25,954)

’

Item 7A, Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosiures About Market Risks
Interest Rate Hedging Activities :

The Company’s objective in using derivatives is to add stability to interest expense and to manage its exposure to
interest rate movements or other identified risks.' To accomplish this objective, the Company primarily uses interest
rate swaps as part of its cash flow hedging strategy. Interest rate swaps designated as cash flow hedges involve the
receipt of variable-rate amounts in exchange for fixed-rate payments over the life of the agreements without
exchange of the underlying principal amount. As of December 31, 2006, we have entered into nine forward-starting
swap contracts to mitigate the risk of changes in the interest-related cash outflows on forecasted issuance of long-
term debt. The forward-starting swaps are cash flow hedges of the variability in ten years of forecasted interest
payments associated with the refinancing of the Company’s long-term debt between 2007 and 2011, As of
December 31, 2006, the Company also had $186:3 million of variable rate indebtedness, of which $182.8 million is
subject to interest rate cap protection. All of our derivative instruments are designated as cash flow hedges, and the
Company does not have any fair value hedges as of December 31, 2006. The following table summarizes the
notional amount, carrying value, and estimated fair value of our derivative instruments used to hedge interest rates
as of December 31, 2006. The notional amount 1,‘eprese:ms the aggregate amount of a particular security that is
currently hedged at one time, but does not represent exposure to credit, interest rates or market risks. The table also
includes a sensitivity analysis to demonstrate the impact on our derivative instruments from an increase or decrease
in LIBOR by 50 basis points, as of December 31, 2006.
Carrying and
Notional! Maturity Estimate Fair +50 LIBOR - 50 LIBOR

(Dollars in thousands) Amount!  Date Range Value Basis Points  Basis Points
Cash flow hedges: ‘
Interest rate forward-starting swaps § 450,000 2007-20t1 § (2,293) § 12,245 § (17,982)
[nterest rate caps 182,849 2008-2011 20 57 4
Total cash flow hedges $ 632,849  2007-2011 $ (2,271 § 12,302 § {17,978)

|
Interest Rate Sensitive Liabilities :
The Company is exposed to interest rate changes brimarily as a result of its line of credit and long-term debt used to
maintain liquidity and fund capital expenditures and expansion of the Company’s real estate investment portfolio
and operations. The Company’s interest rate risk management objective is to limit the impact of interest rate changes
on earnings and cash flows and to lower its overall borrowing costs. To achieve its objectives the Company borrows
primarily at fixed rates and may enter into derivative financial instruments such as interest rate swaps, caps and
treasury locks in order to mitigate its interest rate risk on a related financial instrument. The Company does not enter
into derivative or interest rate transactions for speculative purposes.

|

The Company’s interest rate risk is monitored using a variety of techniques. The tabie below presents the principal
amounts and weighted average interest rates by year of expected maturity to evaluate the expected cash flows.
Management believes that the carrying amounts of its LIBOR debt approximates fair value as of December 31, 2006
because interest rates, yields and other terms for these instruments are consistent with yields and other terms
currently available to the Company for similar instruments. Management has estimated that the fair value of the
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Company’s $1.13 billion of fixed rate mortgage notes payable and exchangeable bonds at December 31, 2006 is
approximately $1.22 billion based on the terms of existing mortgage notes payable compared to those available in
the marketplace.

For the Years Ended December 31

20070,  2008¢2) 2009 20100 2011¢4  Thereafter Total Fair value
{(In thousands)
Fixedrate debt...............  $ 69,108 $ 179,494 § 24,587 $ 156,875 § 155,528 § 546,623 $ 1,132,215 § 1,222,195
Average interest rate.......... 6.0% 6.8% 6.9% 8.0% 6.6% 6.6%
Variable rate LIBOR debt...  § - § - 3 - $ 93000 % - % 186339 S 279,339 § 279,339
Average interest rate.......... - - - 6.2% - 4.6%

(1) $50 million covered by a forward-starting swap at a fixed rate of 4.927%, with a settlement date on or before October 1, 2007.

(2) $50 million covered by a forward-starting swap at a fixed rate of 4.869%, with a settlement date on or before October 1, 2008. Also, $25
million covered by a forward-starting swap at a fixed rate of 5.082%, with a settlement date on or before January 1, 2009.

(3) $150 miltion covered by three forward-starting swaps with fixed rates ranging from 5.099% to 5.824%, with a settlement date on or before
January 1, 2011. .

(4) $125 miltion covered by forward-starting swaps with fixed rates ranging from 5.655% to 5.8795%, with a settlement date on or before
February 1, 2011. $50 million covered by a forward-starting swap with a fixed rate of 5.535%, with a settlement date on or before July, ! 2011.
The Company intends to encumber certain unencumbered assets during 2011 in conjunction with the settlement of these forward-starting swaps.

{5) $182,849 subject to interest rate caps.

The table incorporates only those exposures that exist as of December 31, 2006; it does not consider those exposures
or positions that could arise afier that date. As a result, our ultimate realized gain or loss, with respect to interest rate
fluctuations, would depend on the exposures that arise during the period, our hedging strategies at the time, and
interest rates.

Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

The response to this item is submitted as a separate section of this Form 10-K. See Item 15,

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure
None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures

As of December 31, 2006, we carried out an evaluation, under the supervision and with the participation of
management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of the design
and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures pursuant to Rules 13a-15 of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, as amended. Based upon that evaluation, the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded
that our disclosure controls and procedures are effective in timely alerting management to material information
relating to the Company that is required to be included in our periodic filings with the Securities and Exchange
Commission.

There were no changes in the Company’s internal control over financial reporting, that occurred during the quarter
ended December 31, 2006, that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company’s
internal control over financial reporting.

Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting
(as defined in Rule 13a-15{f) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended). Our management assessed
the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2006. In making this
assessment, our management used the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission (“COSQ™) in Internal Control-Integrated Framework. Our management has concluded that,
as of December 31, 2006, our internal control over financial reporting was effective based on these criteria. Our
independent registered public accounting firm, KPMG LLP, has issued an audit report on our assessment of our
internal control over financial reporting, which is included herein.

Item 9B. Other Information

None.
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Item 19. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance
1

The information required by Item 10 is incorporated by reference from the Company’s definitive proxy statement
for its annual stockholders’ meeting to be held on May 8, 2007,

Item 11. Executive Compensation |

The information required by Item 11 is incorporated by reference from the Company’s definitive proxy statement
for its annual stockholders’ meeting to be held on May 8, 2007.

[
Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder

Matters ‘

The information required by Item 12 is incorporated by reference from the Company’s definitive proxy statement
for its annual stockholders’ meeting to be heldlon May 8, 2007.

|
Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions and Director Independence

The information required by Item 13 is incorporated by reference from the Company’s definitive proxy statement
for its annual stockholders’ meeting to be held on May 8, 2007.

Item 14, Principal Accounting Fees and Services

|
The information required by Item 14 is incorporated by reference from the Company’s definitive proxy statement
for its annual stockholders’ meeting to be held on May 8, 2007.

!
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PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

(A} Financial Statements

{1} Consolidated Financial Statements Page
Reports of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm E-1
Consolidated Balance Sheets:

As of December 31, 2006 and 2005 F-4
Consolidated Statements of Operations:

Years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004 . E-5
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity:

Years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004 F-6
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows:

Years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004 E-7
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements F-9

(2) Financial Statement Schedule - Schedule II1 - Real Estate and Accumulated Depreciation as of
December 31, 2006 F-32

(3) See the Exhibit Index immediately following the signature page and certifications for a list of
exhibits filed or incorporated by reference as part of this report.

(B) Exhibits

The Company hereby fites, as exhibits to this Form 10-K, those exhibits listed on the Exhibit Index referenced
in Itern 15(A)(3) above.
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Report of Indepen'dent Registered Public Accounting Firm
!

1

The Board of Directors |
Essex Property Trust, Inc.: I
|

We have audited management’s assessment, included in Management’s Report on Internal Control over
Financial Reporting, appearing under Item 9A, that Essex Property Trust, Inc. maintained effective
internai control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2006, based on criteria established in Internal
Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission (COSO). Essex Property Trust, Inc’s management is responsible for maintaining effective
internal control over financial reporting afld for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over
financial reporting. Qur responsibility is: to express an opinion on management’s assessment and an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our
audit. i

We conducted our audit in accordance w'ith the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material
respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting,
evaluating management’s assessment, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of
internal control, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances.
We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable
assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal
control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance
of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the
assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to
permit preparation of financial statemen;ts in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles,
and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations
of management and directors of the comi)any; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention
or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could
have a material effect on the financial statements.
Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect
misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk
that controls may become inadequate be:cause of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance
with the policies or procedures may deteln'orate.
In our opinion, management’s assessmeént that Essex Property Trust, Inc. maintained effective internal
control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2006, is fairly stated, in all material respects, based on
criteria established in Internal Controlilntegrated Framework issued by the Comrmitiee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). Also, in our opinion, Essex Property Trust, Inc.
maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31,
2006, based on criteria established in Inltema] Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO).

!
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We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States), the consolidated balance sheets of Essex Property Trust, Inc. and subsidiaries as of
December 31, 2006 and 2003, and the related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders’ equity,
and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2006 and the related
financial statement schedule 111, and our report dated February 28, 2007, expressed an unqualified opinion
on those consolidated financial statements.

/S/ KPMG LLP
KPMG LLP

San Francisco, California
February 28, 2007
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Report of Indepen:dent Registered Public Accounting Firm
i

!
The Board of Directors [
Essex Property Trust, Inc.: :

We have audited the accompanying co:nsolidated balance sheets of Essex Property Trust, Inc. and
subsidiaries as of December 31, 2006 and 2005, and the related consolidated statements of operations,
stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for ¢ach of the years in the three-year period ended December 31,
2006. In connection with our audits of the consolidated financial statements, we have also audited the
accompanying financial statement schedule 1II. These consolidated financial statements and the
accompanying financial statement schedule 111 are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Qur
responsibility is to express an opinion on;these consolidated financial statements and the accompanying
financial statement schedule 11 based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes
examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.
An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits
provide a reasonable basis for our opinion,

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material
respects, the financial position of Essex Property Trust, Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2006 and
2003, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period
ended December 31, 2006, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. Also in our
opinion, the related financial statement schedule 111, when considered in relation to the basic consolidated
financial statements taken as a whole, présentq fairly, in ali material respects, the information set forth

therein. |
|

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States), the effectiveness of Essex Property Trust, Inc.’s internal control over financial
reporting as of December 31, 2006, based on criteria established in Internal Control-Integrated
Framework issued by the Commiittee of Splonsormg Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSQ),
and our report dated February 28, 2007 expressed an unqualified opinion on management’s assessment of,
and the effective operation of, internal con?rol over financial reporting.

/S/KPMG LLP
KPMG LLP

San Francisco, California

|
%
i
i
!
February 28, 2007 ;‘
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ESSEX PROPERTY TRUST, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Balance Sheets
December 31, 2006 and 2005
{Dollars in thousands, except share amounts)

2006 2005
ASSETS
Real estate:
Rental properties:
Land and land improvements.........cocovcrerermvmmmsissesecssiinirscenenssiinses B 560,880 g 541,232
Buildings and improvements. ....c...cocormemviimerrienees e 2,108,307 1,890,397
2,669,187 2,431,629
Less accumulated depreciation.........c.evcrerremmrmsiismnianesivasinn s (465,015) (389,040)
2,204,172 2,042,589
Real estate - held for sale, Net..oviuiveiior e 41,221 42 478
Real estate under development..........c.ccoocorvininn e 103,487 54,416
ITIVESTITIEIITS vt e e et ens b esrsesr s easessbnevas e v ne s mem s e e s e mee e mr e dat s bR 60,451 27,228
2,409,331 2,166,711
Cash and cash equivalents-unrestricted........ocovveevecneriineericenanins 9,662 14,337
Cash and cash equivalents-restricted... 13,948 13,937
Notes receivable and other rcccwables ﬁ‘om related pames 1,209 1,173
Notes and other receivables........oocue v vervevreereeeese e seeeas 18,195 5,215
Prepaid expenses and other assets............. 20,632 22,899
Deferred Charges, NEt..... ..o 12,863 15,018
TOUAL ASSEIS. .eevervrrevereeseereconersereneresresentssassseessssanssssmssesrssinesssansener B 2,485,840 $ 2,239,290
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Mortgage notes payable.... SO UUUOUUUTPUIUTUVOVOPRS. 1,060,704 § 1,072,068
Motgage notes payable - held for sale ......................................... 32,850 32,850
Exchangeable bonds... 225,000 225,000
Lines of credit... 93,000 25,000
Accounts payable and accrued llabllmes 38,614 32,982
Dividends payable 24,910 22,496
Other Liabilities................ 14,328 12,520
Deferred gain.........oorne... 2,193 2,193
Total liabilities 1,491,599 1,425,109
Commitments and contingencies
Minority interests.........ovrion. 236,120 . 233214
Cumulative convemblc preferred stock S 0001 par valuc
4.875% Series G - 5,980,000 issued and outstanding.................... 145912 -
Stockholders' equity:
Commeon stock; $.0001 par value, 649,702,178 shares authorized;
23,416,295 and 22,858,953 shares issued and outstanding.......... 2 2
Cumulative redeemable preferred stock; $.0001 par value:
7.8125% Series F - 1,000,000 shares authorized,
issued and outstanding, liquidation value.................oveeieeienns 25,000 25,000
Excess stock, $.0001 par value, 330,000,000 shares
authorized and no shares issued and outstanding...........ccoceveeeenenes. - -
Additional paid-in capital........ocom 686,937 632,646
Distributions in excess of accumulated eamings.......c.oocoo e (97,457) (77,341}
Accumulated other comprehensive (108S) INCOME.....oovreviverriiieriieanns (2,273) 660
Total stockholders’ equity.......cooconericreiic s 612,209 580,967
Total liabilities and stockholders' @qQUity........ccvee e $ 2,485,840 3 2,239,290

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements,
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ESSEX PROPERTY TRUST, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolldated Statements of Operations
Years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004
(Dollars in thousands%, except per share and share amounts)

| 2006 2005 2004
Revenues:
Rental and other property.... BRSOV T VOO SUU ST OUUOUUOURISRRTURTORD. 343,044 § 310970 % 274,170
Management and other fees from afﬁllates...................i .................................. 5,030 10,951 23,146
| 348,074 321,921 297,316
Expenses: ‘
Property operating, excluding real estate taxes............loevovooerereceeecveen, 88,505 81,241 73,112
Real e5tate tAXeS. ...vvovvvveriiieiiee v risn s vnnssssaseee e 29,278 26,469 23,589
Depreciation and amortization 80,147 76,848 68,609
lnterest} ................................ 72,898 70,784 60,709
Amortization of deferred financing Costs.......cocvveiire s 2,743 1,947 1,560
General and adminNISHALIVE. .......cocvieereceeieieeseriecreereeees e srnves s sessteesescsnesrnrons 22,235 19,148 18,042
Oher EXPENSES........vvereererireeversesiesiesessessesseressrsseasssses e 1,770 5,827 -
J 297,576 282,264 245,621
Earnings from operations . 50,498 39,657 51,695
Gain on sale of real estate............cooeveveiiiienr e I ................................. - 6,391 7,909
Interest and other inCome...........coceeeieeeeeevvviiinecmeeeeeeaens ‘ ................................ 6,176 8,524 3,077
Equity (loss) income in co—investments............................’.................................. (1,503) 18,553 40,683
Minority interests... (19,309) (20,936) (28,332)
Income before dlscontmued opcratlons and tax prov1510n .......................... 35,862 52,189 75,032
Income tax provnslon‘ ................................ (525) (2,538) (257)
Income before discontinued operations............cooviii i 35,337 49,651 74,775
|
Income from discontinued operations (net of minority 1nterests) ................. 27411 30,065 4918
INEL INCOMIE. ceevevveerinrinrenrisnises sereieeierersnsinssresessessenrens OO 62,748 79,716 79,693
Dividends to preferred stockholders... (5,145) {1,953) (1,952)
Net income available to common stockholders SSSUUPRUNUURIO. 57,603 % 77,763 § 77,741
Per share data: ?
Basic: !
Income before discontinued operations available to common stockholders.  $ 131 % 208 § 3.18
Income from discontinued OPETALIONS. ... ...vevreeresamssnss brvecsiesssassenssssssssoessse 1.19 1.30 0.21
Net income available to common stockholders...........; ............................... $ 250 & 338 3% 3.39
Weighted average number of shares outstanding during‘the b L. SO 23,081,682 23,038,561 22,921,225
Diluted:
Income before discontinued operations available to coinmon stockholders.  § 128 % 203 8% 3.15
Income from discontinued opetations...........cc.coeevenn... | eenenees 1.17 1.29 0.21
Net income available to common stockholders.........coovveiieeievicceerineeninnns 3 245 5 332 % 3.36
Weighted average number of shares outstanding during jhe Year. ..o 23,551,042 23,388,& 23,156,301

i

i
5
i

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
|
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ESSEX PROPERTY TRUST, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity
Years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004

(Dollars and shares in thousands)

Balances at December 31, 2003 ......ccoocvivnnine
Net income.. .
Issuance of common stock under
stock-based compensation plans...........c......
Issuance of common stock.......coviiiinnins
Reallocation of minority interest..................
Dividends declared...
Balances at Dcccmber 31 2004
Comprehensive income: .
NEL INCOME. vt irssrsreree et rmsss s s
Change in fair value of cash flow hedges.....
Comprehensive income
Issuance of commen stock under
stock-based compensation plans..................
Retirement of common S10CK......cocvovvirnirenens
Reallocation of minority interest (F)...ooonees
Dividends declared... S
Balances at Dccember 31 2005
Comprehensive income:
Net income.. .
Change in falr vnlue oi' cash ﬂow hedges .....
Comprehensive income
Issuance of common stock under
stock-based compensation plans....
Issuance of commen stock...
Conversion/Reallocation of mmonty interest
Dividends declared......c.cooovvicniniinceicvianan,
Balances at December 31, 2006..........cccceeeee

Distributions Accumulated
Series F Additional in excess of other
Preferred stock Common stock paid-in accumulated comprehensive
Shares  Amount Shares Amount capital earnings (loss) income Total
1,000 § 25000 22,833 § 23 642,643 % (86,246) $ - % 581,399
- - - - - 79,693 - 79,693
- - 155 - 6,058 - - 6,058
- - 53 - 2,307 - - 2,307
- - - (4,264) - - (4,264)
- - - - - (73,916} - {73,216)
1,000 25,000 23,041 2 646,744 (80,469) - 591,277
- - - - - 79,716 - 79,716
- - - - - - 660 660
80,376
- - 103 - 5,767 - - 5,767
- - (286} - (25,000 - (25,000)
- - - - 5,135 - - 5,135
- - - - (76,588) - (76,588)
25,000 22,858 2 632,646 (77,341) 660 580,967
- - - - - 62,748 - 62,748
- - - - - - {2.933) (2,933)
59,815
- - 92 - 5,575 - - 5,575
- - 427 - 48,273 48,273
- - 39 - 443 - - 443
. - - . - (82,864) - (82,864)
1,000 § 25000 23,416 $ 2 8 686,937 § (97,457) § {2273) § 612,209

(1) During the twelve months ended December 31, 2005, the Company recorded a true-up of the reallocation of minority
interest as of December 31, 2004, This true-up was not material to stockholders’ equity at either December 31, 2005 or

December 31, 2004.

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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ESSEX PROPE];!TY TRUST, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
Years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004
(Dollars in thousands)

_ 2006 2005 2004
Cash flows from operating activities: |
Net mcomei 5 62,748 % 79716 3 79,693
Minority iNterests...oce.eereeieeicereererireeeeed RSO URRTOON 22,738 24,271 27,615
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net
cash provided by operating activities: ,
Gain on the sales of real estate.. veeeeraens (22,096) (37,802) (7,909)
The Company's share of gain on the salcs ofco investments assets... - (18,115) (39,241)
IMPAINMENt 10S5....oitmieieecc it 800 1,300 718
Equity loss (income) of limited parmershlps 1,503 (7,420) {20,281)
Depreciation and amORIZAtION. ..........ccceebereees v iesesssssisrssens 83,036 80,075 72,923
Amortization of deferred financing costs....! 2,743 1,970 1,587
Changes in operating assets and liabilities: ! .
Prepaid expenses and other assets.......... ‘ 493 (4,762) (1,189)
Accounts payable and accrued BABAHES.everoeerer oo 6,162 4,709 5,942
Other liabilities... 1,808 667 1,842
Net cash prowded by operatmg acnwtles 159,935 124,609 121,700
Cash flows from investing activities: {
Additions to real estate: \
Acquisitions of Teal eState...........covireerboerenvrrnieiesieee e (199,107) (51,496) (229,437)
Improvements t0 recent aCqUISTHONS. ...cvweecercrsvrmreerisrsesssasseeseenrens (5,238) (5,009) (10,062)
Redevelopment.... R RTTRRT (25,609} (14,229) (8,056)
Revenue generatmg capltal expendltures (4,788) (2,933) (2,483)
Non-revenue generating capital expendltures.......................4.......... {19,120} {14,568) (10,095)
Disposition of real estate.. 38,092 68,585 143,549
Decrease (increase) in restncted cash 4371 7,318 (10,080)
Additions to notes receivable from investees,|
other related parties and other receivables...".....................................‘ {26,125) (3,220) (5,365)
Repayments of notes from investees, other |
related parties and other receivables..........ocovoeceveciiceecce i 21,234 4,880 4,251
Net (contribution) distribution from to investments in
corporations and limited partnerships..........coooveeinceieenrenssrnnrens (28,226) 44,690 31,129
Additions to real estate under development............ocoveinrviivnviiereenns (68,360) (24,861) (28,372)
Net cash used in investing actVIties.......icvveeeceeneeee e cevrienas {312,376} {30,843} (125,021)
Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from mortgage and other notes payablc and lines of credit... 324,228 205,096 447 870
Repayment of mortgage and other notes payable and lines of credit... (266,965) (389,363) (287,359)
Additions (0 deferred Charges. ..o ovveossvereeeeerssseeres e seeeseseene (587 (6,339) (4,050)
Proceeds from exchangeable bonds...........cc..eeirnininnnn, - 225,000 -
Retirement of common StOCK......ovciveinviceereerciniecenn, - {25,000) -
Net proceeds from stock options exercised 4,287 4,489 5,483
Net proceeds from issuance of common stock! 48,273 - -
Net proceeds from issuance of preferred stockr Series G...oooevecvevvn . 145,912 - -
Redemption of minority interest partners.., (4,779) (4.528) (7,080)
Redemption of minority interest Series E pref§rred UNILS..ccceen s - - (55,000)
Distributions to minority interest partners.......; (21,657 (23,165) (27,948)
Dividends paid.... e, (80.446) (76,263} (72,719)
Net cash provnded by (used m) ﬁnancmg ACHIVILIES.ceticvriiirre s 148,266 (90,073) (803)
Net (decrease} increase in cash and cash equivalents (4.675) 3,693 (4,124)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year...........o.oooe v cnens 14,337 10,644 14,768
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year............ RS S 9,662 S 14,337 $ 10,644

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements,
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ESSEX PROPERTY TRUST, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
Years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004
(Dollars in thousands)

2006 2005 2004

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:

Cash paid for interest, net of $3,900, $1,100 and $1,997

capitalized in 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively........ccorenniiniianns $ 63,686 % 71619 § 60,007
Supplemental disclosure of noncash investing and
financing activities:

Mortgage notes payable assumed in connection

with the purchase of real EStALE. .......cvveeececescremrcmmemriensisnssnireses 9 - % - % 167,635
Issuance of Operating Partnership units in
connection with the purchase of real eState. ...o.c.ccovcecvcrvcecrcsriiiinns S 7,704 § - $ 4,805

(Concluded)

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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ESSEX PROPERTY TRUST, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004
(Dollars in thousands, except for per share and per unit amounts)

(1) Organization ‘

l
The accompanying consolidated financial statements present the accounts of Essex Property Trust, Inc. (the
“Company”), which include the accounts of the' Company and Essex Portfolio, L.P. (the Operating Partnership, which
holds the operating assets of the Company). The Company was incorporated in the state of Maryland in March 1994,
On June 13, 1994, the Company commenced operatlons with the completion of an initial public offering (the
“Offering”) in which it issued 6,275,000 shares of common stock at $19.50 per share. The net proceeds of the
Offering of $112.1 million were used to acqulre! a 77.2% general partnership interest in the Operating Partnership.

The Company has a 90.4% general partner interest and the limited partners own a 9.6% interest in the Operating
Partnership as of December 31, 2006. The limited partners may convert their 2,495,048 Operating Partnership units
into an equivalent number of shares of common'stock. The Company has reserved shares of common stock for such
conversions. These conversion rights may be exlercised by the limited partners at any time through 2024.

i

On December 17, 2002, the Company acquired, by merger, John M, Sachs, Inc. (“Sachs Portfolio”) resulting in the
acquisition of its real estate portfolio, which consisted of 20 multifamily properties, five recreational vehicle parks,
two manufactured housing communities and two small office buildings. Total consideration in the transaction was
$306.7 million and was structured as a tax-free r;eorganization whereby the Company: (i) issued 2,719,875 shares of
its commen stock valued at $136.8 million, (ii) assumed mortgages on four of the newly acquired properties for
approximately $64.6 million with a fixed interest rate of 5.51%, maturing in January 2013, (iii) assumed and repaid
unsecured liabilities in the amount of approximately $33.0 mitlion, and (iv) paid the balance in cash of $72.2 million.
The Company accounted for this transaction using the purchase method of accounting which resulted in the allocation
of the purchase price to the assets and liabilities acquired based on their fair values. The fair value of assets and
liabilities were based on management’s estimates. No goodwill was recognized in connection with this purchase.

As of December 31, 2006, the Company operates and has ownership interests in 130 apartment communities (totaling
27,553 units), two recreational vehicle parks (comprising 338 spaces), three office buildings (aggregating to
approximately 166,340 square feet), and one manufactured housing community (containing 157 sites) (collectively,
the “Properties™). The Properties are located in Southern California (Los Angeles, Ventura, Orange, Riverside and
San Diego counties), Northern California {the San Francisco Bay Area), Seattle, Washington and other regions
{Portland, Oregon metropolitan area, Houston, Texas).

(2) Summary of Critical and Significant Accm;mting Policies

(a) Principles of Consolidation

The accounts of the Company, its controlled subsidiaries and the variable interest entities (“*VIEs™) in which it is the
primary beneficiary are consolidated in the accompanying financial statements. All significant inter-company
accounts and transactions have been eliminated. We use the equity method to account for investments that do not
qualify as variable interest entities and where we 'do not own a majority of the economic interest, but have the ability
to exercise significant influence over the operatidg and financial policies of the investee. For an investee accounted
for under the equity method, our share of net eammgs or losses of the investee is reftected in income as earned and

distributions are credited against the investment as received.
1

In accordance with Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Interpretation No. 46 Revised (“FIN 46R™),
“Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities, an Interpretation of ARB No. 517, the Company consolidates 17 Down
REIT limited partnerships (comprising ten properties), an office building that is subject to loans made by the
Company, and the building improvements owned by a third-party in which the Company owns the land underlying
these improvements and from which the Company receives land lease payments, subordination, and property
management fees. The Company consolidates these entities because it is deemed the primary beneficiary under FIN
46R. The consolidated total assets and liabilities related to these VIEs, net of intercompany eliminations, were
approximately $269.5 million and $145.5 million, respectively, at December 31, 2006 and $230.9 million and $146.7
million, respectively, at December 31,2005, These VIEs were encumbered by third-party, non-recourse loans
totaling $140.3 million and $141.8 million as of [i)ecember 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

i
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The Down REIT entities that collectively own ten apartment communities {1,831 units) were investments made under
arrangements whereby Essex Management Company (“EMC™) became the general partner, the Operating Partnership
became a special limited partner, and the other limited partners were granted rights of redemption for their interests.
Such limited partners can request to be redeemed and the Company can elect to redeem their rights for cash or by
issuing shares of its common stock on a one share per unit basis. Conversion values will be based on the market value
of the Company's common stock at the time of redemption multiplied by the number of units stipulated under the
above arrangements. The other limited partners receive distributions based on the Company's current dividend rate
times the number of units held. At December 31, 2006, the maximum number of shares that could be issued to meet
redemption of these Down REIT entities is 1,256,787. As of December 31, 2006 and 20085, the carrying value of the
other limited partners' interests is presented at their historical cost and is classified within minority interests in the
accompanying consolidated balance sheets,

Minority interests include the 9.6% and 9.7% limited partner interests in the Operating Partnership not held by the
Company at December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively. The Company periodically adjusts the carrying value of
minority interest in the Operating Partnership to reflect its share of the book value of the Operating Partnership. Such
adjustments are recorded to stockholders’ equity as a reallocation of minority interest in the Operating Partnership in
the accompanying consolidated statements of stockholders’ equity. The minority interest balance also includes the
Operating Partnership’s cumulative redeemable preferred units (see Note 12).

Interest holders in VIEs consolidated by the Company are allocated a priority of net income equal to the cash
payments made to thosc interest holders for services rendered or distributions from cash flow. The remaining results
of operations are generally allocated to the Company.

As of December 31, 2006 the Company was involved with two VIEs, of which it is not deemed to be the primary
beneficiary. Total assets and liabilities of these entities were approximately $78.5 million and $58.4 million,
respectively, at December 31, 2006. As of December 31, 2005, the Company was involved with three VIEs, of which
it was not deemed to be the primary beneficiary, and total assets and liabilities of these entities were approximately
$92.9 million and $72.5 million, respectively. The Company does not have a significant exposure to loss resulting
from its involvement with these unconsolidated VIEs.

(b} Real Estate Rental Properties
Significant expenditures, which improve or extend the life of an asset and have a useful life of greater than one year,
are capitalized. Operating real estate assets are stated at cost and consist of land, buildings and improvements,

furniture, fixtures and equipment, and other costs incurred during their development, redevelopment and acquisition.
Expenditures for maintenance and repairs are charged to expense as incurred.

The depreciable life of various categories of fixed assets are as follows:

Computer equipment 3 years
Interior unit improvements 5 years
Land improvements and certain exterior

components of real property 10 years
Real estate structures 30 years

In accordance with SEAS No. 67, “Accounting for Costs and Initial Rental Operations of Real Estate Projects,” the
Company capitalizes predevelopment costs incurred in the pursuit of new development opportunities, in the
negotiation process, as well as the entitlement process with a high likelihood of the projects becoming development
activities. Predevelopment costs for which a future development is no longer considered probable are charged to
expense. All costs incurred with the predevelopment, development or redevelopment of real estate assets are
capitalized if they are clearly associated with the predevelopment, development or redevelopment of rental property,
or are associated with the construction or expansion of real property. Such capitalized costs include land, land
improvements, allocated costs of the Company’s project management staff, construction costs, as well as interest and
related loan fees, property taxes and insurance. Capitalization begins for predevelopment, development, and
redevelopment projects when activity commences. Capitalization ends when the apartment home is completed and
the property is available for a new residence.

In accordance with FASB’s Statement of Financial Accounting Standard No. 141 (*SFAS No. 1417) “Business
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Combinations,” the Company allocates the purEhase price of real ¢state to land and building, and identifiable
intangible assets, such as the value of above, bn!elow and at-market in-place leases. The values of the above and below
market leases are amortized and recorded as elther a decrease (in the case of above market leases) or an increase (in
the case of below market leases) to rental revenue over the remaining term of the associated leases acquired. The
value of acquired at-market leases are amortized to expense over the term the Company expects to retain the acquired
tenant, which is generally 20 months. |

In accordance with SFAS No. 141 and its appliTcability to acquired in-place leases, we perform the following
evaluation for properties we acquire:

(1) estimate the value of the real estate “a$ if vacant” as of the acquisition date;

(2) allocate that value among land and bulldmg and determine the associated asset life for each;
(3) compute the value of the difference between the “as if vacant” value and the purchase price, which will

represent the total intangible assets;

(4) allocate the value of the above and below market leases to the intangible assets and determine the associated
life of the above market/ below market leases;

(5) allocate the remaining intangible value to the at-market in-place leases or customer relationships, if any, and
the associated lives of these assets;

Whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of a property held for investment or
held for sale may not be fully recoverable, the carrying amount will be evaluated for impairment. If the sum of the
property’s expected future cash flows (undiscouinted and without interest charges) is less than the carrying amount
(including intangible assets) of the property, the‘ln the Company will recognize an impairment loss equal to the excess
of the carrying amount over the fair value of the property. Such fair value of a property is determined using
conventional real estate valuation methods, such as discounted cash flow, the property’s unleveraged yield in
comparison to the unleveraged yields and sales prices of similar properties that have been recently sold, and other

third party information, if available. ':

I
During the second quarter of 2006, the Company recorded an impairment loss of $0.8 million and in fourth quarter of
2005 the Company recorded an impairment loss of $1.3 million resulting from write-downs of a property’s value in
Houston, Texas, to reduce the property’s carryinig value 10 its estimated fair value. The impairment charges are
recorded in other expenses in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations. There was an impairment
charge of $0.7 million recorded in the second qu:arter of 2004 related to the sale of an RV park in Hemet, California,
That impairment charge was recorded in discont;inued operations in the accompanying consolidated statements of
operations. These properties were acquired as part of the Sachs Portfolio (see Note 1).

In the normal course of business, the Company will receive offers for sale of its properties, either solicited or
unsolicited. For those offers that are accepted, the prospective buyer will usually require a due diligence period before
consummation of the transaction. It is not unusual for matters to arise that result in the withdrawal or rejection of the
offer during this process. Essex classifies real estate as "held for sale" when all criteria under Statement of Financial
Accounting Standard No. 144 (“SFAS No. 144”), "dccounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets”
have been met. In accordance with SFAS No. 144, the Company presents income and gains/losses on properties sold
as discontinued operations net of minority mterests Real estate investments accounted for under the equity method of
accounting remain classified in continuing operanons upon disposition. {See Note 7 for a description of the
Company’s discontinued operations for 2006, 2005, and 2004).

'

(c) Investments and Joint Ventures .

The Company owns investments in joint ventures and affiliates in which it has significant influence, but its ownership
interest does not meet the criteria for consolidation in accordance with FIN 46R. Therefore, we account for our
interest using the equity method of accounting. Under the equity method of accounting, the investment is carried at
the cost of assets contributed or distributed, plus the Company’s equity in undistributed GAAP earnings or losses
since its initial investment. The Company’s share of equity in income and gains on sales of real estate are included in

other income in the accompanying consolidated ?tatements of operations.

A majority of these investments and/or joint ventures compensate the Company for its asset management services and
some of these investments may provide promote distributions if certain financial return benchmarks are achteved.
Asset management fees are recognized where earned and promote fees are recognized when the earnings events have
occurred and there is sufficient GAAP earnings m the underlying entities. Asset management fees and promote fees

\
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are reflected in interest and other and equity income in co-investments, respectively, in the accompanying
consolidated statements of operations.

(d) Revenues and Gains on Sale of Real Estate

Revenues from tenants renting or ieasing apartment units, recreational vehicle park spaces or manufactured housing
community spaces are recorded when due from tenants and are recognized monthly as they are earned, which is not
materially different than on a straight-line basis. Units or spaces are rented under short-term leases (generally, lease
terms of 6 to 12 months) and may provide no rent for one or two months, depending on the market conditions and
teasing practices of our competitors in each sub-market at the time the leases are executed. Revenues from tenants
leasing commercial space are recorded on a straight-line basis over the life of the respective lease.

The Company recognizes gains on sales of real estate when a contract is in place, a closing has taken place, the
buyer’s initial and continuing investment is adequate to demonstrate a commitment to pay for the property and the
Company does not have a substantial continuing involvement in the property.

{e) Cash Equivalents and Restricted Cash

Highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less when purchased are classified as cash
equivalents. Restricted cash balances relate primarily to reserve requirements for capital replacement at certain
Properties in connection with the Company’s mortgage debt.

(f) Notes Receivable and Interest Income

Notes receivable relate to real estate financing arrangements that exceed one year. They bear interest at a market rate
based on the borrower’s credit quality and are recorded at face value. Interest is recognized over the life of the note.
The Company requires collateral for the notes.

Each note is analyzed to determine if it is impaired pursuant to SFAS No. 114, “Accounting by Creditors for
Impairment of a Loan”. A note is impaired if it is probable that the Company will not collect all principal and
interest contractually due. The Company does not accrue interest when a note is considered impaired. All cash
receipts on impaired notes are applied to reduce the principal amount of such notes until the principal has been
recovered and, thereafier, are recognized as interest income.,

(g} Interest Rate Protection, Swap, and Forward Contracts

The Company has from time to time used interest rate protection, swap and forward contracts to manage its interest
rate exposure on current or identified future debt transactions. The Company accounts for such derivative contracts
using SFAS No. 133. Under SFAS No. 133, derivative instruments are required to be included in the balance sheet at
fair value. The changes in the fair value of the derivatives are accounted for depending on the use of the derivative
and whether it has been designated and qualifies as a part of a hedging relationship.

The Company records all derivatives on the balance sheet at fair value. The accounting for changes in the fair value
of derivatives depends on the intended use of the derivative and the resulting designation. Derivatives used to hedge
the exposure to changes in the fair value of an asset, liability, or firm commitment attributable to a particular risk,
such as interest rate risk, are considered fair value hedges. Derivatives used to hedge the exposure to variability in
expected future cash flows, or other types of forecasted transactions, are considered cash flow hedges.

For derivatives designated as fair value hedges, changes in the fair value of the derivative and the hedged item related
to the hedged risk are recognized in earnings. For derivatives designated as cash flow hedges, the effective portion of
changes in the fair valuc of the detivative is initially reported in other comprehensive income (outside of earnings)
and subsequently reclassified to earnings when the hedged transaction affects earnings, and the ineffective portion of
changes in the fair value of the derivative is recognized directly in carnings. The Company assesses the effectiveness
of each hedging relationship by comparing the changes in fair value or cash flows of the derivative hedging
instrument with the changes in fair value or cash flows of the designated hedged item or transaction. For derivatives
not designated as hedges, changes in fair value are recognized in earnings. All existing instruments are considered
cash flow hedges, and the Company does not have any fair value hedges as of December 31, 2006.

The Company’s objective in using derivatives is to add stability to interest expense and to manage its exposure to
interest rate movements or other identified risks. To accomplish this objective, the Company primarily uses interest
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rate swaps as part of its cash flow hedging strategy. Interest rate swaps designated as cash flow hedges involve the
receipt of variable-rate amounts in exchange for fixed-rate payments over the life of the agreements without exchange

of the underlying principal amount.

Amounts reported in accumulated other comprehenswe (loss) income related to derivatives will be reclassified to
interest expense as interest payments are made on the Company’s hedged debt, The Company is hedging its exposure
to the variability in future cash flows for a portion of its forecasted transactions over a maximum period of 54 months
as of December 31, 2006. |

|

(h) Deferred Charges !

t

Deferred charges are principally comprised of loan fees and related costs which are amortized over the terms of the
related borrowing in a manner which approx1mates the effective interest method.
|

(i) Income Tuxes l

Generally in any year in which the Company qualifies as a real estate investment trust (“REIT”") under the Internal
Revenue Code (the “Code™), it is not subject to federal income tax on that portion of its income that it distributes to
stockholders. No provision for federal income takes, other than the taxable REIT subsidiaries (“TRSs”) discussed
below has been made in the accompanying conSOhdated financial statements for each of the three years in the period
ended December 31, 2006, as the Company has ¢lected to be and believes it quahfies under the Code as a REIT and
has made dlstrlbutlons during the periods in amounts to preclude us from paying federal income tax,

In order to maintain compliance with REIT tax rules, the Company utilizes TRSs for various revenue generating or
investment activities. The TRSs” are consolidated by the Company. The activities and tax related provisions, assets
and labilities are not material.

The status of cash dividends for the year ended December 31, 2006 related to Series G preferred stock is 100%
ordinary income, and the status of cash dividends distributed for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005, and 2004
related to common stock and Series F preferred siock are classified for tax purposes as follows:

L2006 2005 2004
Commeon stock: !
Ordinary income.......oveervvnneee. + 100.00% 74.91% 41.40%
Capital gains......ccoeveecnirnnncnins 0.00% 25.09% 58.60%
Return of capital.eccoeeerorovee | 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%
100.00% 100,00% 100.00%
2006 2005 2004
Series F Preferred stock: '
Ordinary income.......crureervvnee. 100.00% 74.91% 41.40%
Capital gains.......coevecemrereron. | 0.00% 25.09% 58.60%
Return of capital........cc.ococoveeran [ 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%

C100.00%  100.00%  100.00%

() Preferred Stock

The Company classifies its Series G Cumulative Convemble Preferred Stock (“Series G Preferred Stock™) based on
Emerging lssues Task Force Topic D-98, (“EITF D-98") “Classification and Measurement of Redeemable
Securities.” The Series G Preferred Stock contains fundamental change provisions that allow the holder to redeem
the preferred stock for cash if certain events OCCurt. The redemption under these provisions is not solely within the
Company’s control, thus the Company has classified the Series G Preferred Stock as temporary equity in the
accompanying consolidated balance sheets. :

The Company classifies its Series F Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Stock (“Series F Preferred Stock™) based on
EITF D-98. The Series F Preferred Stock contains fundamental change provisions that allow the holder to redeem the
preferred stock for cash if certain events occur. The redemption under these provisions is within the Company’s
control, and thus the Company has classified the Series F Preferred Stock as permanent equity in the accompanying
consolidated balance sheets, i
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(k) Stock-based Compensation

Effective January 1. 2006, the Company adopted the provisiéns of SFAS No. 123 Revised (“SFAS No. 123(R)"},
“Share-Based Payment”, a revision of SFAS No. 123 using the modified prospective approach. Effective January 1.
2004, the Company adopted the fair value method of accounting for its stock-based compensation plans using the
retroactive restatement method as provided by SFAS No. 123 (see Note 2(n)). SFAS No. 123(R} requires companies
to recognize in the income statement the grant-date fair value of stock options and other equity based compensation
issued to employees. The average fair value of stock options granted for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005
and 2004 was $17.40, $10.06 and $8.84 per share, respectively, and was estimated on the date of grant using the
Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following weighted average assumptions used for grants:

2006 2005 2004
SEOCK PIICE..ovvvvrrrrvarisarresssicsseermsssresensrieesssessineacnsennennes $101.01-8132.62 $69.11-891.88 $62.34-$84.46
Risk-free interest rates.......ociinnerreivesiveesissnssiesss s 4.45%-5.15% 3.64%-4.50% 3.34%-3.94%
Expected lIVES......ccovvriinsiniiirecs s sen s rnsraisnannes 4-7 years 5-6 years 5 years
B0 FX ] 113 OSSR OT IR 18.44%-18.54%  18.09%-18.54% 19.07%-19.14%
Dividend yield....cooo i 3.12%-4.29% 4.22%-5.13% 4.26%-5.07%

The Company has adopted an incentive program involving the issuance of Series Z Incentive Units and Series Z-1
Incentive Units {collectively referred to as “Z Units”) of limited partnership interest in the Operating Partnership.
Vesting in the Z Units is based on performance criteria established in the plan. The criteria can be revised at the
beginning of the year by the Board's Compensation Committee if the Committee deems that the plan's criterion is
unachievable for any given year. The sale of Z units is contractually prohibited and cannot be converted into
Operating Partnership units until certain conditions are met or 15 years after the inception of the plan. The estimated
fair value of a Z unit is determined on the grant date and considers the company's current stock price, the dividends
that are not paid on unvested units and a marketability discount for the 8 to 15 years of illiquidity. Compensation
expense is calculated by taking annual vesting increases multiplied by the estimated fair value as of the grant date less
its $1.00 purchase price.

(I} Legal costs

Legal costs associated with matters arising out of the normal course of our business are expensed as incurred. 1egal
costs incurred in connection with non-recurring litigation that is not covered by insurance are accrued when amounts
are probable and estimable.

(m) Accounting Estimates and Reclassifications

The preparation of consolidated financial statements, in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting
principles (“GAAP™), requires the Company to make estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of
assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses and related disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities. On an on-going
basis, the Company evaluates its estimates, including those related to acquiring, developing and assessing the
carrying values of its real estate properties, its investments in and advances to joint ventures and affiliates, its notes
receivable and its qualification as a REIT. The Company bases its estimates on historical experience, current market
conditions, and on various other assumptions that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual
results may vary from those estimates and those estimates could be different under different assumptions or
conditions.

Certain reclassifications have been made to prior year balances in order to conform to the current year presentation.
Such reclassifications have no impact on reported earnings, total assets or total liabilities.

(n) New Accounting Pronouncements

In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 123(R). This statement is a revision of SFAS No. 123, “Accounting
for Stock-Based Compensation”, and supersedes APB No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees”. The
Statement requires companies to recognize in the income statement the grant-date fair value of stock options and
other equity based compensation issued to employees. We adopted the provisions of SFAS No. 123(R) effective
January 1, 2006 using the modified prospective approach. The adoption of this Statement did not have a material
impact on our financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

In June 2005, the FASB ratified the EITF’s consensus on Issue No. 04-5 “Determining Whether a General Partner,
or the General Partners as a Group, Controls a Limited Partnership or Similar Entity When the Limited Partners
Have Cerain Rights.” This consensus establishes the presumption that general partners in a limited partnership
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control that limited partnership regardiess of th;e extent of the general partners’ ownership interest in the limited
partnership. The consensus further establishes that the rights of the limited pariners can overcome the presumption of
control by the general partners, if the limited partners have either (a) the substantive ability to dissolve (liquidate) the
limited partnership or otherwise remove the general partners without cause or {b) substantive participating rights.
Whether the presumption of control is overcome is a matter of judgment based on the facts and circumstances, for
which the consensus provides additional guidance. This consensus applies to limited partnerships or similar entities,
such as limited liability companies that have governing provisions that are the functional equivalent of a limited
partnership. This consensus was applicable to the Company for new or modified partnerships in 2005, and is
otherwise applicable to existing partnerships effective January 1, 2006. The adoption of this consensus did not have a
material impact on our consolidated financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

In April 2006, the FASB issued FASB Staff Pozsition {(“FSP™) FIN 46R-6, “Determining the Variability to Be
Considered in Applying FASB Interpretation No. 46 (R).” This FSP addresses certain implementation issues related to
FIN 46R. Specifically, FSP FIN 46R-6 addresses how a reporting enterprise should determine the variability to be
considered in applying FIN 46R. The vanab111ty that is considered in applymg FIN 46R affects the determination of
(a) whether an entity is a variable interest entity (VIE), (b} which interests are “variable interests” in the entity, and
(c) which party, if any, is the primary beneficiary of the VIE. That variability affects any calculation of expected
losses and expected residual returns, if such a calculation is necessary. The Company is required to apply the
guidance in this FSP prospectively to all entities (inciuding newly created entities) and 10 all entities previously
required to be analyzed under FIN 46R when a “‘reconsideration event™ has occurred, effective July 1, 2006. The
Company will evaluate the impact of this Staff Posmon at the time any such “reconsideration event” occurs, and for

any new entities.
I

In July 2006, the FASB issued FASB lnterprelélion No. 48 (“FIN 48”), “Accounting for Uncertainty in Income
Taxes-an Interpretation of FASB Statement 109.” FIN 48 increases the relevancy and comparability of financial
reporting by clarifying the way companies account for uncertainty in measuring income taxes. FIN 48 prescribes a
comprehensive model for how a company should recognize, measure, present, and disclose in its financial statements
uncertain tax positions that the company has taken or expects to take on a tax return. This Interpretation only allows
the benefit of an uncertain tax position to be included in the calculation of tax liabilities and expenses if a company
concludes that it is more likely than not that its adopted tax position will prevail if challenged by tax authorities. FIN
48 is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2006, We do not believe that the adoption of this
Interpretation will have a material impact on our financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

|
In September 2006, the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) issued Staff Accounting Bulletin (“SAB™)
No. 108, “Considering the Effects of Prior Yeaﬁ Misstatements when Quantifying Misstatements in Current Year
Financial Statements.” SAB No. 108 was issued to address diversity in practice in quantifying financial statement
misstatements. Current practice allows for the €valuation of materiality on the basis of either (1) the error quantified
as the amount by which the current year incomé staternent was misstated (“rollover method”) or (2) the cumulative
error quantified as the cumulative amount by which the current year balance sheet was misstated (“iron curtain
method”). The guidance provided in SAB No, 108 requires both methods to be used in evaluating materiality (“dual
approach”™). SAB No. 108 permits companies to initially apply its provisions either by (1) restating prior financial
statements as if the dual approach had always béen used or (2) recording the cumulative effect of initially applying
the “dual approach” as adjustments to the carrying values of assets and liabilities as of January 1, 2006 with an
offsetting adjustment recorded to the opening balance of retained eamnings. The adoption of this SAB did not have a
material impact on our consolidated financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

(3) Real Estate ‘

|
{(a) Sales of Real Estate and Assets Held for Stille

The Company recognizes sales of real estate when a contract has been executed, a closing has occurred, the buyer’s
initial and continuing investment is adequate to demonstrate a commitment to pay for the property and the Company
does not have a substantial continuing mvolvem‘pnl in the property, Each property is considered a separately
identifiable compenent of the Company and is reported in discontinued operations when the operations and cash
flows of the property have been (or will be) ellmmated from the ongoing operations of the Company as a result of a
disposal transaction,

v

For the year ended December 31, 2004, the gainon the sale of The Essex on Lake Merritt apartment community was
$12.9 million, of which $5.0 million was deferred in 2004 and recognized in 2005 on the cost recovery method when
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the cash was received. The $5.0 million was deferred because it was due and payable to the Company only upon the
sale of units following a condominium conversion. The sale transaction was included in continuing operations as we
continued to manage the rented apartment units in the project during the conversion process.

For the year ended December 31, 2003, the gain on the sale of The Eastridge apartment community was $28.5
million. An additional $2.2 million was deferred as of December 31, 2006 and 2005. The $2.2 million was deferred
because it was due and payable to the Company only upon the sale of units following a condominium conversion.
This transaction was included in discontinued operations as we had no other ongoing invelvement with the Property.

As of December 31, 2006, the City Heights apartment community was classified as held for sale, and the property
was sold to a third-party for a gain during February 2007.

(b) Investments

The Company has investments in a number of affiliates, which are accounted for under the equity method. The
affiliates own and operate apartment communities.

Essex Apartment Value Fund, L.P. (“Fund I”), is an investment fund organized by the Company in 2001 to add value
through rental growth and asset appreciation, utilizing the Company’s acquisition, development, redevelopment and
asset management capabilities. Fund | was considered fully invested in 2003. An affiliate of the Company, Essex
VFGP, L.P. (“VFGP™), is a 1% general partner and is a 20.4% limited partner. The Operating Partnership owns a
999 limited partnership interest in VFGP. Since its formation, Fund I acquired or developed ownership interests in
19 apartment communities, representing 5,406 apartment units.

In 2004, Fund I sold a recently developed property, Palermo apartments, to a third-party for $58.2 million. Fund I
also entered into a purchase and sale agreement (the “Agreement™) with a third-party for the sale of sixteen of its
apartment communities, totaling 4,646 units, and with respect to Coronado at Newport North and South, both Fund
I's and the Company’s separate ownership interests, for a contract price of approximately $7:56.0 million. Pursuant
to the Agreement, Fund 1 sold fourteen communities in 2004, including the Company’s approximate 49.9%
ownership interest in Coronado at Newport — North. The remaining two apartment communities under the
Agreement closed in 2005. Coronado at Newport - South, a 715-unit apartment community in Newport Beach,
California was sold in the first quarter of 2005 for $106.0 million and River Terrace, a newly developed 250-unit
apartment community in Santa Clara was sold in the third quarter of 2005 for $63.0 million. The remaining asset in
Fund 1, the Irvine, California land parcel, was sold in the fourth quarter of 2005 for approximately $10.5 million. As
of December 31, 2006, Fund | was in the process of liquidation.

The Fund I dispositions in 2004, combined with the sale of its 49.9% direct ownership interest in Coronado at
Newport North, resulted in the Company recognizing equity income from investments of $38.8 million. The
Company’s share of the gain on the sale of real estate of $39.3 million was reduced by a $0.5 million non-cash loss
on the early extinguishment of debt related to the write-off of unamortized loan fees. The Company’s general
partnership interest provides for “promote distributions” upon attainment of certain financial return benchmarks.
During 2004, the Company recognized $18.3 million in promote income from Fund I which is recorded in
management and other fees from affiliates in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations. The Fund [
dispositions in 2005 resulted in the Company recognizing equity income from the gain on the sale of investments of
$18.1 million, and $7.0 million in promote income. During 2006, the Company recorded an additional $1.2 million
in promote income related to the dispositions of assets in 2005.

Essex Apartment Value Fund 11, L.P. (“Fund II”), has eight institutional investors, including the Company, with
combined partner equity commitments of $265.9 million. Essex has committed $75.0 million to Fund II, which
represents a 28.2% interest as general partner and limited partner. Fund I1 expects to utilize leverage equal to
approximately 65% of the estimated value of the underlying real estate. Fund II invests in apartment communities in
the Company’s targeted West Coast markets with an emphasis on investment opportunities in the Seattle metropolitan
area and the San Francisco Bay Area. Subject to certain exceptions, Fund IT has been Essex’s primary investment
vehicle during 2005 and 2006. As of October 2006, Fund I1 was fully invested and closed for any future acquisitions
or development. As of December 31, 2006, Fund I1 owned 11 apartment communities and 3 development projects.
No properties have been sold by Fund 1. Consistent with Fund 1, Essex records revenue for its asset management,
property management, development and redevelopment services when earned, and promote income if Fund 11
exceeds certain financial return benchmarks.
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% |
In August 2005, the Company purchased 500,000 Series A Preferred shares in Multifamily Technolegy Solutions,

Inc. (“MTS”). The Company owns less than 5% of the voting stock of MTS and therefore accounts for this
investment on the cost method. '

During 2006, the Company made contributions to two developments with joint venture partners totaling $7.5 million,
One of the developments is located in San Francisco Bay Area and one of the developments is located in Southern
' California. As of December 31, 2006, both of these developments are still in the predevelopment stage.

_ 2006 2005
Investments in joint ventures accounted for under the equity
method of accounting:
| Limited partnership interest of 20.4% and general partner
, interest of 1% in Essex Apartment Value Fund, L.P (Fund D......ccoevievvcvvvcccieeece. § - $ 582
| Limited partnership interest of 27.2% and general bartner
interest of 1% in Essex Apartment Value Fund ll"r LP(Fund [D)....cccervrimirenirenrnann, 45,598 19,340
Preferred limited partnership interest in Mountain Vista
Apartments (A)....cveiiiersieereeeenin 6,806 6,806
Development JOIML VEIIUIES. ...c...orvoereriireineaces e tronceeareses s sasasss st sasscasssesemsesaasssensenn 1.547 -
; S FELLS -
‘ 59,951 26,728
Investments accounted for under the cost method of accounting:
Series A Preferred Stock interest in Multifamily TTch_nology Solutions, Inc............... 500 500
Total INVESIMENS. ...cucevvierriseeeceeers et sesone ‘ .................................................... $ 60,451 $ 27,228

(A) The preferred limited partnership interest is heldjin an entity that includes an affiliate of The Marcus & Millichap Company
(“TMMC"). TMMC’s Chairman is also the Chairman of the Company.

The combined summarized financial information of investments in joint ventures, which are accounted for under the
equity method, is as follows:;
December 31,

2006 2008
Balance sheets: ‘
Real estate and real estate under development.........lcooriiicccceeeeveee,. 3 576,134 $ 431,655
Other assets......... 20,681 18,656

Total assets $ 596,815 § 450,311

Mortgage notes payable..............cccnnnreeeeeieicnnen, : ................................................. £ 301,665 $ 268,325
Other liabilities....... v ————— 74,793 83,979
e etisesse s, 220,357 98,007
Total liabilities and partners' f:qmty'I $ 596,815 $ 450,311
Company's share ofeqmty' ................................................. $ 56,951 b 26,728

Years ended
i December 31,
l

2006 2005 2004
Statements of operations:
Property TeVenues.........ccouervenas S SO 5 43,031 S 28,156 $ 54522
Property OPErating @XPEMSES...virrrrerrriersiereies it s errsr e s rrasssraasssss st st messatsrsnsesensene (20,464) (11,761} (25,327)
Net OPETatiNg INCOME. .....oviviiirririre s erreecerecresrressrrraereressseres s ssssessssrssereninserssesrassssens 22,567 16,395 29,195
Gain on the sale of real estate..... T SO PO PO - 41,985 141,739
ELELESE EXPEIISCerrr - oorrrroeoosseeeososreeeeoe oo et (17,000) (11,042) (13,858)
Depreciation and amortization...........c.ocweivinneeens 1 ................................................. (12,395) (7,037) (13,820)
Total Net (L0SS) IMCOMIE. .. .....o.cereeerseese e cesa e s ranstsaasse s nae e h) {6,828) § 40,301 $ 143,256
Company's share of net (loss) income..............oco........ et eet e ne s e $ (1,503) § 18,553 5 40,683




(c) Real Estate Under Development

The Company defines real estate under development activities as new properties that are being constructed, or are
newly constructed and, in the case of development communities, are in a phase of lease-up and have not yet reached
stabilized operations; or, in the case TRS development projects, have not yet been sold. As of December 31, 2006, the
Company had two development project comprised of 513 units for an estimated cost of $167.3 million, of which
$126.9 million remains to be expended. The Company has also incurred $0.7 million in costs related to a joint
venture development with a third party.

The Company defines the predevelopment pipeline as new properties in negotiation or in the entitlement process with
a high likelihood of becoming development activities. As of December 31, 2006, the Company had development
communities aggregating 1,845 units that were classified as predevelopment projects. The estimated total cost of the
predevelopment pipeline at December 31, 2006 is $557.0 million, of which $514.8 million remains to be expended.

The Company had four other development projects owned by TRS entities that are under development aggregating
120 units. The estimated total cost of the other development projects at December 31, 2006 is $42.0 million, of which
$21.8 million remains to be expended.

(d) Depreciation

Beginning in 2003, the Company implemented an upgrade to its subsidiary ledger for accounting for fixed assets.
The Company completed this system upgrade in the first quarter of 2004. In conjunction with this system upgrade,
the Company determined that cumulative depreciation expense generated by consolidated or equity method rental
properties was understated by approximately $2.1 million through December 31, 2003 and this amount was recorded
during the quarter ended March 31, 2004.

(4) Notes Receivable and Other Receivables from Related Parties

Notes receivable and other receivables from related parties consist of the following as of December 31, 2006 and
2005:

2006 2005
Related party receivables, unsecured:
Loans to officers made prior to July 31, 2002, secured,
bearing interest of 8%, due beginning April 2007.......cc.ccoimvvcinvcnnicncicineens $ 375 $ 375
Other related party receivables, substantially due on demand 834 798
Total notes and other receivable from related parties $ 1,209 3 1,173

o

Other related party receivables consist primarily of accrued interest income on related party notes receivable from
loans to officers, advances, and accrued management fees from joint venture investees. The Company’s officers and
directors do not have an economic interest in these joint venture investees.

(5) Notes and Other Receivables

Notes receivables, secured by real estate, and other receivables consist of the following as December 31, 2006 and
2005:

2006 2005
Note receivable, secured, bearing interest at 12%, due June 2008...............ccvveenne. % 2,193 $ 2,193
Note receivable, secured, bearing interest at LIBOR + 3.69%, due June 2009........... 7,309 -
Note receivable, secured, bearing interest at LIBOR + 4.65%, due June 2008........... 7,807 -
OUHET TECEIVABIES. ... it iieiteieii e i s e ces b e et ae et eseseestae b e sssesr e e seraseesneen saeennrersmen sbssnats 886 3,022

b 18,195 $ 5,215

Included in other receivables as of December 31, 2005, was an amount due from the Vista Pointe joint venture for
$2.176. A cash distribution for the entire amount was received from escrow in July 2006.
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(6) Related Party Transactions

The Company’s Chairman, George Marcus, is also the Chairman of TMMC, which is a real estate brokerage firm.
During the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005, and 2004, the Company paid brokerage commissions totaling
$835, 80, and $350 to TMMC on the purchase z‘md sales of real estate. The commissions are either capitalized as a
cost of acquisition or are reflected as a reductlon of the gain on sales of real estate in the accompanying consolidated

statements of operations.

Management and other fees from affiliates 1ncludes management, promote, development and redevelopment fees
totaling 35,030, $10,951, and $23,146 for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005, and 2004, respectively.

During the fourth quarter of 2006, the Company bought the outstanding common stock of EMC from four officers of
the Company for $260, which approximates the fair value of common stock. The Company has a 100% ownership in
EMC as of December 31, 2006.

(7) Discontinued Operations

In the normal course of business, the Company will receive offers for sale of its properties, either solicited or
unselicited. For those offers that are accepted, the prospective buyer will usually require a due diligence period before
consummation of the transaction. It is not unusual for matters to arise that result in the withdrawal or rejection of the
offer during this process. Essex classifies real éstate as "held for sale” when all criteria under SFAS No, 144,
"Aceounting for the Impairment or Disposal of %ong-Lived Assets” (“SFAS 1447} have been met.

[n June 2004, Golden Village RV Park, a property located in Hemet, California and acquired as part of the Sachs
Portfolio, met the "held for sale" criteria under SFAS 144. Upon reclassification as held for sale at June 30, 2004,
the Company presented Golden Village at its BStlmatLd fair value less disposal costs which resulted in an impairment
charge of approximately $0.7 million. Such falr value was determined using the contractual sales price pursuant to
the contract with the buyer of the property. In July 2004, the Company sold Golden Village for $6.7 million. No
gain or loss was recognized on the sale, and thd Company has recorded the impairment charge and the operations for
Golden Village as part of discontinued operations in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations.

In January 20035, the Company sold four non- core assets that were acquired in conjunction with the Sachs Portfolio
merger in 2002 for $14.9 million. The four non-core assets were: The Riviera Recreational Vehicle Park and a
Manufactured Home Park, located in Las Vegaé Nevada, for which the Company had previously entered into master
lease and option agreements with an unrelated entlty, and two small office buildings, located in San Diego California,
aggregating 7,200 square feet. The Company recorded a gain of $0.7 miilion on the sale of these assets. The
Company has recorded the gain on sale and operatlons for these assets as part of discontinued operations in the

. . | .
accompanying consolidated statements of operations.

In June 2005, the Company sold Eastridge apartments, a 188-unit apartment community located in San Ramon,
California for approximately $47.5 million. In ‘conjunctlon with the sale, the Company deferred $2.2 million of the
gain on the sale of Eastridge because Essex, through a TRS, originated a partlclpatmb loan to the buyer in the amount
of approx1mately $2.2 million, which allows thé Company to financially participate in the buyer’s condominium
conversion plan. The gain on the sale of the Eastndge property net of the deferral of the $2.2 participating loan was
$28.5 million. The Company has recorded the ‘gam on sale and operations for Eastridge apartments as part of
discontinued operations in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations,

In January 2006, the Company sold Vista Capri? East and Casa Tierra apartment communities for approximately $7.0
million and in March 2006, the Company sold Diamond Valley, a Recreational Vehicle Park, for approximately $1.3
million. The total combined gain was $3.1 million. Company has recorded the gain on sale and operations for the

three properties as part of discontinued operatiqns in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations.

1
In June 2006, the unconsolidated joint venture property, Vista Pointe, a 286-unit apartment community located in
Anaheim, California, was sold for approximately $46 million. The Company’s share of the proceeds from the
transaction totaled $19.3 milhon, resulting in an $8.8 million gain on the sale, and an additional $8.2 million for fees
and a promote distribution. The Company has recorded the ground lease income and all related gains and fees from
the Vista Pointe joint venture as part of discontinued operations in the accompanying consolidated statements of
operations.

In December 2006, the Company sold Emeral‘d Palms, a 152-unit apartment community located in San Diego for

approximately $20.5 million, for a gain of approximately $6.7 million. The Company has recorded the gain on sale
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and operations for Emerald Palms apartments as part of discontinued operations in the accompanying consolidated
statements of operations.

During 2006, the Company has sold 45 of 66 available condominiums at the Peregrine Point property. The Company
recorded a gain of approximately $2.0 million net of taxes and expenses during 2006. The Company has recorded the
gain on sale of condominiums and operations for Peregrine Point apartments as part of discontinued operations in the
accompanying consolidated statements of operations.

As of December 31, 2006, City Heights apartments, a 687-unit community located in Los Angeles was classified as
held for sale, and was sold 10 a third-party during February 2007. The Company has recorded the operations for City
Heights apartments as part of discontinued operations in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations.

The components of discontinued operations are outlined below and include the results of operations for the respective
periods that the Company owned such assets, as described above.

2006 2005 2004

Rental reVenues. ......ooooviiviinviniiiniiiann, $ 11,261 8 13,531  § 14,484
Interest and other income............cooevvnen. 41 1,231 1,911
Equity income co-investments................. 238 477 547
Revenues 11,540 15,239 16,942
Property operating expenses................... (4,223) (4.927) {5,369)
IETest eXPensSe. . .vuvevree e eneeeennaass (2,314) (2,830) (2,314}
Depreciation and amortization................. (2,889) (3,301) (4,342)
MiInOTILY INLETESIS. ... evuivn e cneanicnnaenens (850) (594) 719
Expenses (10,276) (11,652) (11,306}
[ncome from real estate sold 1,264 3,587 5,636
Gain on sale of real estate...................... 20,505 29,219 -
Promote interest and fees....................... 8,221 - -
Minority INterests......o.ovveiiiiianinenciinn (2,579 (2,741) -
26,147 26,478 -

Impairmment loss.............ooin, - - (718)
Income from discontinued operations $ 27411 8 30,065 3 4,918
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(8) Mortgage Notes Payable and Exchangeable Bonds

Mortgage notes payable and exchangeable bonas consist of the following as of December 31, 2006 and 2005;
2006 2005

Mortgage notes payable to a pension fund, secured by deeds of trust, bearing
interest at rates ranging from 6.62% to 8.18%, interest only payments due
monthly for periods ranging fram October 2001 thjrough November 2004,
principal and interest payments due monthly there?.ﬁer, and maturity dates
ranging from October 2008 through October 2010. Under certain conditions
a portion of these loans can be converted to an unsecured note payable.

Three loans are cross-collateralized by a total of 13 properties.......ccccocovvevcvecercecee,. § 228,663 $ 232,197

Mortgage notes payable, secured by deeds of trust, bearing interest at ranges

ranging from 4.14% to 7.90%, principal and interést payments due monthly,

and maturity dates ranging from June 2007 through August 2015..........ccovvvveenrvrionnee 645,702 653,146
Mortgage notes payable - held for sale, secured by deed of trust, bearing interest

at 6.90%, principal and interest payments due monthly, and maturity date of

January 2008. Repaid in February 2007...............] et e e e 32,850 32,850
Multifamily housing mortgage revenue bonds secured by deeds of trust on

rental properties and guaranteed by collateral pledge agreements, payable

monthly at a variable rate as defined in the Loan Agreement

(approximately 4.60% at December 2006 and 3.20% at December 2005),

plus credit enhancement and underwriting fees raniging from approximately

1.2% to 1.9%. The bonds are convertible to a fixed rate at the Company's

option. Among the terms imposed on the properties, which are security for

the bonds, is a requirement that 20% of the units are subject to tenant income

criteria. Principal balances are due in full at various maturity dates from July

2020 through March 2034. These bonds are subjeét to various interest rate cap

agreements which limit the maximum interest raté with respect to such bonds......... 186,339 186,725
Exchangeable bonds, unsecured obligations of the Operating Partnership and guaranteed

by the Company, bearing interest at 3.625% per yé:ar, payable November 1 and May |

of each year, beginning May 1, 2006 which matur? on November 1, 2025. The bonds

are exchangeable at the option of the holder into cash and, in certain circumstances

at Essex's option, shares of the Company’s common stock at an initial exchange price

of $103.25 per share subject to certain adjustmentls. These bonds will also be

exchangeable prior to November 1, 2020 under cettain circumstances. The bonds are

redeemable at the Company’s option for cash at any time on or after November 4,

2010 and are subject to repurchase for cash at the bption of the holder on November 1st

in years 2010, 2015, and 2020 or upon the occurrence of certain events..................... 225,000 225,000
|
[ $ 1,318,554 $ 1,329918

!

The aggregate scheduled principal payments of mortgage notes payable and exchangeable bonds are as follows:

2007 oo e S 69.108
| 2008 ..ot ess et reee e e e et st e 179,494
| 2009 oo e e see e e et 24,587

2010.cc..ccvvveemessimisrsne s s s 156,875
| 7 RIS A 155,528
| TREIBMET. .o srssssssssrsssnns T, 732,962
! i $ 1318,554

1

|

Repayment of debt before the scheduled maturity date could result in prepayment penalties.
|
(9) Lines of Credit ;

The Company has two outstanding lines of credit in the aggregate committed amount of $300 million. In March
2006, the Company renegotiated its revolving line of credit to increase the maximum principal amount to $200
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million from $185 million. Additionally, the maturity date was extended from April 2007 to March 2009, with an
option for a one-year extension, and the underlying rate, based on a tiered rate structure tied to the Company’s
corporate ratings, was reduced to LIBOR plus 0.8% from LIBOR plus 1.0%. The balance on this line of credit was
$0 as of December 31, 2006 and 2005. We also have a $100 million credit facility from Freddie Mac, which is
secured by eight of Essex's apartment communities. As of December 31, 2006 and 2005, we had $93.0 and $25.0
million outstanding under this line of credit, respectively, which yielded an average interest rate of 6.2% and 3.6% as
of December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively, and matures in January 2009. The underlying interest rate on this line
is between 55 and 59 and basis points over the Freddie Mac Reference Rate. The credit agreements contain debt
covenants related to limitations on indebtedness and liabilities, maintenance of minimum levels of consolidated
earnings before depreciation, interest and amortization and maintenance of minimum tangible net worth. The
Company was in compliance with the line of credit covenants as of December 31, 2006 and 2005.

(10) Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities

As of December 31, 2006 the Company had entered into nine forward-starting interest rate swaps totaling a notional
amount of $450 million with interest rates ranging from 4.9% to 5.9% and settlements dates ranging from April 2007
to July 2011. The Company entered into two forward-starting swap contracts during 2005 for a notional amount of
$100 million, and seven forward-starting swap contracts during 2006 for a notional amount of $350 million. These
derivatives qualify for hedge accounting and will economically hedge the cash flows associated with the refinancing
of debt that matures between April 2007 and July 2011, The fair value of the derivatives decreased $2.9 million
during the year ended December 31, 2006, and the fair value of the derivatives increased $660 for the year ended
December 31, 2005. The changes in the fair values of the derivatives are reflected in accumulated other
comprehensive (loss) income in the Company’s consolidated financial statements. No hedge ineffectiveness on cash
flow hedges was recognized during the year ended December 31, 2006 and 2005.

(11) Lease Agreements

During the fourth quarter of 2003, the Company entered into lease and purchase option agreements with unrelated
third parties related to its five recreational vehicle (*RV*") parks that were comprised of 1,717 spaces, and two
manufactured housing communities that contain 607 sites. At the time of agreement, the unrelated third parties had
an option to purchase the assets in approximately four years for approximately $41.7 million — a 5% premium to the
gross book value of the assets. The Company received $0.5 million as consideration for entering into the option
agreement and a non-refundable upfront payment of $4.0 million, which was recorded as deferred revenue and has
been amortized into income over the five year lease term. Under the lease agreements, Essex receives fixed monthly
lease payments and passes through all executory costs such as property taxes. In July 2004, the Company sold
Golden Village RV Park and in January 2005, the Company sold Riviera RV Resort and Riviera Mobile Home Park.
As of December 31, 2006, the Company still owns two RV parks totaling 338 spaces, and one manufactured housing
community that contains 157 sttes.

The Company is a lessor under a land lease associated with a property located in Southern California. The land lease
entitles the Company to receive fixed annual land lease payments totaling a minimum of $477 over a thirty-four year
term ended 2034. The Company is also a lessor of an office building located in Southern California. The tenants’
lease terms expire at various times through 2009 with average annual lease payments of approximately $1.3 million.
The future minimum nen-cancelable base rent to be received under these operating leases for each of the years ending
after December 31, 2006 are summarized as follows:
Future
Minimum
Rent
2007, e B 2,537
2008, 2,275
2009, et e 1,330
901
564
628
h 8,235

2012 and thereafter....

The carrying value of the rental properties subject to these long-term leases as of December 31, 2006 and 2005 is
$32,625 and $34,957, respectively.

The Company is also a lessee of an office building located in Palo Alto next to the Company’s headquarters. The
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lease term expires on September 30, 2009, with average annual lease payments of approximately $0.2 million.
|

(12) Equity Transactions ‘

As of December 31, 2006, the Company, either directly or through the Operating Partnership, has the following

cumulative preferred securities outstanding:

Liquidation

Description Issue Date, Preference
7.875% Series B February 1998 1,200,000 units  $ 60,000
7.875% Series B April 1998 400,000 units 20,000
7.875% Series D July 1999 2,000,000 units  § 50,000
7.8125% Series F September 2003 1,000,000 shares $ 25,000
4.875% Series G July 2006 5,980,000 shares $ 149,500

I
Dividends on the securities are payable quarterly. The holders of the securities have limited voting rights if the
required dividends are in arrears. The Series B and D preferred units represent preferred interests issued by the
Operating Partnership and are included in minority interests in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. The
preferred units can be exchanged for Series B and D preferred stock of the Company under limited conditions.

In September 2003, the Company issued 1,000,000 shares of its Series F Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Stock
(“Series F Preferred Stock™) at a fixed price of $24.664 per share, a discount from the $25.00 per share liquidation
value of the shares. The shares pay quarterly distributions at an annualized rate of 7.8125% per vear of the
liquidation value and are redeemable by the Company on or after September 23, 2008. The shares were issued
pursuant to the Company’s existing shelf registration statement. The Company used the net proceeds trom this sale
of Series F Preferred Stock to redeem all of the 9.125% Series C Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Units (the “Series
C Preferred Units™) of Essex Portfolio, L.P., of which the Company is the general partner.

In January 2004, the Operating Partnership restructured its previously issued $50,000, 9.30% Series D Cumulative
Redeemable Preferred Units ("Series D Units"), and its previously issued $80,000, 7.875% Series B Cumulative
Redeemable Preferred Units ("Series B Units"). ‘The existing distribution rate of 9.30% of the Series D Units
continued until July 27, 2004 — the end of the non-call period. Effective July 28, 2004, the distribution rate on the
Series D Units was reduced to 7.875%. The date that the Series D Units can first be redeemed at the Company's
option was extended by six years to July 28, 2010. The date that the Series B Units can first be redeemed at the
Company's option was extended from February 6, 2003 to December 31, 2009.

During the third quarter of 2006, the Company Slold 5,980,000 shares of 4.875% Sertes G Cumulative Convertible
Preferred Stock for gross proceeds of $149.5 million. Holders may convert Series G Preferred Stock into shares of
the Company’s cotnmon stock subject to certain conditions. The conversion rate will injtially be .1830 shares of
common stock per the $25 share liquidation preferencc., which is equivalent to an initial conversion price of
approximately $136.62 per share of common stoFk (the conversion rate will be subject to adjustment upon the
occurrence of specified events). On or after July 31, 2011, the Company may, under certain circumstances, cause
some or all of the Series G Preferred Stock to be! convcrted into that number of shares of common stock at the then
prevailing conversion rate. 1

|
]
Additional Significant Equity Transactions |
!

In August 2004, the Company acquired Vista Belvedere, a 76-unit apartment community located in the Marin County
in the town of Tiburon, California. Essex acquired the apartment community in an UpREIT structured transaction for
an agreed upon value of approximately $17.1 million. The Company issued 73,088 limited operating partnership
units to the prior owner and during the close of €scrow the Company paid-off the existing debt on the property.

In October 2006, the Company acquired Belmont Terrace, a 71-unit community located in Belmont, California. Essex
acquired the apartment community in an UpREIT structured transaction for an agreed upon value of approximately
$14.7 million. The Company issued 72,685 limi:ted operating partnership units to the prior owners and during the
close of escrow the Company paid-off the existing debt on the property.

During 2006, the Company issued and sold approximately 427,700 shares of common stock for $48.3 million, net of
fees and commissions under its Controlled Equity Offering program. Under this program, the Company may from

F-23




time to time sell shares of common stock into the existing trading market at current market prices, and the Company
used the net proceeds from such sales to primarily fund the development and redevelopment pipelines.

(13) Net Income Per Common Share

Basic and diluted income from continuing operations per share are calculated as foltows for the years ended

December 31:

2006 2005 2004
Weighted- Per Weighted- Per Weighted- Per
average Common average Common average Common
Common Share Common Share Common Share
Income Shares Amount Income Shares Amount Income Shares Amount
Basic:
Inceme from continuing operations
available to common stockholders....  § 30,192 23,081,682 § 1.3t 47,608 23,038,561 § 2.08 $ 72,823 22921,225 % 318
Income from discontinued operations.. 27411 23,081,682 1.19 30,065 23,038,561 1.30 4918 22,921,225 0.21
57,603 2.50 77,763 3.38 77,741 3.39
Effect of Dilutive Securities (1)......... 469,360 - 349,942 - 235,076
Diluted:
Income from continuing operations
available to common stockholders. ... 30,192 23,551,042 1.28 47,608 23,388,503 2.03 72,823 23,136,301 315
Income from discontinued operations.. 27411 23,551,042 1.17 30,065 23,388,503 1.29 4918 23,156,301 0.21
$ 57,603 $ 245 3 77,763 $ 3.32 ) 77,741 3.36

{1) Weighted convertible limited partnership units of 2,294,391, 2,305,134, and 2,333,935 for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005,
and 2004, respectively, and Series Z incentive units of 184,142 for the year ended December 31 2006, were not included in the
determination of diluted EPS because they were anti-dilutive. The Company has the ability and intent to redeem Down REIT Limited
Partnership units for cash and does not consider them to be comumon stock equivalents.

On or after November 1, 2020, the holders of the 3225 million exchangeable notes may exchange, at the then applicable exchange rate,
the notes for cash and, at Essex’s option, a portion of the notes may be exchanged for Essex common stock; the current exchange rate is
$103.25 per share of Essex common stock. The exchangeable notes will also be exchangeable prior to November 1, 2020, but only
upon the occurrence of certain specified events. During 2006, the weighted average common stock price exceeded the 5103.25 strike
price and therefore common stock issuable upon exchange of the exchangeable notes was included in the diluted share count. The
treasury method was used to determine the shares to be added to the denominator for the calculation of eamings per diluted share.

Stock options of 1,014, 22,229, and 29,500 for 2006, 2003, 2004, respectively, are not included in the diluted eamings per share
calculation because the exercise price of the options was greater than the average market price of the common shares for the three and
nine months ended and, therefore, were anti-dilutive.

5,980,000 shares of cumulative convertible preferred stock Series G has been excluded from diluted earnings per share for 2006 as the
effect was anti-dilutive.

(14) Stock Based Compensation Plans

The Essex Property Trust, Inc. 2004 Stock Incentive Plan provides incentives to attract and retain officers, directors
and key employees. The Stock Incentive Plan provides for the grants of options to purchase a specified number of
shares of common stock or grants of restricted shares of common stock. Under the Stock Incentive Plan, the total
number of shares available for grant is approximately 1,200,000. The 2004 Stock Incentive Plan is administered by
the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors. The Compensation Committee is comprised of independent
directors. The Compensation Committee is authorized to establish the exercise price; however, the exercise price
cannot be less than 100% of the fair market value of the common stock on the grant date. The Company’s options
have a life of ten years. Option grants for officers and employees fully vest between one year and five years after the
grant date.

Stock-based compensation expense for options and under the fair value method totaled approximately $1.1 million,
$0.8 million and $0.6 million, for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively. Stock-based
compensation capitalized for options totaled approximately $0.2 for the year ended December 31, 2006 and $0.0 for
the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively. The intrinsic value of the options exercised totaled $6.0
million, $4.1 million, and $4.2 million, for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005, and 2004, respectively. The
intrinsic value of the options outstanding and fully vested totaled $14.3 million, $10.8 million, and $11.5 million, for
the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005, and 2004, respectively. Total unrecognized compensation cost related to
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unvested share-based compensation granted under the stock option plans totaled $2.0 million as of December 31,
2006, The unrecognized compensation cost is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 3 to 5
years for the stock option plans. ‘

A summary of the status of the Company’s stock option plans as of December 31, 2006, 2005, and 2004 and changes
during the years ended on those dates is presenied below:

2006 2005 2004
| Weighted- Weighted- Weighted-
| average average average
exercise exercise exercise
Shares price Shares price Shares price
Outstanding at beginning of year......... 530,375 ' § 57.73 463,376 i) 47.07 590,231 $ 42.93
Granted......oovcviin, 170,350 ! 106.63 188,800 78.01 49,500 74.10
Exercised......ooovoeenecceceae (90,633) ! 47.57  (103,201) 4347  (142,835) 31871
Forfeited and canceled (39,550} . 80.83 (18,600) 76.70 (33,520) 49.72
Outstanding at end of year................... 570,542 ! 72.60 530,375 57.73 463376 47.07
Options exercisable at year end............ 272,074 i 52.42 248,015 43.77 267,366 40.58

)

The following table summarizes information about stock options outstanding as of December 31, 2006:

Options outstanding Options exercisable
Number Weighted- Number
outstanding average Weighted- exercisable Weighted-
as of remainirjg average as of average
Range of December 31, contractual exercise December 31, exercise
exercise prices 2006 life price 2006 price
$13.26-26.52 600 0.1 years 3 19.08 600 § 19.08
26.52-39.79 78,508 1.9 years 32.67 78,508 32.67
39.78-53.05 113,300 4.8 years 49.06 90,260 49.01
53.05-66.31 48,772 6.7 years 58.96 41,832 59.69
66.31-79.57 106,328 8.1 years 75.68 45,745 76.75
79.57-92.83 62,184 8.5 years 83.24 15,129 82.97
92.83-106.10 42,600 9.2 vears 102.48 - - i
106.10-119.36 111,750 9.4 vears 107.31 - - l
119.36-132.62 6,500 9.9 vears 128.02 - -
570,542 6.9 yeafs 72.60 272,074 52.42

!

Stock-based compensation expense for Z and Z-1 Units, (collectively, “Z Units™) under the fair value method totaled
approximately $1.3 million, $1.6 million and $0.2 million, for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004,
respectively, Stock-based compensation capitalized for Z Units totaled approximately $0.3 million, $0.2 million and
$0.3 million, for the years ended December 3 1, 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively. The intrinsic value of the Z Units
subject to conversion totaled $13.4 million as of December 3 I, 2006. Total unrecognized compensation cost related
Z Units subject to conversion in the future grarflted under the Z Units plans totaled $9.3 million as of December 31,
2006. The unamortized cost is expected to be recognized over the next 4 to 12 years subject to the achievement of

the stated performance criteria. |
|

The issuance of Z Units is administered by the Compensation Committee which has the authority to select
participants and determine the awards to be made up to a maximum of 600,000 Z Units. The conversion ratchet
(accounted for as vesting) of the Z Units into common units, will increase by up 10 10% (up to 20% in certain
circumstances following their initial issuance) effective January 1of each year for each participating executive who
remains employed by the Company if the Company has met a specified “funds from operations” per share target, or
such other target as the Compensation Committee deems appropriate, for the prior year, up to a maximum conversion
ratchet of 100%. The Operating Partnership has the option to redeem Z Units held by any executive whose
employment has been terminated with either common units of the Operating Partnership or shares of the Company’s
common stock based on the then-effective conversion ratchet,

During 2001, the Operating Partnership issuecl; 200,000 Series Z Incentive Units of limited partner interest to eleven
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senior executives of the Company in exchange for a capital commitment of $1.00 per Series Z Incentive Unit, for an
aggregate offering price of $200. The 2001 Z Unit grant had conversion ratchet of 35, 45, and 55 percent as of
January 1, 2004, 2005, and 2006 respectively.

During 2004, the Operating Partnership issued 35,953 Series Z-1 Incentive Units of limited partner interest to
fourteen senior executives of the Company in exchange for cash or a capital commitment of $1.00 per Series Z-1
Incentive Unit, for an aggregate offering price of $96. The 2004 Z Unit grant had a conversion ratchet of 20 percent
upon issuance, and 30 and 40 percent as of January 1, 2005 and 2006, respectively. In 2005 an additional 27,000 Z-1
Units were granted to two senior executives pursuant to the 2004 grant terms with a 20 percent conversion ratio at
issuance, and 30 percent conversion ratchet as of January 1, 2006.

During 2005, the Operating Partnership issued 89,999 Series Z-1 Incentive Units of limited partner interest to
fourteen senior executives of the Company in: exchange for cash or a capital commitment of $1.00 per Series Z-1
Incentive Unit, for an aggregate offering price of $90. The 2005 Z-1 Unit grant had a conversion ratchet of 20
percent as of January 1, 2006.

(15) Shareholder Rights Plan

On November 12, 1998, the Company’s Board of Directors adopted a Stockholder Rights Plan. A dividend of one
right (a Right) per share of commeon stock was distributed to stockholders of record on November 21, 1998. Each
Right, expiring November 11, 2008, represents a right to buy from the Company 1/100th of a share of Series A junior
participating preferred stock at a price of $99.13 per Right.

Generally the Rights will not be exercisable unless a person or group acquires 15% or more, or announces an offer
that could result in acquiring 15% or more, of the Company’s common stock unless such person is or becomes the
beneficial owner of 15% or more of the Company’s outstanding common stock and had a contractual right or the
approval of the Company’s Board of Directors, provided that such percentage shall not be greater than 19.9%.
Following an acquisition of 15% or more of the Company’s common stock, each Right holder, except the 15% or
more shareholder, has the right to receive, upon exercise, shares of common stock vatued at twice the then applicable
exercise price of the Right, unless the 15% or moré shareholder has offered to acquire all of the outstanding shares of
the Company under terms that a majority of the independent directors of the Company have determined to be fair and
in the best interest of the Company and its shareholders.

Similarly, unless certain conditions are met, if the Company engages in a merger or other business combination
foliowing a stock acquisition where it does not survive or survives with a change or exchange of its common stock or
if 50% or more of its assets, earning power or cash flow is sold or transferred, the Rights will become exercisable for
shares of the acquirer’s stock having a value of twice the exercise price.

Generally, Rights may be redeemed for $0.01 each (in cash, common stock or other consideration the Company
deems appropriate) until the tenth day following a public announcement that a 1 5% or greater position has been
acquired of the Company’s stock.

{16) Segment Information

In accordance with FASB No. 131, “Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information” the
Company defines its reportable operating segments as the three geographical regions in which its properties are
located: Southern California, Northern California and Seattle Metro. Excluded from segment revenues are properties
outside of these regions including properties in Portland, Oregon and Houston, Texas, management and other fees
from affiliates, and interest and other income. Non-segment revenues and net operating income included in the
following schedule also consist of revenue generated from commercial properties, recreational vehicle parks, and
manufactured housing communities. Other non-segment assets include investmenits, real estate under development,
cash, notes receivable, other assets and deferred charges. The 2005 and 2004 operations and assets for the properties
held in the Portland, Oregon have been reclassified from the Seattle/Pacific Northwest region to the other non-
segment areas for comparison to the current segment presentation.
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The revenues, net operating income, and assets for each of the reportable operating segments are summarized as
follows for the years ended and as of December 31, 2006, 2003, and 2004:

Revenues:

Southem California..........ovevvivecrieirnieereisiscen e e deereeenns
Northern California. ...

Seattle Metro ..o
Other Regions..........ooivnenncncseeccnnnn
Total property revenues

Net operating income:

Southern Califormia..........cocoveveecieevecccre e

Northern California........cccovievveniriiniiinnnnnn,

Seattle Metro. ..o
Other REGIONS....viviveviiciiiciriini it
Total net OPErating IMCOME. ..vviirriiirie e ireenserrsieeenaanes

Depreciation and amortization:

Southern Califormia.........ccooeieiiiee b eeenes
Northern Califormia. ... ovvveeeeeereeeeeess e seeeseeesesreaberssera
Seattle Metro . ..ovecvvveeeeiececeetesee e sere s ser s e sereas
O (6,392)

Other Regions.......cocovivinnsninninninn

Interest:

Southern Califormia........ocooeiieviiceeee e
Northern Califormia.....co.ocovvveeiece i e svnsie s
Seattle MEtO v e
Other RegIons. ..o e i

Amortization of deferred financing costs.................
General and adMiBISITAtIVE. ...eoverirneeirsiirisecse e

Other expenses...............

Management and other fees from affiliates...........
(Gain on sale or real estate........ocoevvvveeeveeieieeecene

Interest and other income.............
Equity income in co-investments....

MinOrity iNeTestS. ocriiniiiiniciere e
INCOME 1aX PrOVISION...coueviecrcrecriene et mreresvavasses e b ereeean

Income from continuing OPerations..........vceiieniresceshinnnnine

Assets:

Southern California.........cooo oo e

Northern California....
Pacific Northwest.......
Other areas......ccoeeeeeen...
Net real estate assets.......cccoovvvevvireranes
Nonsegment asselS. ..o

Total aS5e15..ueueiiiiiriiriiice et

R 75,624

e 6,176

Years Ended December 31,
2005 2004

2006

|

1

. 181,048  §
67,099
50,936
11,887

310970 §

§ 198916 % 158,876
38,328
43,326
13,640

274,170

55,721
. 12,783
$ 343044 §

135,897 %
49,907
35,138

4,319

225,261

122458 %
44,528
31,792

4,482

203,260

106,399
38,771
26,681

5,618

177,469

(43,017)
(17.568)
(13,170)

(39,219)
(15,984)
(12,343)

(9,302)
(76,348)

(36,666)
(15,507) -
(8,400)
(8,036)
(68,609)

' (80,147)

(26,432)
(18,295)
(6,904) °
(21,267)
(72,898)

(27,690)
(17,201)

(6,508)
(19,385)
(70,784)

(23,749)
(15,065)

(5,718)
(16,177
(60,709)

[ (2,743)
(22,235)

(1,947) (1,560)
(19,148) (18,042)
(1,770) (5,827) .
5,030 10,951 23,146
. 6391 7,909
8,524 3,077
18,553 40,683
(20,936) (28,332)
(2,538) (257)

(1,503)
(19,309}
(525)

35,337 8§ 49,651 ] 74,775

]

1,244 037 %
565,405
317,848

76,382

2,204,172
281,668

2485840 %

1,169,192
456,093
315,327
101,977

2,042,589
196,701

2,239,290




(17) 401(k) Plan

The Company has a 401(k) benefit pian (the Plan) for all full-time employees who have completed six months of
service. Employees may contribute up to 23% of their compensation, limited by the maximum allowed under Section
401(k) of the Internal Revenue Code. The Company matches the employee contributions for non-highly compensated
personnel, up to 50% of their contribution up to a specified maximum. Company contributions to the Plan were
approximately $226, $98, and $93 for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005, and 2004.

{18) Fair Value of Financial Instruments

Management believes that the carrying amounts of its variable rate mortgage notes payable, lines of credit, notes
receivable from investees and other related parties and notes and other receivables approximate fair value as of
December 31, 2006 and 2005, because interest rates, yields and other terms for these instruments are consistent with
yields and other terms currentty available to the Company for similar instruments. Management has estimated that the
fair value of the Company’s $1.13 billion of fixed rate mortgage notes payable and exchangeable bonds at December
31, 2006 are approximately $1.22 billion based on the terms of existing mortgage notes payable compared to those
available in the marketplace. At December 31, 2005, the Company’s fixed rate mortgage notes payable of $1.14
billion had an approximate market value of $1.18 billion. Management believes that the carrying amounts of cash
and cash equivalents, restricted cash, accounts payable and accrued liabilities, other liabilities and dividends payable
approximate fair value as of December 31, 2006 and 2005 due to the short-term maturity of these instruments.

(19) Commitments and Contingencies

At December 31, 2006 we had five non-cancelable ground leases for certain apartment communities and buildings
that expire between 2027 and 2080. Land lease payments are typically the greater of a stated minimum or a
percentage of gross rents generated by these apartment communities. Total lease commitments, under land leases and
operating leases, are approximately $1.6 million per year.

The Company has a performance guarantee with a commercial bank related to the Northwest Gateway development.

To the extent that an environmental matter arises or is identified in the future that has other than a remote risk, as
defined in SFAS 5, of having a material impact on the financial statements, the Company will disclose the estimated
range of possible outcomes, and, if an outcome is probable, accrue appropriate liability for remediation and other
potential liability. The Company will consider whether such occurrence results in an impairment of value on the
affected property and, if so, accrue an appropriate reserve for impairment.

Except with respect to three Properties, the Company has no indemnification agreements from third parties for
potential environmental clean-up costs at its Properties. The Company has no way of determining at this time the
magnitude of any potential liability to which it may be subject arising out of unknown environmental conditions or
violations with respect to the properties formerly owned by the Company. No assurance can be given that existing
environmental studies with respect to any of the Properties reveal all environmental liabilities, that any prior owner or
operator of a Property did not create any material environmental condition not known to the Company, or that a
material environmental condition does not otherwise exist as to any one or more of the Properties. The Company has
limited insurance coverage for the types of environmental liabilities described above,

The Company may enter into transactions that could require us to pay the tax liabilities of the partners in the
Operating Partnership or in the Down REIT entities, which are within our control. Although the Company plans to
hold the contributed assets or defer recognition of gain on their sale pursuant to like-kind exchange rules under
Section 1031 of the Internal Revenue Code we can provide no assurance that we will be able to do so and if such tax
liabilities were incurred they may to have a material impact on our financial position.

In April 2004, an employee lawsuit was filed against the Company in the California Superior Court in the County of
Alameda. In this lawsuit, two former Company maintenance employees sought unpaid wages, associated penalties
and attorneys’ fees on behalf of a putative class of the Company’s current and former maintenance employees who
were required to wear a pager while they were on call during evening and weekend hours. In June 2005, the
Company settled the lawsuit for $1.5 million.

Recently there has been an increasing number of lawsuits against owners and managers of apartment communities
alleging personal injury and property damage caused by the presence of mold in residential real estate. Some of these
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lawsuits have resulted in substantial monetary judgments or settlements. The Company has been sued for mold
related matiers and has settled some, but not all, of such matters. Insurance carriers have reacted to mold related
liability awards by excluding mold related claims from standard policies and pricing mold endorsements at
prohibitively high rates. The Company has, however, purchased pollution liability insurance, which includes some
coverage for mold. The Company has adopted programs designed to manage the existence of mold in its properties
as well as guidelines for promptly addressing and resolving reports of mold to minimize any impact mold might have
on residents or property. Liabilities resulting from such mold related matters and the costs of carrying insurance to
address potential mold related claims may also be substantial,

The Company carries comprehensive liability, fire, extended coverage and rental loss insurance for each of the
Properties. There are, however, certain types of extraordinary losses, such as, for example, losses for terrorism or
earthquake, for which the Company does not have insurance coverage. Substantially all of the Properties are located
in areas that are subject to earthquake activity. '

The Company is subject to various other lawsuns in the normal course of its business operations. Such lawsuits

could have a material adverse effect on the Company s financial condition, results of operations or cash flows.
|
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{20) Quarterly Results of Operations (Unaudited)

The following is a summary of quarterly results of operations for 2006 and 2005:

2006:

Total property revenues........c..oceevveeeeenens

Income before discontinued operations. ...

INEL INCOME. e cmeerecaeeemeee s

Net income available to common

stockholders. ..o vvevvvverrerimrccrnncr e

Per share data:
Net income;

Diluted.......coooocemiirer e e

Market price:

2005:

Total property TeVenUES.....ccovvmrevrrrmsrirens

Income before discontinued operations. ...

NELINCOME. ...t arrianes

Net income available to common

stockholders....ouoveeeee o

Per share data;
Net income:

BaSIC....cocveiverererrrerirrnrsnressesnemnesrconerenens

Dividends declared........cccccoevevvvvvvrvrerienns

Quarter ended Quarter ended Quarter ended Quarter ended
December 31" September 30 June 30" March 31"
90,244 § 86,850 % 83,717 % 82,233
10,549 % 11,132 § 6,618 $ 7,038
17,437 % 12,477 % 22512 % 10,322
15060 3 10,686 § 22,023 % 9,834
064 5 046 § 096 % 0.43
063 § 045 § 095 § 0.43
13399 § 12857 § 111.90 § 111,10
119.76 § 111.54 % 10090 $ 92.10
12925 % 121.40 % 111.66 S 108.73
084 § 084 % 084 § 0.84
80,281 § 78,791 § 76,617 §$ 75,281
4,765 § 8364 § 12,149 § 24,373
5213  § 3747 % 38878 % 26,878
4725 § 8259 3 38390 % 26,389
021 % 036 $ 1.66 3 1.15
020 §% 035 % 1.64 § 1.13
9344 § 9314 § 86.13 % 84.32
8035 3§ 8286 $ 68.50 § 68.56
9220 % 90.00 §% 83.06 §% 69.10
081 § 081 % 081 % 0.81

{1) Net earnings from discontinued operations have been reclassified for all periods presented.
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(21) Subsequent Events

In January 2007, the Company purchased 14.2 acres improved with four commercial buildings consisting of 262,000
net rentable square feet located in San Jose, California. The buildings are subject to a two-year lease with two, six-
month lease option extensions with the previous owner. The City of San Jose has approved a General Plan
Amendment to accommodate a multifamily housing development with density ranging from 55 to 90 units per acre.
The Company will continue to pursue the design and entitlement process during the leaseback period.

During February 2007, City Heights, a 687-unit community located in Los Angeles which was classified as held for
sale as of December 31, 2006, was sold to a third party for $120 million, which resulted in a gain. All related
mortgage debt was paid-off upon the close of escrow. The Company acquired City Heights in January 2001 and
owned the land and leased the improvements on the land to an unrelated party. The land lease provided for a base
annualized lease payment over the 34-year term, and the Company eamed management and other fees and received a
residual interest in the appreciation of the land. *

|
!
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‘ SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 of 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly
caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

ESSEX PROPERTY TRUST, INC.
(Registrant)

Dat@:: February 28, 2607

By: /S/MICHAEL T. DANCE
|
Michael T. Dance

Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer
(Authorized Officer, Principal Financial Officer)

! By: /S/BRYAN HUNT

)

Bryan Hunt
Vice President, Chief Accounting Officer

1

KNOWN ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below constitutes and
appoints Keith R. Guericke and Michael T. Dance, and each of them, his attorney-in-fact, each with the power of
substitution, for him in any and all capacities, to sign any amendments to this Report on Form 10-K and to file the
same, with exhibits thereto and other documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange
Commission, hereby ratifying and confirming ali that each of said attorney-in-fact, or his substitute or substitutes,
may do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities I';Zxchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the
following persons on behalf of the Registrant and in the capacity and on the date indicated.

Signature

/S/KEITH R. GUERICKE
Keith R. Guericke

/8/ MICHAEL T. DANCE .
Michael T. Dance

/S{ MICHAEL J. SCHALL
Michael J. Schall

/S/ GEORGE M. MARCUS
George M. Marcus

/S/ WILLIAM A. MILLICHAP
William A. Millichap

{S/ DAVID W. BRADY
David W. Brady

|
Title

Chief Executive Officer and President, Director, and
Vice Chairman of the Board
(Principal Executive Officer)

1
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)

1
Senior Executive Vice President, Director, and Chief
Operatilng Officer

Directo} and Chairman of the Board

Director

'

Director

|

S-1

Date

February 28, 2007

February 28, 2007

February 28, 2007

February 28, 2007

February 28, 2007

February 28, 2007




Signature

/8/ ROBERT E. LARSON
Robert E. Larson

IS/ GARY P. MARTIN
Gary P. Martin

/S/ ISSIE N. RABINOVITCH
Issie N. Rabinovitch

/S/ THOMAS E. RANDLETT
Thomas E. Randlett

/S/ WILLARD H. SMITH, JR.

Willard H. Smith, Jr.

—
=
=
I

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director

8-2

‘Date

February 28, 2007

February 28, 2007

February 28, 2007

February 28, 2007

February 28, 2007



Exhibit No.

22

31

32

33

3.4

35

3o

37

3.8

39

3.10

312

3.13

EXHIBIT INDEX

Document

Agreement of Purchase and Sale dated as of August 13, 2004, by and between United Dominion Realty,
L.P., a Delaware limited partnership, as Buyer, and Essex The Crest, L.P., a California limited partnership,
Essex El Encanto Apartments, L.P., a California limited partnership, Essex Hunt Club Apartments, L.P., a
California limited parinership, and the other signatories named as Sellers therein. Attached as Exhibit 2.1 1o
the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed October 5, 2004, and incorporated herein by reference.

Articles of Amendment and Restatemen:t of Essex dated June 22, 1995, attached as Exhibit 3.1 to the
Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 1995, and incorporated herein by
reference. ,

|
Articles Supplementary of Essex Propelfty Trust, Inc. for the 8.75% Convertible Preferred Stock, Series
1996A, attached as Exhibit 3.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed August 13, 1996, and

incorporated herein by reference. .

First Amendment to Articles of Amendment and Restaternent of Essex Property Trust, Inc., attached as
Exhibit 3.1 to the Company’s 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 1996, and mcorporated herein by
reference.

]

Certificate of Correction to Exhibit 3.2 c}ated December 20, 1996, attached as Exhibit 3.4 to the Company’s
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1996, and incorporated herein by reference.

Amended and Restated Bylaws of Essex Property Trust, Inc., attached as Exhibit 3.2 to the Company ]
Current Report on Form 8-K, filed August 13, 1996, and mcorporated herein by reference.

Certificate of Amendment of the Bylaws of Essex Property Trust, Inc., dated December 17, 1996, aitached
as Exhibit 3.6 to the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December3 1, 1996, and
incorporated herein by reference, !

Articles Supplementary reclassifying 2, 000 000 shares of Common Stock as 2,000,000 shares of 7.875%
Series B Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Stock, filed with the State of Maryland on February 10, 1998,
attached as Exhibit 3.1 to the Company’ s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed March 3, 1998, and

incorporated herein by reference.

b

Articles Supplementary reclassifying 50(1),000 shares of Common Stock as 500,000 shares of 9 1/8% Series
C Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Stock, filed with the State of Maryland on November 25, 1998,
attached as Exhibit 3.8 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31,
1998, and incorporated herein by referenf:e.

Certificate of Correction to Exhibit 3.2 deted February 12, 1999, attached as Exhibit 3.9 to the Company’s
Current Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1998, and incorporated herein by reference.

Articles Supplementary reclassifying 6,617,822 shares of Common Stock as 6,617,822 shares of Series A
Junior Participating Preferred Stock, filed with the State of Maryland on November 13, 1998, attached as
Exhibit 4.0 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1998, and
incorporated herein by reference.

Articles Supplementary reclassifying 2, 000 000 shares of Common Stock as 2,000,000 shares of 9.30%
Series D Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Stock, filed with the State of Maryland on July 30, 1999,
attached as Exhibit 3.1 to the Company’s 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 1999 and incorporated herein
by reference. ;

I
Articles Supplementary reclassifying 2,200,000 shares of Common Stock as 2,200,000 shares of 9.25%
Series E Cumulative Redeemable Preferréd Stock, filed with the State of Maryland on September 9, 1999,
attached as Exhibit 3.1 to the Company’s I10 -Q for the quarter ended September 30, 1999 and incorporated

herein by reference. !

i
Certificate of Correction to Articles Supplementary reclassifying 2,000,000 shares of Common Stock as
|
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3.14

3.15

3.16

3.17

3.18

4.1

4.2

43

44

10.1

10.2

10.3

10.4

10.5

10.6

2,000,000 shares of 9.30% Series D Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Stock, attached as Exhibit 3.1 to the
Company’s Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2000, and incorporated herein by reference.

Certificate of Amendment of the Bylaws of Essex Property Trust, Inc. dated February 14, 2000, attached as
Exhibit 3.2 to the Company’s Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2000, and incorporated herein by
reference.

Articles Supplementary relating to the 7.8125% Series F Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Stock, attached
as Exhibit 3.1 to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K, dated September 19, 2003, and incorporated
herein by reference.

Articles Supplementary reclassifying 2,000,000 shares of 7.875% Series B Cumulative Redeemable
Preferred Stock as 2,000,000 shares of Series B Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Stock, filed with the
State of Maryland on January 14, 2004, attached as Exhibit 3.16 to the Company’s Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 2003, and incorporated herein by reference.

Articles Supplementary reclassifying 2,000,000 shares of 9.30% Series D Cumulative Redeemable
Preferred Stock as 2,000,000 shares of Series D Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Stock, filed with the
State of Maryland on January 14, 2004, attached as Exhibit 3.16 to the Company’s Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 2003, and incorporated herein by reference.

Articles Supplementary of Essex Property Trust, Inc. reclassifying 5,980,000 shares of Common Stock as
5,980,000 shares of 4.875% Series' G Cumulative Convertible Preferred Stock, attached as Exhibit 3.1 to the
Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K, Filed July 27, 2006, and incorporated herein by reference.

Rights Agreement, dated as of November 11, 1998, between Essex Property Trust, Inc., and BankBoston,
N.A., as Rights Agent, including all exhibits thereto, attached as Exhibit I to the Company’s Registration
Statement filed on Form 8-A dated November 12, 1998, and incorporated herein by reference.

Amendment to Rights Agreement, dated as of December 13, 2000, attached as Exhibit 4.1 to the
Company’s Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2001 and incorporated herein by reference.

Amendment to Rights Agreement, dated as of February 28, 2002 artached as Exhibit 4.3 to the Company’s
Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2001 and incorporated herein by reference.

Form of 4.875% Series G Curnulative Convertible Preferred Stock Certificate attached as Exhibit 4.1 to the
Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed July 27, 2006, and incorporated herein by reference.

Essex Property Trust, Inc. 1994 Stock Incentive Plan, (amended and restated), attached as Exhibit 1¢.1 to
the Company’s Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2000 and incorporated herein by reference.*

First Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership of Essex Portfolio, L.P. attached as Exhibit
10.1 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 1997, and
incorporated herein by reference.

First Amendment to the First Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership of Essex Portfolio,
L.P. dated February 6, 1998, attached as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed
March 3, 1998, and incorporated herein by reference.

Second Amendment to the First Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership of Essex
Portfolio, L.P. dated April 20, 1998, attached as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-
K, filed April 23, 1998, and incorporated herein by reference. :

Third Amendment to the First Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership of Essex Portfolio,
L.P. dated November 24, 1998, attached as Exhibit 10.5 to the Company’s Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2003, and incorporated herein by reference.

Fourth Amendment to the First Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership of Essex
Portfolio, L.P., dated July 28, 1999, attached as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s 10-Q for the quarter ended
June 30, 1999 and incorporated herein by reference.




10.7

10.8

10.9

10.10

10.11

10.12

10.13

10.14

10.15

10.16

10.17

10.18

10.19

10.20

10.21

Fifth Amendment to the First Amendec:l and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership of Essex Portfolio,
L.P., dated September 3, 1999, attached as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s 10-Q for the quarter ended
September 30, 1999 and incorporated herein by reference.

Form of Essex Property Trust, Inc. 199%1 Non-Employee and Director Stock [ncentive Plan, attached as
Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-11 (Registration No. 33-76578), which
became effective on June 6, 1994, and i|ncorporated herein by reference. *

Form of Indemnification Agreement between Essex and its directors and officers, attached as Exhibit 10.7
to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-11 (Registration No. 33-76578), which became
effective on June 6, 1994, and incorpor?ted herein by reference.

First Amendment to Investor Rights Agreement dated July 1, 1996 by and between George M. Marcus and
The Marcus & Millichap Company, attached as Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-
K, filed August 13, 1996, and incorporated herein by reference.

|
Co-Brokerage Agreement by and among Essex, the Operating Partnership, MM REIBC and Essex
Management Corporation attached as Exhibit 10.15 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form $-11

{Registration No. 33-76578), which bechme effective on June 6, 1994, and incorporated herein by reference.
|

General Partnership Agreement of Essex Washington Interest Partners attached as Exhibit 10.16 to the
Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-11 (Registration No.33-76578), which became effective on
June 6, 1994, and incorporated herein bj/ reference,

w
Phantom Stock Unit Agreement for Mr.‘Guericke, attached as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 1997, and incorporated herein by reference. (Same
form was used for subsequent phantom stock agreements.)*

Phantom Stock Unit Agreement for Mr.iSchal], attached as Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Quarterly Report
on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 1997, and incorporated herein by reference. (Same form was
used for subsequent phantom stock agreements.)*

Replacement Promissory Note (April 15, 1996) and Pledge Agreement for Mr. Guericke, attached as
Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 1997, and
incorporated herein by reference.* |

Promissory Note (December 31, 1996) a}nd Pledge Agreement for Mr. Guericke, attached as Exhibit 10.4 to
the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 1997, and incorporated
herein by reference. (Same form of Pron?issory Note and Pledge Agreement used for subsequent loans.)*

Replacement Promissory Note (April 30:, 1996} and Pledge Agreement for Mr. Schall, attached as Exhibit
10.5 to the Company’s Quarterly Report}on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 1997, and
incorporated herein by reference.* [

. |
Promissory Note (December 31, 1996) and Pledge Agreement for Mr. Schall, attached as Exhibit 10.6 to the
Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 1997, and incorporated herein
by reference. (Same form of Promissory Note and Pledge Agreement used for subsequent loans.)*

First Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership of Western Highridge 1 Investors, effective
as of May 13, 1997, attached as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the
quarter ended June 30, 1997, and incorporated herein by reference.

Registration Rights Agreement, effective‘ as of May 13, 1997, by and between the Company and the limited
partners of Western-Highridge 1 Investors, Irvington Square Associates, Western-Palo Alto [I Investors,
Western Riviera Investors, and Western-San Jose I1] Investors, attached as Exhibit 10.6 to the Company’s

Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 1997, and incorporated herein by reference.

|
$100,000,000 Promissory Note between Essex Portfolio, L.P., and Essex Morgan Funding Corporation,
attached as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’is Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September
30, 1998, and incorporated herein by reference.
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10.32

10.33

10.34

10.35

10.36

12.1

Sixth Amendment to the First Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership of Essex Portfolio,
L.P. dated as of June 28, 2001, attached as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s 10-Q for the quarter ended June
30, 2001 and incorporated herein by reference.*

Executive Severance Plan attached as Exhibit 10.31 to the Company’s Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2001 and incorporated herein by reference.

Agreement between Essex Property Trust, Inc. and George M. Marcus dated March 27, 2003 attached as
Exhibit 10.32 to the Company’s Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2002 and incorporated herein
by reference.

Seventh Amendment to the First Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership of Essex
Portfolio, L.P. dated as of June 26, 2003, attached as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s 10-Q for the quarter
ended June 30, 2003 and incorporated herein by reference.*

Eighth Amendment to the First Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership of Essex
Portfolio, L.P. dated as of September 23, 2003, attached as Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s 10-Q for the
quarter ended September 30, 2003 and incorporated herein by reference.

Ninth Amendment to the First Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership of Essex Portfolio,
L.P. dated as of January 8, 2004, attached as Exhibit 10.36 to the Company’s 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2003, and incorporated herein by reference.

Tenth Amendment to the First Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership of Essex Portfolio,
L.P. dated as of January 8, 2004, attached as Exhibit 10.37 to the Company’s 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2003, and incorporated herein by reference.

Eleventh Amendment to the First Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership of Essex
Portfolio, L.P. dated as of March 29, 2004, attached as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s 10-Q) for the quarter
ended March 31, 2004, and incorporated herein by reference. *

Essex Property Trust, Inc. 2004 Stock Incentive Plan, attached as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company's Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2004, and incorporated herein by reference. *

Offer Letter between Essex Property Trust, Inc. and Mr. Dance, filed as Exhibit 10.1 on the Company’s
Form 8-K, filed on February 14, 2005, and incorporated herein by reference. *

Indenture, dated October 28, 2005, by and among Essex Property Trust, Inc., as Guarantor, Essex Portfolio,
L.P., as the [ssuer, and Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., attached as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s current report
on Form 8-K, filed November 2, 2005, and incorporated herein by reference.

Registration Rights Agreement, dated October 28, 2003, by and among Essex Portfolio, L.P., Essex
Property Trust, Inc., UBS Securities LLC and Bear Stearns & Co,, attached as Exhibit 10.1 to the
Company’s Registration Statement on Form $-3, filed January 26, 2006, and incorporated herein by
reference.

Fourth Amended and Restated Revolving Credit Agreement, dated as of March 24, 2006, among Essex
Portfolio L.P., Bank of America and other lenders as specified therein, attached as Exhibit 10.1 to the
Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed March 31, 2006, and incorporated herein by reference.

Twelfth Amendment to the First Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership of Essex
Portfolio, L..P., dated as of July 26, 2006, attached as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on
Form 8-K, filed August 1, 2006, and incorporated herein by reference.

Thirteenth Amendment to the First Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership of Essex
Portfolio, L.P., dated as of October 26, 2006, attached as Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Quarterly Report
on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2006, and incorporated herein by reference.
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List of Subsidiaries of Essex Property Trust, Inc.
Consent of KPMG LLP, Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.

Power of Attorney (see signature page)

Certification of Keith R. Guericke, Principal Executive Officer, pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002. l

Certification of Michael T. Dance, Principal Financial Officer, pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002,

Certification of Keith R. Guericke, Principal Executive Officer, pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002.

Certification of Michael T. Dance, Principal Financial Officer, pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002. : (

|
* Management contract or compensatory f)lan or arrangement.




Exhibit 12.1

ESSEX PROPERTY TRUST, INC.
Schedule of computation of Ratio and Earnings to Fixed Charges and Preferred Stock Dividends
(Dollars in thousands, except ratios)

Years ended December 31

2006 2005" 2064V 2003"" 2002"

Earnings:
Income before discontinued operations 3 35,337 $ 49,651 $ 74,715 $ 29,177 $ 36,708
Gain on sales of real estate - (6,391) (7,509) - {145)
Minority interests 19,309 20,936 28,332 26,030 27,312
Interest expense 72,898 70,784 60,709 49,985 41,641
Amortization of deferred financing costs 2,743 1,947 1,560 1,187 743
Total earnings $ 130,287 $ 136,927 $ 157,467 $ 106,379 $ 106,319
Fixed charges:
Interest expense $ 72,898 $ 70,784 $ 60,709 $ 49,985 $ 41,641
Amortization of deferred financing costs 2,743 1,947 1,560 1,187 743
Capitalized interest 3913 1,100 1,997 4,084 6,814
Preferred stock dividends 5,145 1,953 1,952 195 -
Perpetual preferred unit distributions 10,238 10,238 14,175 17,996 18,319
Total fixed charges and preferred

stock dividends s 94,937 $ 86,022 $ 80,393 3 73,447 $ 67,517
Ratio of earnings to fixed charges

(excluding preferred stock dividends

and preferred unit distributions) L.64 X 1.85 X 245 X 1.93 X 216 X
Ratio of earnings to combined fixed

charges and preferred stock dividends 1.37 X 1.59 X 1.96 X 145 X 1.57 X

f1) The above financial and operating information from January 1, 2002 through December 31, 2003 reflect the retroactive adoption of FIN 46R
and SFAS 123. The results of operations for 2005, 2004, 2003, and 2002 have been reclassified to reflect discontinued operations for properties
sold subsequent to December 31, 2005.
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Exhibit 21.1

List of Subsidiaries

b

Essex Portfolio, L.P., a California limited partnership

Essex Management Corporation, a California corporation
Essex-Palisades Facilitator, a California limited partnership

Essex Sunpointe Limited, a California limited partnership

Essex Washington Intefest Partners, a California general partnership
Essex San Ramon Partriers L.P., a California limited partnership
Essex Fidelity 1 Corporation, a Cahfomla corporation

Essex Camarillo Corporation, a California corporation

Essex Camarillo L.P., a California limited partnership

Essex Meadowood Corporation, a California corporation

Essex Meadoweaod, L.P, a California limited partnership

Essex Bunker Hill Corporation, a California corporation

Essex Bunker Hill, L.P., a California limited partnership

Essex Treetops Corporanon a California corporation

Essex Treetops, L.P., a Callforrua limited partnership

Essex Bluffs, L.P., a Callforma limited partnership

Essex Huntington Breakers L.P., a California limited partnership
Essex Stonehedge V11]age, L.P., a California limited partnership
Essex Bridle Trails, L. P , 4 C'lhfomla limited partnership

Essex Spring Lake, L. Pl a California limited partnership

Essex Maple Leaf, L. P, , a California limited partnership

Fountain Court Apartment Associates, L.P., a Washington limited partnership
Essex Fountain Court, LLC, a Washington limited liability company
Essex Inglenook Court, LL.C, a Delaware limited liability company
Essex Wandering Creek LLC, a Delaware limited liability company
Essex Columbus, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company

Essex Lorraine, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company

Essex Glenbrook, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company

Essex Euclid, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company

Essex Lorraine, Inc., a California corporation

Essex Columbus, Inc., a' California corporation

Richmond Essex L.P., a-California limited partnership

Essex Los Angeles L.P.; a California limited partnership

Essex VFGP L.P., a California limited partnership

Essex VFGP Corporation, a Delaware corporation

Essex Anaheim, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company
Jackson School Village, L.P. a California limited partnership

Mount Sutro Terrace Associates, L.P., a California limited partnership
Essex Carlyle, L.P., a California limited partnership

Essex Kelvin Apartments, L.P., a California limited partnership
Essex Apartment Value Fund L.P., a Delaware limited partnership
Essex Internet Realty Partners, G.P., a California general partnership
ESG Property I LLC, a Delaware limited liability company
Lineberry Sammamish, LLC a Washington limited liability company
Essex Carlyle, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company

Essex Wimbledon Woods Apartments, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company
Essex Cochran, L.P., a Galifornia limited partnership

Essex Cochran, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company

Essex Kings Road, L.P.,ja California limited partnership

Essex Kings Road, LLC,i a Delaware limited liability company

|
|
|
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Essex Le Parc, L.P., a California limited partnership

Essex Le Parc, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company

Essex Monterey Villas, L.P., a California limited partnership

Essex Monterey Villas, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company
Jaysac, Ltd., a Texas limited partnership

JMS Acquisition, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company

Jaysac GP Corporation, a Delaware corporation

Western Blossom Hill Investors, a California limited partnership
Western Los Gatos [ Investors, a California limited partnership
Western Highridge Investors, a California limited partnership
Western San Jose [1I Investors, a California limited partnership
Western Riviera Investors, a California limited partnership

Western Palo Alto II Investors, a California limited partnership
Irvington Square Associates, a California limited partnership
Western Seven Trees Investors, a California limited partnership
Western Las Hadas Investors, a California limited partnership

San Pablo Medical Investors, LTD, a California limited partnership
Gilroy Associates, a California limited parmership

The Oakbrook Company, a Ohio limited partnership

Pine Grove Apartment Fund, LTD, a California limited partnership
Valley Park Apartments, LTD, a California limited partnership
Fairhaven Apartment Fund, LTD, a California lirnited partnership
K-H Properties, a California limited partnership

Villa Angelina Apartment Fund, LTD, a California limited partnership
Essex Camarillo Oaks 789, L.P., a California limited partnership
Essex Emerald Ridge, L.P., a California limited partnership

Essex Evergreen Heights, L..P., a California limited partnership

Essex Sammamish View, L.P., a California limited partnership

Essex Wharfside Pointe, L.P., a California limited partnership

Essex CAL-WA, L.P,, a California limited partnership

Essex Marina City Club, L.P., a California limited partnership

Essex Muir Terrace, L.P., a California limited partnership

Essex Fountain Park Apartments, L.P., a California limited partnership
Essex SPE, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company

Essex MCC, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company

Essex FPA, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company

Essex MTA, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company

Essex Excess Assets TRS, Inc., a Delaware corporation

Essex The Pointe, L.P., a California limited partnership

Essex Tierra Vista, L.P., a California limited partnership

Essex Green Valley, L.P., a California limited partnership

Essex Apartment Value Fund II, L.P., a Delaware limited partnership
Essex VFGP 11, L.P., a Delaware limited partnership

Essex Vista Belvedere, L.P., a California limited partnership

Essex Carlmont Woods Apartments, L.P., a California limited partnership
Essex Harbor Cove Apartments, L.P., a California limited partnership
Essex Parcwood Apartments, L.P., a California limited parmership
Essex Marbrisa Long Beach, L.P., a California limited partnership
Essex Regency Tower Apartments, L.P., a California limited partnership
Essex Marina City Club, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company
Essex Northwest Gateway, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company
Essex VFGP II, Inc., a Delaware corporation

Essex Lake Merritt, Inc., a California corporation

Essex Brighton Ridge, L.P., a California limited partnership

Essex Canyon Pointe, L.P., a California limited partnership

Essex Tower 801 Apartments, L.P., a California limited partnership
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128.
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Essex Echo Ridge Apartments, L.P., a California limited partnership
Essex Morning Run Apartments, L.P., a California limited partnership
Essex Enclave Apartments, L.P., a California limited partnership
Essex Fairwood Pond, L.P., a California limited partnership

Park Hill, LLC, a Washington limited liability company

Essex Park Boulevard, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company
MDR Tower, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company

Essex NBN SPE, LLC,}a Delaware limited liability company

Essex Gateway Managément, LLC, a California limited liability company
Essex Eastridge, Inc., ajCalifornia corporation

Essex Tracy Development, Inc., a California corporation

Essex Property Financial Corporation, a California corporation
Northwest Gateway Apartments, L.P., a California limited partnership
Essex Eastlake Union , L.P., a California limited partnership

Essex Radford, L.P., a California limited partnership

Essex Davey Glen Apartments, L.P., a California limited partnership
Essex Renaissance Apartments, L.P., a California limited partnership
Essex Topanga Canyon| L.P., a California limited partmership

Essex Alderwood Park Apartments, L.P., a California limited partnership
Essex View Pointe, LLC, a Delaware corporation

Essex Alamo, LLC, a Delaware corporation

Essex Broadway, LLC, a Washington corporation

Essex Radford, Inc., a California corporation

View Pointe Homeowners Association, a Washington corporation
Essex Camino, Inc., a Delaware corporation

1
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Exhibit 23.1

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors
Essex Property Trust, Inc.:

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the registration statements on Form 8-3 (Nos. 333-131276,
333-131178, 333-102552, 333-44467, 333-21989 and 333-108336), the registration statement on Form
S-3D (No. 333-36029), and the registration statements on Form S-8 (Nos. 333-123001, 333-122999, and
333-55646) of Essex Property Trust, Inc. of our reports dated February 28, 2007, with respect to the
consolidated balance sheets of Essex Property Trust, Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2006 and
2005, and the related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders” equity, cash flows for each of
the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2006, the related financial statement schedule III,
management’s assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting as of December
31, 2006, and the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2006, which
reports appear in the December 31, 2006 annual report on Form 10-K of Essex Property Trust, Inc.

/S/ KPMG LLP
KPMG LLP

San Francisco, California
February 28, 2007




EXHIBIT 31.1

ESSE‘( PROPERTY TRUST, INC.
Certlficatlon of Chief Executive Officer
Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

I, Keith R. Guericke, certify that:&

1.

2.

I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Essex Property Trust, Inc.;

Based on my knowledge, |this report does not contain any untrue statement of a
material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements
made, in light of the cucdmstances under which such statements were made, not
misleading with respect 0 the period covered by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information
included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operatlon‘; and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the

periods presented in this report
|

The registrant’s other cert1fy1ng officer and I are responsible for establishing and
maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules
13a-15(¢) and 15d- 15(e))\and internal control over financial reporting (as defined
in Exchange Act Rules 13(a) — 15(f) and 15(d) — 15(f)) for the registrant and
have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such
disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision,
to ensure that materlal information relating to the registrant, including its
consolidated subsuilanes is made known to us by others within those
entities, partlcularly during the period in which this report is being
prepared;

b) Designed such internal controls over financial reporting, or caused such
internal controls over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of
financial reporting! and the preparation of financial statements for external

purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and
procedures and prelzsented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of
the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal




quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual
report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially
affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most
recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s
auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons
performing the equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or
operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process,
summarize and report financial data; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other
employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control
over financial reporting.

Date: February 28, 2007

/s/ _Keith R. Guericke

Keith R. Guericke

Chief Executive Officer and President
Director and Vice Chairman of the Board
Essex Property Trust, Inc.
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: EXHIBIT 31.2
|
ESSEX PROPERTY TRUST, INC.
Certiﬁce;ltion of Chief Financial Officer
Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

I, Michael T. Dance, certify that:i

l.

2.

1 have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Essex Property Trust, Inc.;
t

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a
material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements
made, in light of the mrcumstances under which such statements were made, not
misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information
included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operatlons and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the

periods presented in this report
|

| 1
The registrant’s other certlfymg officer and I are responsible for estabhshmg and
maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules
13a-15(¢) and 15d-15(¢)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined
in Exchange Act Rules 13(a) — 15(f) and 15(d) — 15(f)) for the registrant and
have: .

a) Designed such dlsclosure controls and procedures, or caused such
disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision,
to ensure that materlal information relating to the registrant, including its
consolidated sub31dlar1es is made known to us by others within those
entities, partlcu]arly during the period in which this report is being
prepared; I

b) Designed such internal controls over financial reporting, or caused such
internal controls over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external
purposes in accorqance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effeLtlveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and
procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of thle disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of
the period covered| by this report based on such evaluation; and

!
d) Disclosed in this réport any change in the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting; that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal




quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual
report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially
affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5) The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most
recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s
auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons
performing the equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or
operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process,
summarize and report financial data; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other
employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control
over financial reporting.

Date: February 28, 2007

/s/ _Michael T. Dance

Michael T. Dance

Chief Financial Officer, Executive Vice President,
Essex Property Trust, Inc.




Exhibit 32.1

ESSEX PROPERTY TRUST, INC.
Certxﬁcatlon of Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to LS U.S.C. Section 1350 as adopted
Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes Oxley Act of 2002 (Subsections (a) and (b) of Section
1350, chapter 63 of title 18, United States Code), I, Keith R. Guericke, hereby certify, to the best
of my knowledge, that the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2006
(the “Form 10-K”) of Essex Property Trust, Inc. fully complies with the requirements of Section
13(a) or 15(d), as applicable, of the Se:curities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and
information contained in the Form 10-K fairly presents, in all matenal respects, the financial
condition and resuits of operations of Essex Property Trust, Inc. at the dates of and for the

periods presented.

Date: February 28, 2007

/s/ Keith R. Guericke
Keith R. Guericke
Chief Executive Officer and President,
Director and Vice Chairman of the Board,
Essex Property Trust, Inc.




C Exhibit 32.2

ESSEX PROPERTY TRUST, INC.
Certification of Chief Financial Officer
Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 as adopted
Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (Subsections (a) and (b) of Section
1350, chapter 63 of title 18, United States Code), I, Michael T. Dance, hereby certify, to the best
of my knowledge, that the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2006
(the “Form 10-K”) of Essex Property Trust, Inc. fully complies with the requirements of Section
13(a) or 15(d), as applicable, of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and
information contained in the Form 10-K fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial
condition and results of operations of Essex Property Trust, Inc. at the dates of and for the
periods presented.

Date: February 28, 2007 /s/ Michael T. Dance
Michael T. Dance
Chief Financial Officer, Executive Vice President,
Essex Property Trust, Inc.
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